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Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The statements contained in this report on ForrK 18at are not purely historical are forward-loakin
statements within the meaning of applicable seiesrlaws. Forward-looking statements include statem
regarding our “expectations,” “anticipations,” “@mttions,” “beliefs,” or “strategies” regarding théure. Forward-
looking statements relating to our future econop@dormance, plans and objectives for future opeamat and
projections of revenue and other financial itemeskased on our beliefs as well as assumptions madad
information currently available to us. Actual reésutould differ materially from those currently miptated as a
result of a number of factors, including those désed in Item 1A. Risk Factol
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Introduction

Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealer ititieed States. Through 77 retail locations in Alala Arizona
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, FlariGeorgia, Maryland, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevadiayw
Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahomhoge Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texad/Jtid we
sell new and used recreational boats, includinggquiee and fishing boats, with a focus on premivamds in each
segment. We also sell related marine productsydicty engines, trailers, parts, and accessoriesddition, we
arrange related boat financing, insurance, anchdeig service contracts; provide repair and maimesaervices;
offer boat and yacht brokerage services; and, wéreadable, offer slip and storage accommodations.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Rapt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation. Sales of new Brunswick boats aated for
approximately 49% of our revenue in fiscal 2008urwick is the world’s largest manufacturer of marproducts
and marine engines. We believe our sales represapigoximately 10% of all Brunswick marine salas|uding
approximately 40% of its Sea Ray boat sales, during2008 fiscal year. We are parties to dealezements with
Brunswick covering Sea Ray products and are thkisixe dealer of Sea Ray boats in almost all ofgaographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for fgt¥achts throughout the state of Florida (excigdhe Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamidk,Texas; the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachtatjitout the
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York; th&uesive dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our keds,
including our locations in the states of New Ydxarth Carolina, South Carolina, and portions ofdtetes of
Florida, California, and Texas; and the exclusiealdr for Meridian Yachts in most of our geographirkets,
excluding California. In addition, we are the exilie dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Group Azimut and
Atlantis mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreatiooats for the Northeast United States from Margiléo Maine
and the state of Florida.

We commenced operations as a result of the MartB98 acquisition of five previously independent
recreational boat dealers. Since that time, we bhageired 20 additional previously independenteational boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and tweaéulice yacht repair operations. We capitalizaéh@nexperience
and success of the acquired companies in ordestablesh a new national standard of customer seiu
responsiveness in the highly fragmented retailibgahdustry. As a result of our emphasis on prembrand boats,
our average selling price for a new boat in fi2@08 was approximately $126,000, an increase afoappately
10% from fiscal 2007, compared with the industrgrage calendar 2007 selling price of approxima$aky,000
based on industry data published by the NationaindaVianufacturers Association. Our stores, whipbrated at
least 12 months, averaged approximately $12.5amiilh annual sales in fiscal 2008. We considepeedb be one
or more retail locations that are adjacent or dgesia one entity. Our same-store sales decreasedn2scal 2008,
but averaged an annual increase of approximatély fbt the preceding five years.

We adopt the best practices developed by us andaguired companies as appropriate to enhancebdity &
attract more customers, foster an overall enjoyhabling experience, and offer boat manufactutases and
professional retail distribution and a broad gepbiapresence. We believe that our full range ofises, no haggle
sales approach, prime retail locations, premiundpcbofferings, extensive facilities, strong marragat and team
members, and emphasis on customer service anthsttin before and after a boat sale are competétvantages
that enable us to be more responsive to the ndegigsting and prospective customers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry generatgd@apmately $37.5 billion in retail sales in calem®007,
including sales of new and used boats; marine mtsgdsuch as engines, trailers, equipment, andsacdes; and
related expenditures, such as fuel, insurance,idgcg&torage, and repairs. Retail sales of newusied boats,
engines, trailers, and accessories accounted fooripately $28.7 billion of these sales in 2008dzhon industry
data from the National Marine Manufacturers Assibaia The highly fragmented retail boating indusggnerally
consists of small dealers that operate in a simgleket and provide varying degrees of merchandigingfessional
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management, and customer service. We believe thay small dealers are finding it increasingly difli to make
the managerial and capital commitments necessaghi@ve higher customer service levels and upggsiems
and facilities as required by boat manufacturets@@manded by customers. We also believe that mealers lack
an exit strategy for their owners. We believe tHaséors contribute to our opportunity.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natilm@ding recreational boat dealer. Key elementsuof
operating and growth strategy include the following

« emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyalty l®ating an overall enjoyable boating experienceinméog
with a hassle-free purchase process, superiormasteervice, company-led events called Getaways!, a
premier facilities

« achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratjmars to enhance internal growth and profitahil
< promoting national brand name recognition and tlaeidMMax connectior

« emphasizing the “best practices” developed by ascam acquired dealers as appropriate throughaut ou
dealerships

« offering additional products and services, inclgdihose involving higher profit margin

* pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalize ugienconsolidation opportunities in the highly frasmted
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring toldal dealers and related operations and improtheq
performance and profitability through the implenagiun of our operating strategie

« opening additional retail facilities in our exiggiand new territories
< emphasizing employee training and developm
« expanding our Internet retail operations and mange
 operating with a decentralized approach to theaimeral management of our dealerships;
« utilizing technology throughout operations, whieltifitates the interchange of information and ermlean
cros«selling opportunities throughout our compa
Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MarineMaglftf however, conducted no operations until the
acquisition of five independent recreational bcedldrs on March 1, 1998, and we completed oualmptiblic
offering in June 1998. Since the initial acquigisan March 1998, we have acquired 20 additionedeeional boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and twséulice yacht repair operations. Each of our @egudealers is
continuing its operations under the MarineMax name.

We continually attempt to expand our business byiding a full range of services, offering exteresand
high-quality product lines, maintaining prime rétacations, pursuing the MarineMax Value Priceesapproach,
and emphasizing the highest level of customer serand customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand our ojpeErmby acquiring recreational boat dealers to espaur
geographic scope, expanding our product lines,iogarew retail locations within our existing teories, and
providing new products and services for our custsme
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Acquisitions of additional recreational boat deslepresent an important strategy in our goal tmeoe our
position as the nation’s leading retailer of reticzaal boats. The following table sets forth infation regarding the

businesses that we have acquired and their gedgraggions.

Acquired Corporation

Bassett Boat Company of Flori

Louis Del[Homme Marin

Gulfwind USA, Inc.

Gulfwind South, Inc.

Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and
Harrison's Marine Centers of Arizor
Inc.

Stovall Marine, Inc.

Cochran’s Marine, Inc. and C & N
Marine Corporatior

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In

Brevard Boat Compan

Sea Ray of Las Veg:

Treasure Cove Marina, Inc

Woods & Oviatt, Inc.

Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.

Suburban Boatworks, Inc

Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc.

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New
Jersey locations and operatio

Associated Marine Technologies, Ir

Gulfwind Marine Partners, Inc

Seaside Marine, Inc

Sundance Marine, Inc

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and
Killinger Marine Center of Alabama,
Inc.

Emarine International, Inc. and Steven
Myers, Inc.

Imperial Marine

Port Jacksonville Marin

Port Arrowhead Marina, Inc

Great American Marina(1

Surfside— 3 Marina, Inc.

(1) Joint venture

Acquisition Date

March 199!
March 199!
March 199t
March 199t

March 199!
April 1998

July 199¢

July 199¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199
March 199!
April 1999
August 199!
December 19¢

April 200C
January 20C
April 2002
July 200:
June 200

September 20(

October 200
June 200
June 200

January 20C

February 200

March 200!

Geographic Regior

Southeast Florid

Dallas and Houston, Tex
West Central Florid,
Southwest Florid:

Northern California and Arizon
Georgia

Minnesota

North and South Carolir
East Central Florid
Nevadas

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid
Dallas, Texa:
Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:
Utah

Northern New Jerse
Southeast Florid
West Floride
Southern Californi:
Colorado

Northwest Florida and Alaban

Southeast Florid

Baltimore, Marylanc

Northeast Florid:

Missouri, Oklahom:

West Floride

Connecticut, Maryland, New York, and Rhode
Island

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 26 newilreizations in existing territories, excluding g®opened
on a temporary basis for a specific purpose. We mlsnitor the performance of our retail locations &lose retalil
locations that do not meet our expectations. Baseithese factors and the recent depressed ecocomidions, we
have closed 25 retail locations since March 1998lueling those opened on a temporary basis foeaip

purpose, including 12 in fiscal 2008.
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As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeptigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. Ingeation with these discussions, we and each pategquisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arehfifal information; conduct due diligence inquiriaed consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the poséatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectogpissition candidat
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition aith other party for a specific period of time, gsams an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designated guring a specific time, and agrees to takerabBons
designed to enhance the possibility of the acdaisisuch as preparing audited financial informatmd converting
its accounting system to the system specified byPatential acquisition discussions frequently taleee over a
long period of time and involve difficult busingésgegration and other issues, including in somesafanagement
succession and related matters. As a result oé thed other factors, a number of potential acqorstthat from
time to time appear likely to occur do not resnlbinding legal agreements and are not consummated.

In addition to acquiring recreational boat deaberd opening new retail locations, we also add nendyxt
lines to expand our operations. The following ted#és forth various of our current product linest tre have added
to our existing locations.

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Region

Boston Whale 1997 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; and Dallbsxas

Hatteras Yacht 199¢  Florida (excluding the Florida panhand

Boston Whale 200C  North Palm Beach, Floric

Meridian Yachts 200z  Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevgdg,
Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delaw

Grady White 200z Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 200z Texas

Boston Whale 2004 North and South Carolir

Princecraft. 2004  Minnesota

Boston Whale 200t Houston and Dallas, Tex

Meridian Yachts 200t  Chattanooga, Tenness

Tracker Marine 200t  Las Vegas, Nevac

Azimut 200¢  Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Atlantis 200¢  Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Cabo 200€  West coast of Florid

Cabo 2007  East coast of Florid

Azimut 200¢  Florida

Cabo 200¢  New Jersey and New Yo

Hatteras Yacht 200¢  New Jersey and New Yo

Meridian Yachts 200¢  Arizona, Nevada, Colorado, and Ut

As we add a brand, we believe we are offering aatiign for our existing customer base or fillingap in our
product offerings. As a result, we do not beligvat new product offerings will compete with or cératize the
business generated from our other prominent braffésalso discontinue offering product lines fromdito time,
primarily based upon customer preferences.

During the nine-year period from the commencemépuo operations through our fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007, our revenue increased from B@8an to $1.2 billion. Our revenue and net incemcreased
in seven of those nine years over the prior yeagmae and net income. This period was marked bgapase in
retail locations from 41 on September 30, 19983@B8 September 30, 2007, resulting from acquisstamd openir
new stores in existing territories.

Our growth was interrupted during the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2007, primarily as a resulactbfs
related to the deteriorating housing market. Suitstily deteriorating economic and financial coratiss, reduced
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consumer confidence and spending, increases irpfigas, lower credit availability, stock and bandrket
declines, and asset value deterioration all coutieidh to substantially lower financial performaneetie fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008, including a significast.|

Those conditions caused us to defer our acquisgtfogram, slow our new store openings, reduceroeritory
purchases, engage in inventory reduction effoltsecsome of our retail locations, significantiduee our
headcount, and modify our debt structure and cegtitement. We cannot predict the length or sgvefithe
current recessionary environment or the magnitddieeoeffects it will have on our operating perfamee nor can
we predict the effectiveness of the measures we teken to address this environment.

Despite the foregoing, we are maintaining our a@lees of customer service and satisfaction ana jola
continue to pursue strategies that will enableowschieve long-term growth. We believe that wevee# positioned
for long-term success and growth when economic itiond improve. Upon a return to more normal ecoimom
conditions, we plan to resume expanding our busitt@®ugh acquisitions in new geographical terieémrnew store
openings in existing territories, and new prodired. In addition, we plan to continue to exparfteoservices,
including conducting used boat sales; offering yactu boat brokerage services; offering our custsrites ability
to finance new or used boats; offering extendediceicontracts; arranging insurance coverage, dietuboat
property, credit-life, accident, disability, andsoalty coverage; selling related marine produatduiding engines,
trailers, parts, and accessories; providing maariea and repair services at our retail locatiomksadrstand-alone
service facilities; and expanding our ability teyide slip and storage accommodations. Our expansans will
depend upon returning to normal economic conditions

We maintain our executive offices at 18167 U.S.Higy 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 3376
our telephone number is (727) 531-1700. We wererparated in the state of Delaware in January 1998:ss the
context otherwise requires, all references to “MelMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acquisitiof five
previously independent recreational boat dealelarnch 1998 (including their related real estatepanies) and ¢
references to the “Company,” “our company,” “weyis;” and “our” mean, as a combined company, MariageM
Inc. and the 20 recreational boat dealers, two bazkterage operations, and two full-service yaepair operations
acquired to date (the “acquired dealers,” and togretvith the brokerage and repair operations, ‘afieg
subsidiaries,” or the “acquired companies”).

Our website is located atww.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free afrga our
annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reportd-orm 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, auxyg
statements, and any amendments to those repedsaiilfurnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 16{dhe
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These reportaaadable as soon as reasonably practicable after w
electronically file those reports with the Secestand Exchange Commission. We also post on owsiteghe
charters of our Audit, Compensation, and Nomind@uogporate Governance Committees; our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Code of Business ConducEgmids, and Code of Ethics for the CEO and Sefiancial
Officers, and any amendments or waivers therett;agny other corporate governance materials contgegby
SEC or NYSE regulations. These documents are absitable in print to any stockholder requestingpaycfrom ou
corporate secretary at our principal executivecefi
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BUSINESS

General

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itJthited States. Through 77 retail locations in Alaba Arizona
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, FlariGeorgia, Maryland, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevadew
Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahomho&e Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texad/ taig we
sell new and used recreational boats, includingguiee boats (such as sport boats, sport cruigeng,yachts, and
yachts), and fishing boats, with a focus on premiwemds in each segment. We also sell related marimducts
including engines, trailers, parts, and accessdrieaddition, we arrange related boat and yactarfting, insuranc
and extended service contracts; provide repaimagidtenance services; offer boat and yacht brokesagvices;
and, where available, slip and storage accommatatio

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation. Sales of new Brunswick boats aated for
approximately 49% of our revenue in fiscal 2008urigawick is the world’s largest manufacturer of marproducts
and marine engines. We believe our sales reprasapfoximately 10% of all Brunswick marine salasjuding
approximately 40% of its Sea Ray boat sales, duing2008 fiscal year. We are parties to dealeeements with
Brunswick covering Sea Ray products and are thkisive dealer of Sea Ray boats in almost all ofgaographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for Het¥achts throughout the state of Florida (excigdhe Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamidk, Texas; the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachtatjitout the
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York; th&uesive dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our keds,
including our locations in the states of New Ydxarth Carolina, South Carolina, and portions of¢tees of
Florida, California, and Texas; and the exclusigaldr for Meridian Yachts in most of our geographirkets,
excluding California. In addition, we are the exile dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Group Azimut and
Atlantis mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreattiooats for the Northeast United States from Margiléo Maine
and the state of Florida.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industry geteat@approximately $37.5 billion in retail salescalendar
2007, including retail sales of new and used reitmeal boats; marine products, such as engindiergaparts, and
accessories; and related boating expenditures,asufifel, insurance, docking, storage, and repRetail sales of
new and used boats, engines, trailers, and acoessamcounted for approximately $28.7 billion oflsisales in
2007. Annual retail recreational boating sales vidre.9 billion in the late 1980s, but declined tow of
$10.3 billion in 1992 based on industry data pitdi by the National Marine Manufacturers Assocrative
believe this decline was attributable to severeidis, including a recession, the Gulf War, anditmgosition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boald at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurywtas repealed
in 1993, and retail boating sales increased eaahthereafter except for 1998, 2003, 2007, and 2B88ed on the
current challenging retail environment, we beliexereational boat sales may decline in 2009 as well

The recreational boat retail market remains higtdgmented with little consolidation having occurte date
and consists of numerous boat retailers, most aflwdwre small companies owned by individuals thgrate in a
single market and provide varying degrees of merdising, professional management, and customeicseive
believe that many boat retailers are encounteringeased pressure from boat manufacturers to inegieir levels
of service and systems, increased competition fewger national retailers in certain product linasgl, in certain
cases, business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natitmaiding recreational boat dealer. Key elementsuofstrategy
include the following.

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyaltye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation
and establish long-term customer loyalty by crepdin overall enjoyable boating experience beginniitly a
hassle-free purchase process. We further enhagcsimplify the purchase process by
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helping to arrange financing and insurance at etailrlocations with competitive terms and streaedi
turnaround. We offer the customer a thorouglvater orientation of boat operations where avadlaht well a
ongoing boat safety, maintenance, and use senmandrdemonstrations for the customer’s entire fanilg
also continue our customer service after the saledding and sponsoring MarineMax Getaways! group
boating trips to various destinations, rendezvaitbeyings, and on-the-water organized events teiggaur
customers with pre-arranged opportunities to ettj@ypleasures of the boating lifestyle. We alsceandr to
provide superior maintenance and repair servidésn through mobile service at the customer’s viptand
with extended service department hours and emeyganeice availability, that minimize the hassléboat
maintenance.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergiaa/e strive to increase the operating efficiencitand
achieve certain synergies among our dealershipedier to enhance internal growth and profitabilitye
centralize various aspects of certain administeafinctions at the corporate level, such as acaayrfinance,
insurance coverage, employee benefits, marketiraegic planning, legal support, purchasing astidiution,
and management information systems. Centralizatidhese functions reduces duplicative expenses and
permits the dealerships to benefit from a levedazle and expertise that would otherwise be uravailto eac
dealership individually. We also seek to realizet@avings from reduced inventory carrying costa essult of
purchasing boat inventories on a national leveldinetting boats to dealership locations that canemmeadily
sell such boats; lower financing costs throughavadit sources; and volume purchase discountsebates for
certain marine products, supplies, and advertisihg. ability of our retail locations to offer theraplementary
services of our other retail locations, such asroffy customer excursion opportunities, providirgmenance
and repair services at the customer’s boat locatind giving access to a larger inventory, incredise
competitiveness of each retail location. By ceitiiad) these types of activities, our store manaparse more
time to focus on the customer and the developmethiedr teams.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinelaxinection. We are promoting our brand name
recognition to take advantage of our status asidien’s only coast-to-coast marine retailer. tiategy also
recognizes that many existing and potential custemwho reside in Northern markets and vacation for
substantial periods in Southern markets will prédgourchase and service their boats from the sagtle
known company. We refer to this strategy as therfidaMax Connection.” As a result, our signage ensptes
the MarineMax name at each of our locations, andeveluct national advertising in various print atider
media.

Emphasizing Best PracticesWe emphasize the “best practices” developed lndsour acquired dealers
as appropriate throughout our locations. As an @@mve follow a no-haggle sales approach at e&oluro
dealerships. Under the MarineMax Value-Price apgroae sell our boats at posted prices, generally
representing a discount from the manufacturer'geated retail price, thereby eliminating the anegebf price
negotiations that occur in most boat purchaseadiition, we adopt, where beneficial, the besttras
developed by us and our acquired dealers in tefrlosation, design, layout, product purchases, teaiance
and repair services (including extended servicesiand mobile or dockside services), product mixpleyee
training, and customer education and services.

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclglifhose Involving Higher Profit MarginsWe plan to
continue to offer additional product lines and &g throughout our dealerships or, when appragriat
selected dealerships. We are offering throughoutlealerships product lines that previously havenbeffered
only at certain of our locations. We also may abtdditional product lines through the acquisitadn
distribution rights directly from manufacturers ahe acquisition of dealerships with distributiéeghts. We
have increased our used boat sales and yacht bgekeervices through an increased emphasis on these
activities, cooperative efforts among our dealgrshand the use of the Internet. We also plan mtirmee to
grow our financing and insurance, parts and acciessaervice, and boat storage businesses ta bettee our
customers and thereby increase revenue and improf¥igability of these higher margin businesses.

Pursuing Strategic AcquisitionsWe capitalize upon the significant consolidatigportunities available
in the highly fragmented recreational boat dealdustry by acquiring independent dealers and imipgptheir
performance and profitability through the implenagitn of our operating strategies. The
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primary acquisition focus is on well-establisheighhend recreational boat dealers in geographiketamot
currently served by us, particularly geographic kets with strong boating demographics, such assaméhin
the coastal states and the Great Lakes region.I8@eray seek to acquire boat dealers that, whdatém in
attractive geographic markets, have not been ahiealize favorable market share or profitabilinddahat can
benefit substantially from our systems and opegaginategies. We may expand our range of produoes]i
service offerings, and market penetration by adogicompanies that distribute recreational boatipeb lines
or boating-related services different from thosecweently offer. As a result of our consideralvidustry
experience and relationships, we believe we arépesitioned to identify and evaluate acquisiti@mdidates
and assess their growth prospects, the qualityedf management teams, their local reputation witomers,
and the suitability of their locations. We believe are regarded as an attractive acquirer by besders
because of (1) the historical performance and sperence and reputation of our management teahiniie
industry; (2) our decentralized operating strategyich generally enables the managers of an aajdizaler tc
continue their involvement in dealership operatjd8% the ability of management and employees ddi@aquiret
dealer to participate in our growth and expansiwaugh potential stock ownership and career advaané
opportunities; and (4) the ability to offer liquigito the owners of acquired dealers through theips of
common stock or cash. We have entered into an agmgeregarding acquisitions with the Sea Ray Davisif
Brunswick. Under the agreement, acquisitions of Bap dealers will be mutually agreed upon by us $eal
Ray with reasonable efforts to be made to inclubalance of Sea Ray dealers that have been suaicasdf
those that have not been. The agreement provideS#a Ray will not unreasonably withhold its corige any
proposed acquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by usesiuto the conditions set forth in the agreemastiurther
described in “Business — Brunswick Agreement Retatd Acquisitions.”

Opening New Facilities.We intend to continue to establish additionaaitéacilities in our existing and
new markets. We believe that the demographics oéristing geographic territories support the opgrof
additional facilities, and we have opened 26 newilréacilities, excluding those opened on a terappbasis
for a specific purpose, since our formation in Jagu998. We also plan to reach new customers gifirou
various innovative retail formats developed byaush as mall stores and floating retail faciliti@sir mall stor:
concept is unique to the boating industry and sgieed to draw mall traffic, thereby providing espee to
boating for the non-boating public as well as digpig our new product offerings to boating enthsisia
Floating retail facilities place the sales facilityith a customer reception area and sales offam@®r anchored
to a dock in a marina and use adjacent boat slipssplay our new and used boats in areas of higiirtg
activity. We continually monitor the performanceaufr retail locations and close retail locatiorest ttho not
meet our expectations or that were opened for eifgppurpose that is no longer relevant. Basedhase
factors since March 1998, we have closed 25 rigieéditions, excluding those opened on a temporasisiiar a
specific purpose, including 12 in fiscal 2008 bessaaf depressed economic conditions.

Emphasizing Employee Training and Developmehte devote substantial efforts to train our empesyti
understand our core retail philosophies, which $oon making the purchase of a boat and its subeegse as
hassle-free and enjoyable as possible. ThrougiMamineMax University, or MMU, we teach our retalil
philosophies to existing and new employees at uariocations and online, through MMU-online. MMUais
modularized and instructor-led educational progtaat focuses on our retailing philosophies and iolex
instruction on such matters as the sales procasgroer service, F&I, accounting, leadership, amthdn
resources.

Utilization of the Internet. Our web initiative, www.MarineMax.com, providesstomers with the ability
to learn more about our company and our produats Website generates direct sales and providestotgs
with leads to potential customers for new and us®ts and brokerage services. We also plan to expamn
ability to offer financing and parts and accessode our website.

Operating with Decentralized ManagementVe maintain a generally decentralized approacheo
operational management of our dealerships. Thentieteed management approach takes advantage of th
extensive experience of local managers, enabliag tto implement policies and make decisions, irolyithe
appropriate product mix, based on the needs dbttae market. Local management authority also feste
responsive customer service and promotes long-temmunity and customer relationships. In addittbe,




Table of Contents

centralization of certain administrative functiatghe corporate level enhances the ability ofllat@nagers to
focus their efforts on day-to-day dealership openstand the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout OperationdVe believe that our management information systenich
currently is being utilized by each of our dealgrsland was developed over a number of years throug
cooperative efforts with a common vendor, enhancesbility to integrate successfully the operagioh our
dealerships and future acquired dealers. The syfsteifitates the interchange of information and @mtes
cross-selling opportunities throughout our compdrhe system integrates each level of operatiors on
company-wide basis, including purchasing, inventoggeivables, financial reporting, budgeting, aakks
management. The system also provides sales repmges with prospect and customer information tids
them in tracking the status of their contacts withspects, automatically generates followeoprespondence
such prospects, facilitates the availability of sc@mpany-wide, locates boats needed to satisficplar
customer requests, and monitors the maintenanceeamite needs of customers’ boats. Our repre$esdat
also utilize the computer system to assist in girapcustomer financing and insurance packagesntamagel
use a web-based tool to access essentially alidinahand operational data from anywhere at angtim

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats and cefat&ine products, including engines, trailersigand
accessories. While we sell a broad range of newuard boats, we focus on premium brand produceddiition,
we assist in arranging related boat financing, riaisce, and extended service contracts; providerhaattenance
and repair services; provide boat brokerage sesvamed offer slip and storage accommodations.

New Boat Sales

We primarily sell recreational boats, includinggsare boats and fishing boats. The principal przdwe offer
are manufactured by Brunswick, the leading worléidanufacturer of recreational boats, including Baa
pleasure boats, Boston Whaler fishing boats, Cadchts, Hatteras Yachts, and Meridian Yachts. kafi2008, we
derived approximately 49% of our revenue from thle ®f new boats manufactured by Brunswick. Weebelithat
we represented approximately 10% of all of Brun&gicnarine product sales during that period. Certdiour
dealerships also sell luxury yachts, fishing boait&] pontoon boats provided by other manufactuirechyding
Italy-based Azimut. During fiscal 2008, new bodesaccounted for approximately 63.5% of our reeenu

We offer recreational boats in most market segméiitishave a particular focus on premium qualigaglre
boats and yachts as reflected by our fiscal 20@8ame new boat sales price of approximately $126.80 increase
of approximately 10% from fiscal 2007, comparedwéh estimated industry average calendar 200'hggilice of
approximately $35,000 based on industry data pudidy the National Marine Manufacturers Associat®iven
our locations in some of the more affluent, offghboating areas in the United States and emphadigh levels o
customer service, we sell a relatively higher petage of large recreational boats, such as medatsja@achts, and
sport cruisers. We believe that the product linesoffer are among the highest quality within thespective mark:
segments, with well-established trade-name reciognénd reputations for quality, performance, atytirsy.
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The following table is illustrative of the rangedaapproximate manufacturer suggested retail pange of ney
boats that we currently offer, but is not all irgilte.

Manufacturer Suggested

Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range
Motor Yachts
Hatteras Motor Yacht 56’ to 10C $ 3,000,000 to $10,000,0+
Azimut 39 to 11¢€ 790,000 to 12,000,04+
Convertibles
Hatteras Convertible 54" to 107 2,300,000 to 11,000,0+
Cabo 32 to 57 475,000 to 2,000,0+
Pleasure Boats
Sea Ray 17 to 6C 21,000 to 2,500,0¢(
Meridian 34 to 5¢ 300,000 to 1,600,0(
Fishing Boats
Boston Whale 171 to 3¢ 8,000 to 325,0C
Grady White 18 to 3¢ 40,000 to 500,0(

Motor Yachts. Hatteras Yachts and Azimut are two of the worfafemier yacht builders. The motor yacht
product lines typically include state-of-the-arsidms with live-aboard luxuries. Hatteras offeff/hridge with
extensive guest seating; covered aft deck, which imeafully or partially enclosed, providing the beawith
additional living space; an elegant salon; and iplelstaterooms for accommodations. Azimut yacheskaown for
their Americanized open layout with Italian desigowerful performance, and accuracy. The luxurioteriors of
Azimut yachts are accented by windows and mulégleommodations that have been designed for comfort.

Convertibles. Hatteras Yachts and Cabo Yachts are two of thédiggpremier convertible yacht builders and
offer state-of-the-art designs with live-aboarddtigs. Convertibles are primarily fishing vesselhjch are well
equipped to meet the needs of even the most sabausament-class competitor. Hatteras featuresiors that
offer luxurious salon/galley arrangements, multgtiEerooms with private heads, and a cockpititithides a bait
and tackle center, fishbox, and freezer. Cabo ésvknfor spacious cockpits and accessibility to esaks, such as
bait chests, livewells, bait prep centers, andléaldckers. Cabo interiors offer elegance, highighby teak
woodwork, halogen lighting, and ample storage areas

Pleasure Boats.Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target bethukury and the family recreational boat
markets and come in a variety of configurationsuib each customer’s particular recreational bgasityle. Sea Ray
sport yachts and yachts serve the luxury segmethieafecreational boating market and include tofhefline living
accommodations with a salon, a fully equipped gabed multiple staterooms. Sea Ray sport yachis/anhts are
available in cabin, bridge cockpit, and cruiser mledSea Ray sport boat and sport cruiser modeldesmigned for
performance and dependability to meet family reftweal needs and include many of the features and
accommodations of Sea Ray’s sport yacht and yaolels. Meridian sport yachts and yachts are knawthieir
solid performance and thoughtful use of space @6b-degree views and spacious salon, galley, aterebm
accommodations. Meridian sport yachts and yacletsweailable in sedan, motoryacht, and pilothousdetso All
Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats feature custnumentation that may include an electronickpge;
various hull, deck, and cockpit designs that cafuihe a swim platform; bow pulpit and raised bridaed various
amenities, such as swivel bucket helm seats, loseges, sun pads, wet bars, built-in ice chestsrefreshment
centers. Most Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure beatare Mercury or MerCruiser engines.

Fishing Boats. The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Whatet Grady White, range from entry level
models to advanced models designed for fishingveatdr sports in lakes, bays, and off-shore wateith, cabins
with limited live-aboard capability. The fishing dts typically feature livewells, in-deck fishboxesdholders,
rigging stations, cockpit coaming pads, and fresh saltwater washdowns.
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Used Boat Sale

We sell used versions of the new makes and modelsffer and, to a lesser extent, used boats of otlages
and models generally taken as trade-ins. Durirgafi2008, used boat sales accounted for approxiyrzde5% of
our revenue, and approximately 72% of the usedshwatsold were Brunswick models.

Our used boat sales depend on our ability to scaumgply of high-quality used boats at attracfisiees. We
acquire substantially all of our used boats throaggtomer trade-ins. We intend to continue to iasecour used
boat business as a result of the availability @fligyiused boats generated from our new boat dfeds, the
increasing number of used boats that are well-ragiatl through our service initiatives, including ®&semium
Certified Pre-Owned Program, our ability to manke¢d boats throughout our combined dealership mktigo
match used boat demand, and the experience ofaahit prokerage operations. Additionally, substdigtell of our
used boat inventory is posted on our website, wwavibeMax.com, which expands the awareness ancaalay
of our products to a large audience of boating Esi#sts.

To further enhance our used boat sales, we laurelfrdmium Certified Pre-Owned Program, or PCPO, in
fiscal 2008. Generally, PCPO boats are less thanyfears old, have passed a 150+ point inspediwhcarry a one
year warranty. Additionally, we offer the Sea Raghcy warranty plan available for used Sea Raysteas thai
six years old. The Legacy plan applies to eachifyira used Sea Ray boat, which has passed a 48-psipection,
and provides protection against failure of mostima@ical parts for up to three years. We believedhgograms
enhance our sales of used Sea Ray boats by motyadrchasers of used Sea Ray boats to complétgthehases
through our Sea Ray dealerships.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boagj Accessories

We offer marine engines and propellers, substangdll of which are manufactured by Mercury Mariae,
division of Brunswick. We sell marine engines amogellers primarily to retail customers as replaeats for their
existing engines or propellers. Mercury Marine imiduced various new engine models that redug@en
emissions to comply with current Environmental Betibn Agency requirements. See “Business — Enwiremtal
and Other Regulatory Issues.” An industry leademafmost six decades, Mercury Marine specializesaie-of-the-
art marine propulsion systems and accessories. Mbaoyr dealerships have been recognized by Memlanine as
“Premier Service Dealers.” This designation is galye awarded based on meeting certain standards an
qualifications.

We also sell related marine parts and accessamigading oils, lubricants, steering and contratgyns,
corrosion control products, engine care, mainte@aaid service products (primarily Mercury Marin@sicksilver
line); high-performance accessories (such as piepglnd instruments; and a complete line of Ingagiccessories,
including life jackets, inflatables, and water g§paquipment. We also offer novelty items, suchkrags, caps, and
license plates bearing the manufacturer’s or dadiggo.

The sale of marine engines, related marine equipraed boating accessories accounted for approglgnat
4.4% of our fiscal 2008 revenue.

Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Services

Providing customers with professional, prompt meaince and repair services is critical to our safests anc
contributes to our success. We provide maintenandeepair services at most of our retail locatiovith extended
service hours at certain of our locations. In additin many of our markets, we provide mobile ni@rance and
repair services at the location of the customeva bWe believe that this service commitment ismgetitive
advantage in the markets in which we compete andtisal to our efforts to provide a trouble-frbeating
experience. To further this commitment, in certaiour markets, we have opened stand-alone mainterand
repair facilities in locations that are more corieanfor our customers and that increase the avilitlaof such
services. We also believe that our maintenanceepalir services contribute to strong customeriagriahips and
that our emphasis on preventative maintenance aalityjservice increases the potential supply of-waintained
boats for our used boat sales.
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We perform both warranty and non-warranty repaivises, with the cost of warranty work reimbursertie
manufacturer in accordance with the manufactusegganty reimbursement program. For warranty wor&st
manufacturers, including Brunswick, reimburse acpatage of the dealer’s posted service labor refiéls the
percentage varying depending on the dealer’s cuatsatisfaction index rating and attendance aie®tvaining
courses. We derive the majority of our warrantyeraxe from Brunswick products, as Brunswick prodaotsiprise
the majority of products sold. Certain other mantifeers reimburse warranty work at a fixed amouantrppair.
Because boat manufacturers permit warranty wobletperformed only at authorized dealerships, weivec
substantially all of the warranted maintenancerapair work required for the new boats we sell. Tied-party
extended warranty contracts we offer also resudinimngoing demand for our maintenance and repaiices for
the duration of the term of the extended warraotyti@act.

Our maintenance and repair services are performenanufacturer-trained and certified service teciamis. In
charging for our mechanics’ labor, many of our destiips use a variable rate structure designeeflect the
difficulty and sophistication of different types i&pairs. The percentage markups on parts aresslynbased on
manufacturer suggested prices and market conditwrdifferent parts.

At many of our locations, we offer boat storagesees, including in-water slip storage and insidd autside
land storage. These storage services are offermzhgtetitive market rates and includeseason and winter storay

Maintenance, repair, and storage services accotiotegpproximately 6.6% of our revenue during fis2@08.
This includes warranty and non-warranty services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer our cumtgs the ability to finance new or used boat puseland to
purchase extended service contracts and arrangeiree coverage, including boat property, crefiit And
accident, disability, and casualty insurance cayei@ollectively, “F&I").

We have relationships with various national mapneduct lenders under which the lenders purchasad re
installment contracts evidencing retail sales aftb@nd other marine products that are originayeastin
accordance with existing pre-sale agreements betweand the lenders. These arrangements peritaitraseive a
portion of the finance charges expected to be éavnehe retail installment contract based on &taof factors,
including the credit standing of the buyer, thewaimpercentage rate of the contract charged toulger, and the
lender’s then current minimum required annual paiage rate charged to the buyer on the contracs. Th
participation is subject to repayment by us if liger prepays the contract or defaults within agieged time
period, usually 90 to 180 days. To the extent neguby applicable state law, our dealerships asned to
originate and sell retail installment contractsfining the sale of boats and other marine products.

We also offer third-party extended service contraetder which, for a predetermined price, we prewtl
designated services pursuant to the service camjtadelines during the contract term at no addaicharge to the
customer above a deductible. While we sell all heats with the boat manufacturer’s standard huitavay of
generally five years and standard engine warrah@jenerally one year, extended service contracteige
additional coverage beyond the time frame or safpee manufacturer’s warranty. Purchasers of tsexds
generally are able to purchase an extended sesoitteact, even if the selected boat is no longeeed by the
manufacturer’s warranty. Generally, we receiveeafée arranging an extended service contract. vexgtired
services under the contracts are provided by ugaittfor by the third-party contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customers with pip@runity to purchase credit life insurance, aeotdand
disability insurance, and property and casualtyriasce. Credit life insurance policies providergpayment of the
boat financing contract if the purchaser dies witike contract is outstanding. Accident and disghitisurance
policies provide for payment of the monthly contralligation during any period in which the buysidisabled.
Property and casualty insurance covers loss or gartethe boat. We do not act as an insurance bovkagent or
issue insurance policies on behalf of insurers. Néajever, provide marketing activities and othdates services t
insurance companies and brokers for which we reciarketing fees. One of our strategies is to gaaéncreased
marketing fees by offering more competitive insweaproducts.
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During fiscal 2008, fee income generated from Fé&dducts accounted for approximately 3.6% of ouermie.
We believe that our customers’ ability to obtaimgetitive financing quickly and easily at our degkeps
complements our ability to sell new and used bd&fs also believe our ability to provide customeietad
financing on a “same-day” basis gives us an adgantaer many of our competitors, particularly serall
competitors that lack the resources to arrangefireicing at their dealerships or that do not gateesufficient
volume to attract the diversity of financing sowwtkat are available to us.

Brokerage Services

Through employees or subcontractors that are lextbsat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or yacbkérage
services at most of our retail locations. For a wassion, we offer for sale brokered boats or yadrgsng them on
the “BUC” system, advising our other retail locasoof their availability through our integrated qmuter system,
and posting them on our web site, www.MarineMax.c@he BUC system, which is similar to a real estatgtiple
listing service, is a national boat or yacht ligtservice of approximately 900 brokers maintaing@bC
International. Often sales are co-brokered, withabmmission split between the buying and sellirgkérs. We
believe that our access to potential used boabomests and methods of listing and advertising custsitbrokered
boats or yachts is more extensive than is typicedray brokers. In addition to generating revenumfbwokerage
commissions, our brokerage services also enahie affer a broad array of used boats or yachtsamitlincreasing
related inventory costs. During fiscal 2008, bralger services accounted for approximately 1.4% ofewenue.

Our brokerage customers generally receive the $aghelevel of customer service as our new and beed
customers. Our waterfront retail locations enablesater demonstrations of an on-site brokered lfat.
maintenance and repair services, including moleiteise, also are generally available to our brogereustomers.
The purchaser of a boat brokered through us alsdad@ advantage of MarineMax Getaways! weekenddagd
trips and other rendezvous gatherings and in-veatents, as well as boat operation and safety sesavie believe
that the array of services we offer are uniqué@lirokerage business.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other marindymrts and offer our related boat services throughetail
locations in Alabama, Arizona, California, Colora@mnnecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland
Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada, New Jersey, New Ybidrth Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,

South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Utah. Etaihlogation generally includes an indoor showro@neluding
some of the industrg’largest indoor boat showrooms) and an outsidefaredisplaying boat inventories, a busin
office to assist customers in arranging financing msurance, and maintenance and repair facilities

Many of our retail locations are waterfront propeston some of the nation’s most popular boaticgtions,
including the Delta Basin and Mission Bay in Catifia; Norwalk Harbor in Connecticut; multiple loats on the
Intracoastal Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean, Biscagag, Boca Ciega Bay, Naples Bay (next to the @fiNlexico),
Tampa Bay, and the Caloosahatchee River in Flotidke Lanier and Lake Altoona in Georgia; Chesapédzéy in
Maryland; Leech Lake and the St. Croix River in kisota; Lake of the Ozarks, Table Rock Lake, aad th
Mississippi River in Missouri; Barnegat Bay, thel@eare River, the Hudson River, Lake Hopatconglé Egg
Harbor, and the Manasquan River in New Jersey;tGGeand Bay, the Hudson River, and Huntington Haibo
New York; the Intracoastal Waterway in North CanaliLake Erie in Ohio; Grand Lake in Oklahoma; NiyyBeact
in South Carolina; Tennessee River in TennessekCérar Lake, and Lake Lewisville in Texas. Oureavfibnt
retail locations, most of which include marina-tyfpeilities and docks at which we display our bpatg easily
accessible to the boating populace, serve as iarwabwrooms, and enable the sales force to gis®aers
immediate in-water demonstrations of various boatl@els. Most of our other locations are in closexpnity to
water.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Management

We have adopted a generally decentralized appitoaitte operational management of our dealershigsleN
certain administrative functions are centralizethatcorporate level, local management is primaggponsible for
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the day-to-day operations of the retail locatidiach retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees
the day-to-day operations, personnel, and finapeigiormance of the individual store, subject ® dhirection of a
regional manager, who generally has responsibidityhe retail locations within a specified geodripregion.
Typically, each retail location also has a staffigieting of an F&l manager, a parts manager, asehéce manager,
sales representatives, maintenance and repairitéis) and various support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality employaesur retail locations by providing them with ongp
training to enhance sales professionalism and ptdcwwledge, career advancement opportunitiesinvétarger
company, and favorable benefit packages. We maiatédrmal training program, called MarineMax Unisigy or
MMU, which provides training for employees in afipgects of our operations. Training sessions ackdtedur
various regional locations covering a variety qfits. MMU-online offers various modules over the Interneghty
trained, professional sales representatives amaaortant factor to our successful sales effortese sales
representatives are trained at MMU to recognizértiportance of fostering an enjoyable sales prodessducate
customers on the operation and use of the boadgoaassist customers in making technical and dedggisions in
boat purchases. The overall focus of MMU is to leagr core retailing values, which focus on custosssvice.

Sales representatives receive compensation prin@rih commission basis. Each store manager imaezh
employee with incentive bonuses based on the pedioce of the managed dealership. Maintenance gadf re
service managers receive compensation on a saary Wwith bonuses based on the performance of their
departments. Our management information systemgee\each store and department manager with dadpdial
and operational information, enabling them to mamtiheir performance on a daily, weekly, and montidsis. We
have a uniform, fully integrated management infdrarasystem serving each of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling the plessaf the boating lifestyle. We believe that thigaal
elements of our sales philosophy include our appgaétail locations, no-hassle sales approachniigained sales
representatives, high level of customer servicgleasis on educating the customer and the custoffiaenity on
boat usage, and providing our customers with oppdties for boating. We strive to provide supedastomer
service and support before, during, and after #he s

Each retail location offers the customer the oppaty to evaluate a large variety of new and useatdin a
comfortable and convenient setting. Our full-sesvietail locations facilitate a turn-key purchasgrgcess that
includes attractive lender financing packages,reldd service agreements, and insurance. Many aktait
locations are located on waterfronts and marin&gtwattract boating enthusiasts and enable custoto®perate
various boats prior to making a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted value prices that gdgeepresent a discount from the manufacturarggested
retail price. Our sales approach focuses on custeergice by minimizing customer anxiety associatét price
negotiation.

As a part of our sales and marketing efforts, vge glarticipate in boat shows and in-the-water salests at
area boating locations, typically held in Januargt Rebruary, in each of our markets and in cettations in clos
proximity to our markets. These shows and evemsarmally held at convention centers or marinatf) area
dealers renting space. Boat shows and other offeit@otions are an important venue for generataigssorders.
The boat shows also generate a significant amduntayest in our products resulting in boat salfsr the show.

We emphasize customer education through one-oredneation by our sales representatives and, at some
locations, our delivery captains, before and atsale, and through in-house seminars for theeefatinily on boat
safety, the use and operation of boats, and pratkrobnstrations. Typically, one of our delivery teéps or the
sales representative delivers the customer’s lboat tarea boating location and thoroughly instrtietscustomer
about the operation of the boat, including hand#structions for docking and trailering the boed. enhance our
customer relationships after the sale, we leadsapdsor MarineMax Getaways! group boating tripgaigous
destinations, rendezvous gatherings, and on-therwaganized events that promote the pleasurdwedidating
lifestyle. Each company-sponsored event, plannddethby a company employee, also provides a félera
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medium for acclimating new customers to boatingyristy exciting boating destinations, creating fdgiips with
other boaters, and enabling us to promote actively product offerings to boating enthusiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe weeéhavcompetitive advantage within the industry bipgeble to
conduct an organized and systematic advertisingrvearéteting effort. Part of our marketing effortluides an
integrated prospect management system that trhekstatus of each sales representative’s contétttayprospect,
automatically generates follow-up corresponderaeijifates company-wide availability of a partiaubmat or other
marine product desired by a customer, and tracksniintenance and service needs for the custoineats

Suppliers and Inventory Management

We purchase substantially all of our new boat inegndirectly from manufacturers, which allocatevnigoats
to dealerships based on the amount of boats saldebgiealership. We also exchange new boats whitkr atealers t
accommodate customer demand and to balance inyentor

We purchase new boats and other marine-relatedipt®ffom Brunswick, which is the world’s largest
manufacturer of marine products, including Sea Bagton Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian. Ve al
purchase new boats and other marine related podhoch other manufacturers, including Azimut, Gratlhite,
and Tracker Marine. In fiscal 2008, sales of newrBwick boats accounted for approximately 49% afreuenue.
No other manufacturer accounted for more than 10&uorevenue in fiscal 2008. We believe our Sew IRzat
purchases represented approximately 40% of SeasRaw boat sales and approximately 10% of all Baiots
marine product sales during fiscal 2008.

We have entered into agreements with Brunswick iogesea Ray products. The dealer agreements kgth t
Sea Ray division of Brunswick do not restrict aight to sell any Sea Ray product lines or competirgglucts. The
terms of each dealer agreement appoints a desijgatgraphical territory for the dealer, whichxslesive to the
dealer so long as the dealer is not in breacheofrtaterial obligations and performance standardsiutie
agreement and Sea Ray’s then current materialipsland programs following notice and the expiratibany
applicable cure periods without cure.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiwe,became the exclusive dealer for Azimut-Benettiup'’s
Azimut product line in the Northeast United StafHse Azimut dealer agreement provides a geographitory to
promote the product line and to network with thprapriate clientele through various independenations
designated for Azimut retail sales.

We typically deal with each of our manufacturetsieo than the Sea Ray division of Brunswick, urater
annually renewable, noexclusive dealer agreement. Manufacturers genegathblish prices on an annual basis
may change prices in their sole discretion. Manufaes typically discount the cost of inventory after inventory
financing assistance during the manufacturers’ sleasons, generally October through March. To oliaver cost
of inventory, we strive to capitalize on these nfanturer incentives to take product delivery durihg
manufacturers’ slow seasons. This permits us to gacing advantages and better product availghilitring the
selling season. Arrangements with certain otherufaarturers may restrict our right to offer someduct lines in
certain markets.

We transfer individual boats among our retail lamad to fill customer orders that otherwise migiket
substantially longer to fill from the manufactur&his reduces delays in delivery, helps us maxinmizentory
turnover, and assists in minimizing potential ot@ck or out-of-stock situations. We actively monitar inventory
levels to maintain levels appropriate to meet curamticipated market demands. We are not bounzmbhtractual
agreements governing the amount of inventory tleatnwst purchase in any year from any manufacthtegrthe
failure to purchase at agreed upon levels maytrésthe loss of certain manufacturer incentive® pérticipate in
numerous end-of-summer manufacturer boat showghwhanufacturers sponsor to sell off their remajnin
inventory at reduced costs before the introduationew model year products, typically beginningluty.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide interessistance programs to retailers. The interesttassis
varies by manufacturer and may include periodsex financing or reduced interest rate programs.iifiterest
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assistance may be paid directly to the retailéherfinancial institution depending on the arrangets the
manufacturer has established. We believe thatinanéing arrangements with manufacturers are stenaihin the
industry.

In March 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EbFfhe Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB
revised certain provisions of its previously reathenclusions on EITF 02-16, “Accounting by a Costo
(Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideratiorc&eed from a Vendor” (“EITF 02-16"), and providadditional
transitional guidance. We determined that EITF 62ripacts the way we account for interest assistamceived
from vendors beginning after July 1, 2003 with teeewal of and amendments to our dealer agreemdthtshe
manufacturers of our products. EITF 02+h6st significantly requires us to classify interassistance received frc
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against
our interest expense incurred with our lenders.

During December 2008, we entered into an amendofemir second amended and restated credit anditgecur
agreement originally entered into in June 2006. dimendment modified the amount of borrowing avditsth
inventory advance rates, provides the ability teesxde $20 million against certain real estate i covenants,
and collateral under the credit facility. With tamendment, the credit facility provides us a liferedit with asset-
based borrowing availability of up to $425 millistepping down to $350 million by September 30,280d
$300 million by May 31, 2010. However, the amendtradso contains a provision that allows us to abtai
commitments from existing or additional lendergréby increasing the capacity of the credit fagilifp to
$500 million. Amounts under the credit facility mbg used for working capital and inventory finamgiwith the
amount of permissible borrowings determined purst@a borrowing base formula. The credit faciifgo permits
approvedvendor floorplan borrowings of up to $20 milliorhd amendment replaces the fixed charge coverage
with an interest coverage ratio for years endingwoafter September 30, 2010; it includes a cunvdaarnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amoitizaor EBITDA (as defined in the agreement), caudrfor each
quarter; it modifies the current ratio requiremeitteeduces the amount of allowable capital exjitenes; it require
approval for any stock repurchases; and it reqaipgsoval for acquisitions. The amended creditifggirovides fol
interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LB®Ilus 425 basis points through September 30, 2080
thereafter at LIBOR plus 150 to 400 basis pointsspant to a performance pricing grid based upennterest
coverage ratio, as defined. Borrowings under tleditfacility are secured by our inventory, acceumceivable,
equipment, furniture, fixtures, and real estatee @mended credit facility matures in May 2011, witlh one-year
renewal options, subject to lender approval.

At September 30, 2008, we owed an aggregate of 88Ifiadn under our revolving credit facility and weein
compliance with all of the credit facility covenanfdvances under the facility accrued interest i@te of 4.0% as
of September 30, 2008, and the facility providedavith an additional net borrowing availability 084 million. All
indebtedness associated with our real estate lydduere repaid during the fiscal year ended Sepes®, 2008.
The December 2008 amendment, if in place at SemeB{) 2008, would have reduced the available bongs
under the facility to approximately $38 million,auding $20 million of potential real estate advesidrom
$84 million and increased the interest rate by exiprately 275 basis points.

Management Information System

We believe that our management information systeiich currently is being utilized by each of our
dealerships and was developed over a number of yleaugh cooperative efforts with the vendor, eiesa our
ability to integrate successfully the operation®wif dealerships and future acquisitions, facéahe interchange
information, and enhances cross-selling opportesitiroughout our company. The system integrates legael of
operations on a companyide basis, including purchasing, inventory, reabies, financial reporting and budgeti
and sales management. The system enables us tomeath dealership’s operations in order to idgifilickly
areas requiring additional focus and to managenitorg. The system also provides sales represeatatith
prospect and customer information that aids thetraitking the status of their contacts with prosgpegutomaticall
generates follow-up correspondence to such prosplecilitates the availability of a particular baampany-wide,
locates boats needed to satisfy a particular custoaguest, and monitors the maintenance and semeieds of
customers’ boats. Company representatives aldmautiie system to assist in
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arranging financing and insurance packages. Inl@ctd002, Brunswick acquired the vendor of our ngen@ent
information system.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick are partiean agreement extending through December 205 t
provides a process for the acquisition of additi@ea Ray boat dealers that desire to be acquyred bUnder the
agreement, acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers withbwially agreed upon by us and Sea Ray with redd®mrdforts
to be made to include a balance of Sea Ray ddhlk#rfiave been successful and those that haveeeat hhe
agreement provides that Sea Ray will not unreadpnéthhold its consent to any proposed acquisitiba Sea Ra
dealer by us, subject to the conditions set fartthe agreement. Among other things, the agreepremides for us
to provide Sea Ray with a business plan for eachgsed acquisition, including historical financald five-year
projected financial information regarding the asifion candidate; marketing and advertising plaesyice
capabilities and managerial and staff personnfyimation regarding the ability of the candidateathieve
performance standards within designated period$jrEormation regarding the success of our prevaguisitions
of Sea Ray dealers. The agreement also contem@ateRay reaching a good faith determination whekiee
acquisition would be in its best interest base@dwndedication and focus of resources on the SgabRad and Sea
Ray’s consideration of any adverse effects thaafigroval would have on the resulting territory faguration and
adjacent or other dealers sales and the abserarg ofiolation of applicable laws or rights grantgdSea Ray to
others.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, and weotigh our dealerships, are parties to Sales andcger
Agreements relating to Sea Ray products extendiraugh December 2015. Each of these dealer agraemen
appoints one of our dealerships as a dealer foretiadl sale, display, and servicing of design&ed Ray products,
parts, and accessories currently or in the futale sy Sea Ray. Each dealer agreement designalesignated
geographical territory for the dealer, which islegove to the dealer as long as the dealer ismbteach of the
material obligations and performance standardsuh@eagreement and Sea Rathien current material policies ¢
programs following notice and the expiration of @pplicable cure periods without cure. Each desdeeement
also specifies retail locations, which the dealaymot close, change, or add to without the priotten consent of
Sea Ray, provided that Sea Ray may not unreasonathilyold its consent. Each dealer agreement aswicts the
dealer from selling, advertising (other than inogized and established marine publications), biolicfor sale, or
offering for resale any Sea Ray products outsgleeitritory without the prior written consent oféSRay as long as
similar restrictions also apply to all domestic &=y dealers selling comparable Sea Ray productddition, each
dealer agreement provides for the lowest produceprcharged by Sea Ray from time to time to odoanestic Sea
Ray dealers, subject to the dealer meeting altefairements and conditions of Sea Ray’s applicplgrams and
the right of Sea Ray in good faith to charge lepsiees to other dealers to meet existing competitircumstances,
for unusual and non-ordinary business circumstarareer limited duration promotional programs.

Among other things, each dealer agreement reqtiieedealer to

« devote its best efforts to promote, display, adsertand sell Sea Ray products at each of itd tetaitions in
accordance with the agreement and applicable |

« display and utilize at each of its retail locati@igns, graphics, and image elements with Sea Ray’s
identification that positively reflect the Sea Rmage and promote the retail sale of Sea Ray pteg

« purchase and maintain at all times sufficient inegnof current Sea Ray products to meet the ressen
demand of customers at each of its locations amdetet Sea Ray’s applicable minimum inventory
requirements

* maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptable location, a service department that isgngstaffed
and equipped to service Sea Ray products promptlypaofessionally and to maintain parts and supyte
service Sea Ray products properly on a timely b
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 perform all necessary product rigging, installatiand inspection services prior to delivery to pasers in
accordance with Sea Ray’s standards and perfortrsptes services of all Sea Ray products sold by dades
and brought to the dealer for servi

 provide or arrange for warranty and service workSea Ray products regardless of the selling dealer
condition of sale

» exercise reasonable efforts to address circumsianaghich another dealer has made a sale to gmati
retail purchaser who permanently resides withindisalers territory where such sale is contrary to tharsg
deale’s Sales and Service Agreeme

 provide appropriate instructions to purchasersam to obtain warranty and service work from thelee:

« furnish product purchasers with Sea Ray’s limitedranty on new products and with information and
training as to the safe and proper operation aridtereance of the product

* assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns

+ achieve sales performance in accordance with faiiraasonable standards and sales levels estabhighe
Sea Ray in consultation with the dealer based cioffa such as population, sales potential, mataates
percentage of Sea Ray products sold in the teyrdompared with competitive products sold in theit@ry,
local economic conditions, competition, past shistory, number of retail locations, and other salec
circumstances that may affect the sale of Sea Rajupts or the dealer, in each case consistent with
standards established for all domestic Sea Ragdes¢lling comparable produc

« provide designated financial information that aghtful and accurate

» conduct its business in a manner that preservegm@mahces the reputation and goodwill of both Smadhd
the dealer for providing quality products and segsi

« maintain the financial ability to purchase and ntwimon hand and display Sea I's current product mode
e maintain customer service ratings in compliancén\Bita Ra’s criteria;

« comply with those dealer’s obligations that mayirhposed or established by Sea Ray applicable to all
domestic Sea Ray deale

* maintain a financial condition that is adequatsdtsfy and perform its obligations under the agrest;

 achieve within designated time periods or maintagior dealer status (which is Sea Ray’s highest
performance status) or other applicable certifaratiequirements as established from time to tim&éy Ra
applicable to all domestic Sea Ray deal

 notify Sea Ray of the addition or deletion of aatail locations

« sell Sea Ray products only on the basis of SeasRalished applicable limited warranty and makether
warranty or representations concerning the limitadranty, expressed or implied, either verballynor
writing;

 provide timely warranty service on all Sea Ray picid presented to the dealer by purchasers in dacoe
with Sea Ray'’s then current warranty program applie to all domestic Sea Ray dealers selling coatpar
Sea Ray products; al

 provide Sea Ray with access to the dealer’s boo#isecords and such other information as Sea Rgy ma
reasonably request to verify the accuracy of theamdy claims submitted to Sea Ray by the dealér wi
regard to such warranty clairr

Sea Ray has agreed to indemnify each of our deadgisist any losses to third parties resulting f&ea Ray’s
negligent acts or omissions involving the desigmanufacture of any of its products or any breaclt bf the
agreement. Each of our dealers has agreed to infjfe8ea Ray against any losses to third partiesltiag from the
dealer’s negligent acts or omissions involvingdeeler’s application, use, or repair of Sea Raypcts,
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statements or representation not specifically aitbd by Sea Ray, the installation of any afterkeacomponents
or any other modification or alteration of Sea Ragducts, and any breach by the dealer of the agre

Each dealer agreement may be terminated

« by Sea Ray, upon 60 days prior written noticehéf dealer fails or refuses to place a minimum stackrder
of the next model year’s products in accordanch vatuirements applicable to all Sea Ray dealansrgdly
or fails to meet its financial obligations as thmcome due to Sea Ray or to the d¢'s lenders

* by Sea Ray or the dealer, upon 60 days writtercadti the other, in the event of a breach or defauthe
other with any of the of the material obligatiopsrformance standards, covenants, representations,
warranties, or duties imposed by the agreemeriteoBea Ray manual that has not been cured withdag®
of the notice of the claimed deficiency or withimesmsonable period when the cure cannot be condplete
within a 60-day period, or at the end of the 60-gdasiod without the opportunity to cure when thasma
constitutes bad faitt

* by Sea Ray or the dealer if the other makes a frleatl misrepresentation that is material to theagrent or
the other engages in an incurable act of bad 1

« by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl

« by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theemgent by the dealer without the prior writtenssmt of
Sea Ray

« by Sea Ray upon at least 15 days’ prior writtericean the event of the failure to pay any sums aiue
owing to Sea Ray that are not disputed in gooth;faitd

« upon the mutual consent of Sea Ray and the d¢

Employees

As of September 30, 2008, we had 1,759 employe&g5 bf whom were in store-level operations an@®B4
whom were in corporate administration and managéniée are not a party to any collective bargaining
agreements. We consider our relations with our eygas to be excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademarkgheitt.S. Patent and Trademark Office for variounes
including “MarineMax,” “MarineMax Getaways,” “MargMax Care,” “Delivering the Dream,” “MarineMax
Delivering the Boating Dream,” “Newcoast Financarvices,” “MarineMax Boating Gear Center,” and “fvien
on Water.” We have registered the name “MarineMaxhe European Community. We have trade name and
trademark applications pending in Canada for varimames, including “MarineMax,” “Delivering the m,” and
“The Water Gene.” There can be no assurance tlyadfathese applications will be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioreigp industry, is highly seasonal, with seasopnafétrying in
different geographic markets. Over the three-yesiod ended September 30, 2008, the average re¥entie
quarters ended December 31, March 31, June 3G5epimber 30 represented approximately 19%, 25%, 8ad
24%, respectively, of our average annual reveniMith the exception of Florida, we generally real&gnificantly
lower sales and higher levels of inventories amated short-term borrowings, in the quarterly pasiending
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the publd &dnd recreation shows in January stimulatesdades and
allows us to reduce our inventory levels and relatgort-term borrowings throughout the remaindeheffiscal
year.

Our business is also subject to weather patterhighwnay adversely affect our results of operatiéius
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlifevels) or excessive rain, may close areaihgdbcations o
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebaiting customer demand for our products. In tddj
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteritond may lead to a shorter selling season inageibcations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgtof our operations or damage to our boat irorézd and
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facilities, as has been the case when Florida émet onarkets were affected by hurricanes. Althooighgeographic
diversity is likely to reduce the overall impactus of adverse weather conditions in any one manes, these
conditions will continue to represent potential tenal adverse risks to us and our future finangeaformance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Winddoelieve that we maintain all requisite licensed permits and
are in compliance with all applicable federal, st@nd local regulations, there can be no assuthateve will be
able to maintain all requisite licenses and perniite failure to satisfy those and other regulateuirements
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition, and results of operatiofise adoption of
additional laws, rules, and regulations could &dlave a material adverse effect on our businessoWafederal,
state, and local regulatory agencies, includingQbeupational Safety and Health AdministrationQ@HA, the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, BAEand similar federal and local agencies, haxisdiction
over the operation of our dealerships, repair itéesl, and other operations with respect to matach as consumer
protection, workers’ safety, and laws regardinggetion of the environment, including air, watandasoil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulations fitlb@ard marine engines that impose more strictsans
standards for two-cycle, gasoline outboard marimgirees. Emissions from such engines must be reduged
approximately 75% over a nine-year period beginmiity the 1998 model year. The majority of the @maiul
marine engines we sell are manufactured by Mermasine. Mercury Marine’s product line of low-emisai
engines, including the OptiMax, Verado, and otlerrfstroke outboards, have already achieved the £ Rvandate
2006 emission levels. Any increased costs of primguengines resulting from EPA standards, or tlaiiity of our
manufacturers to comply with EPA requirements, dddve a material adverse effect on our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergubstorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of vario
petroleum products. The USTs are generally subjefetderal, state, and local laws and regulatibas tequire
testing and upgrading of USTs and remediation afaminated soils and groundwater resulting frorkilggaUSTSs.
In addition, if leakage from company-owned or opedldJSTs migrates onto the property of others, \ag be
subject to civil liability to third parties for resdiation costs or other damages. Based on histexperience, we
believe that our liabilities associated with US$tieg, upgrades, and remediation are unlikely wetemmaterial
adverse effect on our financial condition or opeaatesults.

As with boat dealerships generally, and parts @andce operations in particular, our business imgslthe use,
handling, storage, and contracting for recyclingligposal of hazardous or toxic substances or waisteluding
environmentally sensitive materials, such as moilpmwaste motor oil and filters, transmission fluantifreeze,
freon, waste paint and lacquer thinner, batteselvents, lubricants, degreasing agents, gasamediesel fuels.

Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by fedlestate, and local authorities establishing rezaents for th
use, management, handling, and disposal of thesariala and health and environmental quality stad&leand
liability related thereto, and providing penaltfes violations of those standards. We are alsoestitip laws,
ordinances, and regulations governing investigadioth remediation of contamination at facilities eperate to
which we send hazardous or toxic substances oewé#st treatment, recycling, or disposal.

We do not believe we have any material environnidiafailities or that compliance with environmentaivs,
ordinances, and regulations will, individually arthe aggregate, have a material adverse effestiohusiness,
financial condition, or results of operations. Hek soil and groundwater contamination has beemvkrto exist
at certain properties owned or leased by us. We h#so been required and may in the future be redto remove
aboveground and underground storage tanks congdi@nardous substances or wastes. As to certaiurof
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in acoare with state
and federal guidelines. We are monitoring the @od groundwater as required by applicable statdfedwtal
guidelines. In addition, the shareholders of thguared dealers have indemnified us for specificiemmental
issues identified on environmental site assessnpanfsrmed by us as part of the acquisitions. Wantam
insurance for pollutant cleanup and removal. Theecage pays for the expenses to extract pollufamts land or
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water at the insured property, if the dischargspelisal, seepage, migration, release, or escahe pbllutants is
caused by or results from a covered cause of Wesalso have additional storage tank liability irggice and
“Superfund” coverage where applicable. In additicertain of our retail locations are located onematys that are
subject to federal or state laws regulating navigaaters (including oil pollution prevention), fignd wildlife, and
other matters.

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action regpect
to prior historical site activities on these prdje= has been completed in accordance with fedechktate law.
Also, two of our properties are within the boundarof a “Superfund” site, although neither propédg been nor is
expected to be identified as a contributor to thhet@mination in the area. We, however, do not kelibat these
environmental issues will result in any materiabilities to us.

Additionally, certain states have required or aresidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. While such licensing requirements are notetgal to be unduly restrictive, regulations magaisage
potential first-time buyers, thereby limiting futusales, which could adversely affect our busirfesancial
condition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose us teenial liabilities for personal injury or propertiamage
claims relating to the use of those products. Hiicadly, the resolution of product liability claintes not materially
affected our business. Our manufacturers genearaiyntain product liability insurance, and we maimtird-party
product liability insurance, which we believe todmequate. However, we may experience legal clairazcess of
our insurance coverage, and those claims may noowered by insurance. Furthermore, any significéaims
against us could adversely affect our businesantiial condition, and results of operations andltés negative
publicity. Excessive insurance claims also coufililtein increased insurance premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from reatien
businesses seeking to attract consumers’ leismeedind discretionary spending dollars, the reaeatiboat
industry itself is highly fragmented, resultingiimense competition for customers, quality produlstat show
space, and suitable retail locations. We rely ¢erdain extent on boat shows to generate salesin@bitity to
participate in boat shows in our existing or taegemarkets could have a material adverse effecuobusiness,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We compete primarily with single-location boat @aland, with respect to sales of marine equipnpents,
and accessories, with national specialty marinesta@atalog retailers, sporting goods stores aags merchants.
Dealer competition continues to increase basedh®uality of available products, the price andigadf the
products, and attention to customer service. Tisesggnificant competition both within markets warently serve
and in new markets that we may enter. We competach of our markets with retailers of brands aftb@nd
engines we do not sell in that market. In addite®yeral of our competitors, especially thosersgltioating
accessories, are large national or regional chhatshave substantial financial, marketing, anéotkesources.
However, we believe that our integrated corponai@structure and marketing and sales capabilitiescost
structure, and our nationwide presence enable cartpete effectively against these companies. fersales of
used boats is an additional significant sourceoofietition.
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Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concewpieach of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 65 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive
Officer, and Directo

Michael H. McLamb 43 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Directt

Edward A. Russe 48 Executive Vice President of Operations and S

Kurt M. Frahn 40 Vice President of Finance and Treast

Jack P. Ezze 38 Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, and Collar

T. Glenn Sandridg 48 Vice President of Marketin

Jay J. Avelinc 58 Vice President of Human Resourt

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Mdviag since January 23, 1998 and as
the Chairman of the Board and as a director ofconmpany since March 6, 1998. Mr. McGill servedtesRresider
of our company from January 23, 1988 until Septar8h@000 and re-assumed the position on July 0220
Mr. McGill was the principal owner and presidentGilfwind USA, Inc., one of our operating subsidar from
1973 until its merger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cosnpmce October 2002, as Chief
Financial Officer since January 23, 1998, as Sagyatince April 5, 1998, and as a director sinceétaber 1, 200:
Mr. McLamb served as Vice President and Treasureuncompany from January 23, 1998 until OctoligrZ002.
Mr. McLamb, a certified public accountant, was eoygld by Arthur Andersen LLP from December 1987 to
December 1997, serving most recently as a senioagd.

Edward A. Russehas served as Executive Vice President of Opeatiod Sales of our company since
February 2008. Mr. Russell served as Vice Preside@perations of our company from March 2006 uRébruary
2008, and as a Vice President of our company fratolier 22, 2002 until March 2006. Mr. Russell sdrae the
Regional Manager of our Florida operations from éstgl, 2002 until October 22, 2002 and as the Didresider
for our Central and West Florida operations fronréhal998 until August 1, 2002. Mr. Russell was amer and
General Sales Manager of Gulfwind USA Inc., onewfoperating subsidiaries, now called MarineMaxehtral
Florida, from 1984 until its merger with our comgan March 1998.

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Treragliour company since October 22, 2002.
Mr. Frahn served as Director of Taxes and Acquisgiof our company from May 15, 1998 until OctoB2y 2002.
Mr. Frahn was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP fr8aptember 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving most
recently as a tax consulting manager.

Jack P. Ezzelhas served as Vice President and Chief Accountiifiged of our company since October 22,
2002 and as Corporate Controller of our compangesitune 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzell served as AssistantrGiter from
January 13, 1998 until June 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzeatkuified public accountant, was employed by ArtAndersen
LLP from August 1996 until January 1998, servingstrecently as a senior auditor.

T. Glenn Sandridgbas served as Vice President of Marketing of oangamny since December 2003.
Mr. Sandridge was Director of Marketing-Watercfaft Bombardier Motor Corporation from August 199&iu
December 2003.

Jay J. Avelindhas served as Vice President of Human Resourcasr @ompany since February 2008.
Mr. Avelino served as Vice President of Team Depalent of our company from May 2000 until Februadp@
Previously, Mr. Avelino was employed by Caliper @aration, a New Jersey-based personality assessmeént
human resources consulting company, most recesitBeaior Vice President.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our success depends to a significant extent onwred being, as well as the continued popularity areputation
for quality of the boating products, of our manufawurers, particularly Brunswick's Sea Ray, Boston \aler,
Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian boat lines and AzimBénetti Group’s Azimut and Atlantis products.

Approximately 49% of our revenue in fiscal 2008ulé=d from sales of new boats manufactured by Buicls
including approximately 34% from Brunswick’s SeayRlvision and approximately 15% from Brunswickther
divisions. The remainder of our fiscal 2008 revefroen new boat sales resulted from sales of pradirotn a
limited number of other manufacturers, none of Whaccounted for more than 10% of our revenue.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide us witldycts that compare favorably with competing paislu
in terms of quality, performance, safety, and adearfeatures, including the latest advances inysigmn and
navigation systems. Any adverse change in the ptaduefficiency, product development efforts, tealogical
advancement, marketplace acceptance, marketingpitiipa, and financial condition of our manufadts,
particularly Brunswick given our reliance on Seg/R@oston Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian, ldtave a
substantial adverse impact on our business. Arigdifies encountered by any of our manufacturestigularly
Brunswick, resulting from economic, financial, dher factors could adversely affect the quality antbunt of
products that they are able to supply to us andéneices and support they provide to us.

The interruption or discontinuance of the operaiohBrunswick or other manufacturers could cawstou
experience shortfalls, disruptions, or delays wétspect to needed inventory. Although we beliewat duequate
alternate sources would be available that coulthoepany manufacturer other than Brunswick as duymisource,
those alternate sources may not be available dinigeof any interruption, and alternative producsy not be
available at comparable quality and prices.

We maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick cogg8ea Ray products. Each dealer agreement hakliia mu
year term and provides for the lowest product priciearged by the Sea Ray division of Brunswick ftome to time
to other domestic Sea Ray dealers. These termsubject to

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditof Sea R¢'s applicable programs; ai
« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge lkesprices to other deale

— to meet existing competitive circumstances;

— for unusual and non-ordinary business circuntstsinor

— for limited duration promotional programs.

Each dealer agreement designates a designatecagbam territory for the dealer, which is excliesto the
dealer so long as the dealer is not in breacheofrtaterial obligations and performance standardsiutie
agreement and Sea Ray’s then current materialipsléand programs following notice and the expiratibany
applicable cure periods without cure.

We also maintain dealer agreements with Hatterasrowy Hatteras products. Each agreement allowtekest
to revise prices at any time, and such new pridésupersede previous prices. Pursuant to theemgeats, we must
bear any losses we incur as a result of such phaages and may not recover from Hatteras for @sgek. In
addition, certain of our dealerships may not repmésnanufacturers or product lines that competectyr with
Hatteras without its prior written consent.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitior,became the exclusive dealer for Azimut-Benettiup’s
Azimut product line. In September 2008, our geofgraperritory was expanded to include Florida. Bremut
dealer agreement provides a geographic territopramote the product line and to network with tperapriate
clientele through various independent locationsgieded for Azimut retail sales.

As is typical in the industry, we generally deathwinanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray division o
Brunswick, under renewable annual dealer agreem&hése agreements do not contain any contractaeisions
concerning product pricing or required purchasengls. Pricing is generally established on a mgdat basis, but
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is subject to change in the manufacturer’s solerdion. Any change or termination of these arramgas for any
reason could adversely affect product availabditgl cost and our financial performance.

General economic conditions and consumer spendimdgt@rns can negatively impact our operating results

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regarding-éuiconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawve serve and adversely affect our businessdfaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipggicularly Florida in which we generated 46%% and 43%
of our revenue during fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2088pectively, can have a major impact on our ojmrait Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and myjlitase closings, also could adversely affect parations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionaryndijmg levels generally decline, at times resulimg
disproportionately large reductions in the saléugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéfprevailing economic conditions are favoral#lghough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatagor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afustry growth could adversely affect our businéagncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowsianer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007cmdinued weakness in consumer spending resultomg f
substantial weakness in the financial markets aterbrating economic conditions had a very sultistanegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008. These canttcaused us to defer our acquisition prograow siur new
store openings, reduce our inventory purchasesgan inventory reduction efforts, close somewfretail
locations, and reduce our headcount. We cannotgbithe length or severity of these unfavorablenecoic or
financial conditions or the extent to which theyladversely affect our operating results nor canpredict the
effectiveness of the measures we have taken tesslthiis environment or whether additional measwiiébe
necessary.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds canvadsely affect our ability to obtain adequate baatentory
and the ability and willingness of our customersfinance boat purchases.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveaskely affect our ability to obtain adequate doaéentory
and the holding costs of that inventory as welhesability and willingness of our customers taafice boat
purchases. As of September 30, 2008, we had neteyngdebt. However, we rely on our credit facililypurchase
our inventory of boats. Our ability to borrow unaer credit facility depends on our continuing &isfy our
covenants and other obligations under our credilifip. The aging of our inventory limits our boming capacity a
defined curtailments reduce the allowable advaateas our inventory ages. Our access to funds underedit
facility also depends upon the ability of the batiiat are parties to that facility to meet theinding commitments,
particularly if they experience shortages of cdmitaexperience excessive volumes of borrowing estgifrom
others during a short period of time. A continuatid depressed economic conditions, weak consupegrdng,
turmoil in the credit markets, and lender difficedt could interfere with our ability to utilize tlveedit agreement to
fund our operations. Any inability to utilize ouredit facility resulting from a covenant violationsufficient
collateral, or lender difficulties could require tasseek other sources of funding to repay amaoauistanding under
the credit agreement or replace or supplementreggitagreement, which may not be possible atralinaler
commercially reasonable terms.

Similarly, the decreases in the availability ofdit@nd increases in the cost of credit adversiécathe ability
of our customers to purchase boats from us anehbleadversely affects our ability to sell our pro@duand impact
the profitability of our finance and insurance aitiies. Tight credit conditions during fiscal 20@8versely affected
the ability of customers to finance boat purchasésch had a negative affect on our operating tesul
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Fuel prices and supply may affect our busine

All of the recreational boats we sell are powergdliesel or gasoline engines. Consequently, amrimg&on in
the supply, or a significant increase in the pacéax on the sale of fuel on a regional or natidm@sis could have a
material adverse effect on our sales and operagisigjts. Increases in fuel prices (such as thaseotcurred during
fiscal 2008) negatively impact boat sales. At vasitimes in the past, diesel or gasoline fuel leenifficult to
obtain. The supply of fuels may be interruptedprahg may be imposed, or the price of or tax oglunay
significantly increase in the future, adversely &ofing our business.

The availability of boat insurance is critical tour success.

The ability of our customers to secure reasonatitydable boat insurance that is satisfactory twégs that
finance our customergurchases is critical to our success. Historicaffordable boat insurance has been avail:
With the hurricanes that have impacted the statdafda and other markets over the past sevealyénsurance
rates have escalated and insurance coverage hamdacore difficult to obtain. Any difficulty of ctemers to
obtain affordable boat insurance could impede bakt#s and adversely affect our business.

Other recreational activities and poor industry maption can adversely affect the levels of boatghases.

Other recreational activities and poor industrycpetion can adversely affect the levels of boatipases. As a
seller of high-end consumer products, we must céenfoe discretionary spending with a wide varietyther
recreational activities and consumer purchaseadfdiition, perceived hassles of boat ownership atadively poor
customer service and customer education througheuttail boat industry represent impedimentsoat b
purchases. Our customer-centric strategy is ingbal@vercome these perceptions.

Adverse federal tax policies can have a negativieafon us.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, such amwosition of luxury taxes on new boat purchasesgiases in
prevailing tax rates, and weak stock market peréoroe also influence consumers’ decisions to puechesducts
we offer and could have a negative effect on oléss&or example, during 1991 and 1992, the fedgraérnment
imposed a luxury tax on new recreational boats sétles prices in excess of $100,000, which coinkidi¢h a shar,
decline in boating industry sales from a high ofrenthan $17.9 billion in the late 1980s to a lové0.3 billion in
1992. Any increase in tax rates, including thoseapital gains and dividends, particularly thoseéhih-income
taxpayers, could adversely affect our boat sales.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to tane to make successful acquisitions and to intatg the
operations of acquired dealers and each dealer weqidre in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 20 recredtiomat dealers, two boat brokerage operationsfvand
full-service yacht repair facilities. Each acquidkghler operated independently prior to its actjaisby us. Our
success depends, in part, on our ability to coetioumake successful acquisitions and to integh&®perations of
acquired dealers, including centralizing certaimctions to achieve cost savings and pursuing progi@nd
processes that promote cooperation and the shafriogportunities and resources among our dealesstife may
not be able to oversee the combined entity effijesr to implement effectively our growth and ogeng strategie
To the extent that we successfully pursue our adipn strategy, our resulting growth will placgsificant
additional demands on our management and infragtescOur failure to pursue successfully our adtjors
strategies or operate effectively the combinedyntiuld have a material adverse effect on ouraftgowth and
operating performance.

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays freqtly encountered in connection with rapid expansio
through acquisitions could inhibit our growth and egatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additional recieaal boat dealers involves significant risks. Tétismtegy
entails reviewing and potentially reorganizing doe business operations, corporate infrastrucacesystems, al
financial controls. Unforeseen expenses, diffiegltiand delays frequently encountered in conneutitmrapid
expansion through acquisitions could inhibit ousvgth and negatively impact our profitability. We yrize

25




Table of Contents

unable to identify suitable acquisition candidaieso complete the acquisitions of candidates weatdentify.
Increased competition for acquisition candidatemoreased asking prices by acquisition candidai#g increase
purchase prices for acquisitions to levels beyamdfinancial capability or to levels that would rresult in the
returns required by our acquisition criteria. Agitibns also may become more difficult in the fetas we acquire
more of the most attractive dealers. In additioa,may encounter difficulties in integrating the kgi®ns of
acquired dealers with our own operations or marmgpgaquired dealers profitably without substantats, delays,
or other operational or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock and indostantial indebtedness in making future acquisitidrne
size, timing, and integration of any future acdiosis may cause substantial fluctuations in opegatésults from
quarter to quarter. Consequently, operating regoiitany quarter may not be indicative of the resthat may be
achieved for any subsequent quarter or for a gl year. These fluctuations could adverselycafiiee market
price of our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through the acqtiisi of additional dealers will depend upon varifastors,
including the following:

« the availability of suitable acquisition candidat¢sttractive purchase price
« the ability to compete effectively for availablegagsition opportunities

« the availability of borrowed funds or common stedgkh a sufficient market price to complete the
acquisitions

« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approval
« the ability to obtain approval of our lenders under current credit agreement; ¢

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attemiatimgpose unsatisfactory restrictions on us innemtion
with their approval of acquisition

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequestigage in discussions with various recreationat bdealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. Ingeation with these discussions, we and each pategquisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arehfifal information, conduct due diligence inquiriasd consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the poséatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectopissition candidat
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition aity other party for a specific period of time, gsams an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designated guring a specific time, and agrees to takeraibBons
designed to enhance the possibility of the acdaisisuch as preparing audited financial informatmd converting
its accounting system to the system specified byPatential acquisition discussions frequently taleee over a
long period of time and involve difficult busingssegration and other issues, including in somesafnanagement
succession and related matters. As a result oé thed other factors, a number of potential acqorstthat from
time to time appear likely to occur do not resnlbinding legal agreements and are not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brungkvand various other manufacturers prior to the
acquisition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, afiacturers may consider many factors, including our
financial condition and ownership structure. Martgers also may impose conditions on granting tugprovals
for acquisitions, including a limitation on the nben of their dealers that we may acquire. Our ihidi meet
manufacturers’ requirements for approving futurguasitions will have a direct bearing on our alilio complete
acquisitions and effect our growth strategy. Thene be no assurance that a manufacturer will notinate its
dealer agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agmenefuse to approve future acquisitions, or tatker action the
could have a material adverse effect on our adiprsprogram.

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick have are@ment extending through June 2015 that provides a
process for the acquisition of additional Sea Raat ldealers that desire to be acquired by us. Uhdeagreement,
acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers will be mutuallsead upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable eftokis made

26




Table of Contents

to include a balance of Sea Ray dealers that heee successful and those that have not been. Teeragnt
provides that Sea Ray will not unreasonably withtitd consent to any proposed acquisition of aFsgadealer by
us, subject to the conditions set forth in the agrent. Among other things, the agreement requiée provide Se
Ray with a business plan for each proposed actuisincluding historical financial and five-yearmpected
financial information regarding the acquisition datate; marketing and advertising plans; servigabdities and
managerial and staff personnel; information regaydihe ability of candidate to achieve performasteedards
within designated periods; and information regagdime success of our previous acquisitions of Ssadealers.
The agreement also contemplates Sea Ray reaclgiogdafaith determination whether the acquisitioruleidoe in
its best interest based on our dedication and fotussources on the Sea Ray brand and Sea Rays&eoation of
any adverse effects that the approval would havinemesulting territory configuration and adjacenbther dealet
sales and the absence of any violation of applkckhbls or rights granted by Sea Ray to others.

Our growth strategy also entails expanding our pebtines and geographic scope by obtaining adwitio
distribution rights from our existing and new maaxtfirers. We may not be able to secure additiastilzlition
rights or obtain suitable alternative sources @iptyif we are unable to obtain such distributiaghts. The inability
to expand our product lines and geographic scopebbgining additional distribution rights could leaa material
adverse effect on the growth and profitability aof dbusiness.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control owair business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Through degileements, boat manufacturers, including Brunswick
exercise significant control over their dealerstniet them to specified locations, and retain appl rights over
changes in management and ownership, among othgstfThe continuation of our dealer agreements miost
manufacturers, including Brunswick, depends upamrag other things, our achieving stated goals tistamer
satisfaction ratings and market share penetratidha market served by the applicable dealershijuie to meet
the customer satisfaction, market share goalsp#ret conditions set forth in any dealer agreemeuntd have
various consequences, including the following:

« the termination of the dealer agreem

« the imposition of additional conditions in subsetfugealer agreement

« limitations on boat inventory allocatior

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty waekormed by the deale
* loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentiee:

« denial of approval of future acquisitior

Our dealer agreements with certain manufactunecfyding Brunswick, do not give us the exclusiyghtito
sell those manufacturers’ products within a givengyaphical area. Accordingly, a manufacturer,uditig
Brunswick, could authorize another dealer to starew dealership in proximity to one or more of lmaations, or
an existing dealer could move a dealership to atioc that would be directly competitive with uheBe events
could have a material adverse effect on our conipeosition and financial performance.

The failure to receive rebates and other dealeremntives on inventory purchases or retail sales abul
substantially reduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturers’ programs that provideimives for dealers to purchase and sell partidwdat
makes and models or for consumers to buy partitidat makes or models. Any eliminations, reductions
limitations, or other changes relating to rebateoentive programs that have the effect of redudie benefits we
receive, whether relating to the ability of mandfaes to pay or our ability to qualify for such @mtive programs,
could increase the effective cost of our boat pasels, reduce our margins and competitive posiiod,have a
material adverse effect on our financial perforneanc
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Our growth strategy may require us to secure sigraht additional capital, the amount of which witlepenc
upon the size, timing, and structure of future adgitions and our working capital and general corpate needs

If we finance future acquisitions in whole or inrparough the issuance of common stock or seegriti
convertible into or exercisable for common stockisng stockholders will experience dilution iretkioting power
of their common stock and earnings per share doeldegatively impacted. The extent to which we béllable and
willing to use our common stock for acquisitiondlwiepend on the market value of our common stoukthe
willingness of potential sellers to accept our camnrstock as full or partial consideration. Our iitiabto use our
common stock as consideration, to generate caghdperations, or to obtain additional funding thgbwebt or
equity financings in order to pursue our acquisifowogram could materially limit our growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acquisitiongor operations could make us more vulnerable to
downturn in our operating results, a downturn iarexmic conditions, or increases in interest ratebarrowings
that are subject to interest rate fluctuationsuilf cash flow from operations is insufficient toeheur debt service
requirements, we could be required to sell addii@guity securities, refinance our obligationsdispose of assets
in order to meet our debt service requirementsaduition, our credit arrangements contain finanaiad operational
covenants and other restrictions with which we neoshply, including limitations on capital expend#s and the
incurrence of additional indebtedness. Adequatniiimg may not be available if and when we need hay not b¢
available on terms acceptable to us. The failumbtain sufficient financing on favorable terms additions coul
have a material adverse effect on our growth prespend our business, financial condition, andlte s
operations.

Our current revolving credit facility, as amendpohvides a line of credit with asset-based borrgwin
availability of up to $425 million and allows us@illion in traditional floorplan borrowings. Weate pledged
various of our assets, including boat inventor@egounts receivable, equipment, fixtures, andestlte, to secure
borrowings under our credit facility. While we kmle we will continue to obtain adequate financirugrf lenders,
such financing may not be available to us.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of agiag new locations and offering new products invelvisk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiring boaaldes, we intend to continue to pursue a stratégyawth
through opening new retail locations and offeriegvrproducts in our existing and new territoriescémplishing
these goals for expansion will depend upon a nurmabfactors, including the following:

« our ability to identify new markets in which we cabtain distribution rights to sell our existingamtditional
product lines

 our ability to lease or construct suitable faahtiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar
« our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;
« the timely integration of new retail locations irgristing operations

« our ability to achieve adequate market penetraidiavorable operating margins without the acqoisiof
existing dealers; an

« our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick require Bruas\w consent to open, close, or change retailtlonahat
sell Sea Ray products, and other dealer agreergengsally contain similar provisions. We may notle to open
and operate new retail locations or introduce nevdgpct lines on a timely or profitable basis. Moreq the costs
associated with opening new retail locations awithicing new product lines may adversely affectprofitability.
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As a result of these growth strategies, we exmeekpend significant time and effort in opening aeduiring
new retail locations and introducing new produ€ar systems, procedures, controls, and financ&luees may
not be adequate to support our expanding operafidresinability to manage our growth effectivelyut have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition, and results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose significant addesponsibilities on members of senior managearaht
require us to identify, recruit, and integrate &iddial senior level managers. We may not be abidentify, hire, or
train suitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreationabbng industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonglitarying in
different geographic markets. In addition, weatheonditions may adversely impact our business.

During the three-year period ended September 318,20e average revenue for the quarterly periodee
December 31, March 31, June 30, and Septembepd@sented 19%, 25%, 32%, and 24%, respectivelguof
average annual revenue. With the exception of @orive generally realize significantly lower sakeghe quarterly
periods ending December 31 and March 31. The arigbe public boat and recreation shows in Janstinyulates
boat sales and allows us to reduce our inventegideand related short-term borrowings throughbetremainder
of the fiscal year. Our business could become sualisily more seasonal as we acquire dealers ffextte in colde
regions of the United States.

Weather conditions may adversely impact our opagatsults. For example, drought conditions, reduce
rainfall levels, and excessive rain may force b@ptireas to close or render boating dangerousconuenient,
thereby curtailing customer demand for our produataddition, unseasonably cool weather and pgedrwinter
conditions may lead to shorter selling seasonitam locations. Hurricanes and other storms coesdlt in the
disruption of our operations or damage to our lantories and facilities as has been the casa Wwheida and
other markets were affected by hurricanes. Mamyuofdealerships sell boats to customers for usesegrvoirs,
thereby subjecting our business to the continuabiidy of these reservoirs for boating use. Altgbwur
geographic diversity and our future geographic egpm will reduce the overall impact on us of adeaweather
conditions in any one market area, weather contitiill continue to represent potential materiatexrde risks to u
and our future operating performance. As a reduti@foregoing and other factors, our operatirgyits in some
future quarters could be below the expectatiorstafk market analysts and investors.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from nooaking
recreation businesses seeking to attract disceatyspending dollars, the recreational boat ingutelf is highly
fragmented and involves intense competition fotamers, product distribution rights, and suitalgail locations,
particularly on or near waterways. Competition @ages during periods of stagnant industry growth.

We compete primarily with single-location boat @galand, with respect to sales of marine partessies,
and equipment, with national specialty marine pants accessories stores, catalog retailers, sgpaytinds stores,
and mass merchants. Competition among boat desleesed on the quality of available products ptiee and
value of the products, and attention to customesige There is significant competition both withirarkets we
currently serve and in new markets that we mayreife compete in each of our markets with retaibdrigrands of
boats and engines we do not sell in that markeddttition, several of our competitors, especidilyse selling
marine equipment and accessories, are large nhtonegional chains that have substantial finanomarketing,
and other resources. Private sales of used bgatssent an additional source of competition.

Due to various matters, including environmentalagns, permitting and zoning requirements and cditigre
for waterfront real estate, some markets in thaddnGtates have experienced an increased waisinfipti marina
and storage availability. In general, the market&lich we currently operate are not experiencimgunusual
difficulties. However, marine retail activity couls adversely effected in markets that do not Isa¥icient marine
and storage availability to satisfy demand.
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We depend on income from financing, insurance, aexttended service contract

A portion of our income results from referral faEsived from the placement or marketing of varibgs
products, consisting of customer financing, insaeaproducts, and extended service contracts, tis¢ significant
component of which is the participation and ottessfresulting from our sale of customer financiogtiacts.
During fiscal 2008, F&I products accounted for apgmately 3.6% of our revenue.

The availability of financing for our boat purchesand the level of participation and other feegeaeive in
connection with such financing depend on the paldicagreement between us and the lender and thentuate
environment. Lenders may impose terms in their Boahcing arrangements with us that may be untablerto us
or our customers, resulting in reduced demand dorcastomer financing programs and lower partiégraand othe
fees. Customer financing became more difficultdouse during fiscal 2008.

The reduction of profit margins on sales of F&I gwets or the lack of demand for or the unavailgbdf these
products could have a material adverse effect eroperating margins.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, upon the eongrefforts and abilities of our executive offiseAlthough
we have an employment agreement with certain oegacutive officers, we cannot assure that thes¢har
executive personnel will remain with us. Expanding operations may require us to add additionatetiee
personnel in the future. As a result of our de@izgd operating strategy, we also rely on the gament teams of
our dealerships. In addition, we likely will depemad the senior management of any significant bssies we
acquire in the future. The loss of the servicesraf or more of these key employees before we deg@hattract and
retain qualified replacement personnel could adgraffect our business.

The products we sell or service may expose us temt@l liability for personal injury or property dmage
claims relating to the use of those products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell generallyntaan product liability insurance. We also mainttiird-
party product liability insurance that we belieeebe adequate. We may experience claims that amorered by o
that are in excess of our insurance coverage. fidteltion of any significant claims against us ldosubject us to
damages, result in higher insurance costs, and barrusiness reputation with potential customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impatr operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasopervision, and licensing under various fedetake, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Tihgréeto satisfy those and other regulatory requiats could have
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatory agesidncluding OSHA or the EPA, and similar fedenadl local
agencies, have jurisdiction over the operationuwfdealerships, repair facilities, and other openat with respect
to matters such as consumer protection, workefstyseand laws regarding protection of the envireninincluding
air, water, and soil. The EPA recently promulgagedssions regulations for outboard marine enginasimpose
stricter emissions standards for two-cycle, gasatintboard marine engines. Emissions from suchmesgnust be
reduced by approximately 75% over a nine-year pdrginning with the 1998 model year. The majooityhe
outboard marine engines we sell are manufacturdddrgury Marine. Mercury Marine’s product line of¥-
emission engines, including the OptiMax, Veradal ather four-stroke outboards, have already acli¢ive EPA’s
mandated 2006 emission levels. Any increased odgigoducing engines resulting from EPA standardhe
inability of our manufacturers to comply with EP@quirements, could have a material adverse effecuo
business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate USTstfar storage of various petroleum products. USTganerall
subject to federal, state, and local laws and etguls that require testing and upgrading of USTtr@amediation ¢
contaminated soils and groundwater resulting freaking USTs. In addition, we may be subject tol diability to
third parties for remediation costs or other damnsafjkeakage from our owned or operated USTs mégranto the
property of others.

30




Table of Contents

Our business involves the use, handling, storaggcantracting for recycling or disposal of hazarslor toxic
substances or wastes, including environmentallgitea materials, such as motor oil, waste motband filters,
transmission fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paimi lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubrigastgreasing
agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordinglyareesubject to regulation by federal, state, andllauthorities
establishing investigation and health and enviramadeguality standards, and liability related therend providing
penalties for violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, and régotagoverning investigation and remediation of
contamination at facilities we operate or to whiah send hazardous or toxic substances or wasté®&ment,
recycling, or disposal. In particular, the Comprediee Environmental Response, Compensation andlityafsct,
or CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, strict,caseveral liability on

« owners or operators of facilities at, from, or thigh a release of hazardous substances has occ
 parties who generated hazardous substances thatr@leased at such facilities; &
 parties who transported or arranged for the tramafon of hazardous substances to such facili

A majority of states have adopted Superfund statcbenparable to and, in some cases, more stritiggmt
CERCLA. If we were to be found to be a responsjiaietly under CERCLA or a similar state statute, weld be
held liable for all investigative and remedial soassociated with addressing such contaminatiosddiition, claims
alleging personal injury or property damage mapimeight against us as a result of alleged expdsunazardous
substances resulting from our operations. In amfuittertain of our retail locations are locatedvaterways that are
subject to federal or state laws regulating navigalaters (including oil pollution prevention), isnd wildlife, and
other matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has been knovexist at certain properties owned or leased by\es
have also been required and may in the future dpgined to remove aboveground and underground stdeatks
containing hazardous substances or wastes. Astaircef our properties, specific releases of detrm have been
or are in the process of being remediated in aecare with state and federal guidelines. We are tmong the soil
and groundwater as required by applicable statdedtetal guidelines. We also may have additiorabste tank
liability insurance and Superfund coverage whegdiegble. Environmental laws and regulations amaglex and
subject to frequent change. Compliance with amended, or more stringent laws or regulations, nstriet
interpretations of existing laws, or the futurecdigery of environmental conditions may require &ddal
expenditures by us, and such expenditures may beriala

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action regpect
to prior historical site activities on these prdjgesr has been completed in accordance with fedeaktate law.
Also, two of our properties are within the boundarof a Superfund site, although neither propea/ieen
identified as a contributor to the contaminatiornhia area.

Additionally, certain states have required or aresidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. These regulations could discourage potemtigérs, thereby limiting future sales and adveraéfigcting our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.

The market price of our common stock could be sutbj wide fluctuations as a result of many factors

Factors that could affect the trading price of cmmmon stock include the following:

« variations in our operating resul

« the thin trading volume and relatively small pulfl@at of our common stocl
« the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store opening

* our ability to continue to secure adequate levéffnancing;

* variations in sarr-store sales

« the success of dealership integrati
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« relationships with manufacture:

« changes in earnings estimates published by ana

« general economic, political, and market conditic

» seasonality and weather conditio

« governmental policies and regulatio

« the performance of the recreational boat industryaneral; an
- factors relating to suppliers and competiti

In addition, market demand for small-capitalizat&tacks, and price and volume fluctuations in tioels
market unrelated to our performance could resuignificant fluctuations in market price of oumemon stock.

The performance of our common stock could adverséct our ability to raise equity in the publiarkets
and adversely affect our acquisition program.

The issuance of additional common stock in the fuguincluding shares that we may issue pursuanistock-
based grants, including stock option grants, andute acquisitions, may result in dilution in the neéangible
book value per share of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal power andaityhto determine the terms of an offering of gsof our
capital stock, or securities convertible into ocleangeable for these shares, to the extent oftares of authorized
and unissued capital stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fue sale.

As of September 30, 2008, there were outstandindP88487 shares of our common stock. Substanadliyf
these shares are freely tradable without restriatiofurther registration under the securities lawdess held by an
“affiliate” of our company, as that term is definiedRule 144 under the securities laws. Shares Inekffiliates of
our company, which generally include our directofficers, and certain principal stockholders, suibject to the
resale limitations of Rule 144 described below.gfartding shares of common stock issued in connewtith the
acquisition of any acquired dealers are availatiedsale beginning six months after the respectates of the
acquisitions, subject to compliance with the primris of Rule 144 under the securities laws.

As of September 30, 2008, we had issued optiopsitchase approximately 1,740,128 shares of commoak S
and 830,000 restricted stock awards under our theestock plan, and we issued 629,991 of the TDdhares of
common stock reserved for issuance under our 18f8oyee stock purchase plan. We have filed a negish
statement under the securities laws to registecahemon stock to be issued under these plans.résudt, shares
issued under these plans will be freely tradabtbauit restriction unless acquired by affiliatesoaf company, who
will be subject to the volume and other limitatimfRule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefeped stock under the securities laws as paahpf
acquisition we may complete in the future. If isspeirsuant to an effective registration statenmthiese shares
generally will be freely tradable after their iseaa by persons not affiliated with us or the acepiicompanies.

We do not pay cash dividends.
We have never paid cash dividends on our commak skdoreover, financial covenants under certaiowf
credit facilities restrict our ability to pay divedds.

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affantisting stockholders.

Our Stockholders’ Rights Plan may have the effédeterring, delaying, or preventing a change intad that
might otherwise be in the best interests of oucldtolders. Under the Rights Plan, we issued a diddof one
Preferred Share Purchase Right for each sharerafomomon stock held by stockholders of record abefclose of
business on September 7, 2001.
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In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktender offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf
common stock is announced or commenced. After aoly svent, our other stockholders may purchasdiaddi
shares of our common stock at 50% of the then-ntimarket price. The rights will cause substardihition to a
person or group that attempts to acquire us onsteiwh approved by our board of directors. The sghay be
redeemed by us at $0.01 per stock purchase rigimyetime before any person or group acquires 1686ave of ou
outstanding common stock. The rights should n&rfate with any merger or other business combinajgproved
by our board of directors. The rights expire on Asi28, 2011.

Certain provisions of our restated certificate afdorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may make a
change in the control of our company more difficuid complete, even if a change in control were et
stockholders’ interest or might result in a premiuover the market price for the shares held by the
stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws divitie board of directors into three classes of dimsctlected
for staggered three-year terms. The certificat@adrporation also provides that the board of doecmay
authorize the issuance of one or more series ééipesel stock from time to time and may determireerights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions andHeriumber of shares of any such series of prefetosd, without
any vote or action by our stockholders. The bodirectors may authorize the issuance of prefestedk with
voting or conversion rights that could adversefgetfthe voting power or other rights of the hoklef common
stock. The certificate of incorporation also alloges board of directors to fix the number of digestand to fill
vacancies on the board of directors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover provisafrSection 203 of the Delaware General Corporatiaw,
which prohibits us from engaging in a “business boration” with an “interested stockholder” for arjpel of three
years after the date of the transaction in whiehgérson became “interested stockholder,” unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Certain of our dealer agreements could also mattiiitult for a third party to attempt to acquiaesignificant
ownership position in our company. In addition, sheckholders’ agreement and governance agreenikiawe
the effect of increasing the control of our diresfe@xecutive officers, and persons associated twéim.

Our sales of Azimut products may be adversely aifddy fluctuations in currency exchange rates betn the
U.S. dollar and the euro.

Products purchased from the Italy-based Azimusalgect to fluctuations in the euro to U.S. do#lachange
rate, which ultimately may impact the retail pratewhich we can sell such products. As a resulttfiations in the
value of the euro as compared with the U.S. daflay impact the price points at which we can sedfifably
Azimut products, and such price points may notdrapmetitive with other product lines in the Unitet®s.
Accordingly, such fluctuations in exchange ratésndtely may impact the amount of revenue, cogfaufds sold,
cash flows, and earnings we recognize for the Atipnoduct lines. The impact of these currency flations could
increase, particularly as our revenue from the Attiproducts increase as a percentage of our ®tahue. We also
could incur losses from hedging transactions desigo reduce our risk to fluctuation in exchangesawe cannot
predict the effects of exchange rate fluctuationsusrency rate hedges on our operating resultsrefare, in certai
cases, we, from time to time, enter into foreigrrency cash flow hedges to reduce the variabilityash flows
associated with firm commitments to purchase baatsyachts from Azimut. We cannot assure that vategies
will adequately protect our operating results fribva effects of exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwater, BirWe also lease 46 of our retail locations utekeses,
many of which contain multi-year renewal optionsl @ome of which grant us a first right of refusaptirchase the
property at fair value. In most cases, we pay edirent at negotiated rates. In substantially fathe leased
locations, we are responsible for taxes, utilitiesurance, and routine repairs and maintenanceowviethe propert
associated with 30 other retail locations and dpevae additional location as noted below.

The following table reflects the status, approxiensize, and facilities of our various retail looas as of the

date of this report.

Location

Alabama
Gulf Shores

Gulf Shores
Arizona
Tempe
California

Oakland

Sacramentt

Sacramento Sport Yacht
Center

San Diegc

San Diego (Shelter Islan
Colorado

Denver
Grand Junctioi
Connecticut

Norwalk
Delaware

Bear
Florida
Cape Hazt

Clearwatel
Cocoa

Coconut Grove
Dania

Destin

Square Operated
Location Type  Footage(1l Facilities at Property Since(2)
Company owne 4,000 Retail and servic 199¢
Retail only; 7 wet
Third-party leas 1,11z slips 200¢
Company owne 34,000 Retail and servic 1997
Retail and service; 2
Third-party leas  17,70( wet slips 198t
Company owne 24,80( Retail and servic 199t
Retail only; 11 wet
Third-party leas 50C slips 2001
Third-party leas:  14,50( Retail and servic 200¢
Retail and service; 2
Third-party leas 93C wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas 16,400 storage 200z
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas  9,30( storage 198¢
Third-party leas: 7,00 Retail and servic 199/
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leas: 5,000 wet slips 199t
Retail, service, and
Company owne 18,00( storage; 8 wet slip 1972
Retail and service; 2
Company owne 42,000 wet slips 197:
Company owne 15,000 Retail and servic 196¢
Retail only; 24 wet
Third-party leas 2,000 slips 200z
Repair and service;
Company owne 32,000 16 wet slips 1991
Retail only; 24 wet
Third-party leas 2,200 slips 200t
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Waterfront

Intracoastal Waterwa

Alameda Estuary
(San Francisco Bay

Sacramento Rive

Mission Bay

Norwalk Harbor
Between Delaware
Bay and Chesapeake
Bay

Intracoastal Waterwa

Tampa Bay

Biscayne Bay
Port Everglade

Destin Harbol
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Location

Ft Lauderdale (Pier 6t
Fort Myers

Ft Walton Beacl
Jacksonville
Jacksonville

Key Largo

Miami

Miami

Naples

North Palm Beac!
Pensacol;

Pompano Beac
Pompano Beac
Sarasot:

St. Petersburg(:
Stuart

Venice

Georgia

Buford (Atlanta)

Cumming (Atlanta

Forest Park (Atlante
Maryland

Baltimore

Joppa
White Marsh

Square Operated
Location Type  Footage(l Facilities at Property Since(2)
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leas: 2,40 wet slips 1971
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leas: 8,000 wet slips 198:
Third-party leas  4,80( Retail only 200z
Company owne 15,000 Retail and servic 200¢
Retail only; 7 wet
Third-party leas 1,00C slips 199t
Retail and service; 6
Third-party leas:  8,90( west slips 200z
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 7,20C wet slips 198(
Service only; 11 wet
Company owne 5,00C slips 200t
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 19,60( wet slips 1997
Retail and service; 8
Company owne 22,80( wet slips 199¢
Third-party leas:  24,30( Retail and servic 197¢
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 23,000 wet slips 199(
Retail and service; 2
Company owne 5,400 wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas  26,50( storage; 15 wet slig 1972
Yacht service, 20 wet
Joint venture 15,00C slips 200¢
Retail and service; €
Company owne 29,10( wet slips 200z
Retail, service, and
Company owne 62,000 storage; 90 wet slig 1972
Company owne 13,50( Retail and servic 2001
Retail and service; 5
Third-party leas:  13,00( wet slips 1981
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas  47,30( storage 197:
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leass 9,600 wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Company owne 28,40( storage; 294 wet sli 196¢
Company owne 19,80( Retail and servic 195¢
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Waterfront

Intracoastal Waterwa

Caloosahatchee Riv

St Johns Rive
Card Sounc
Little River
Little River
Naples Bay

Intracoastal Waterwa

Intracoastal Waterwa
Intracoastal Waterwa
Sarasota Ba

Boca Ciega Ba
Intracoastal Waterwa
Intracoastal Waterwa

Lake Lanier

Baltimore Inner
Harbor

Gunpowder Rive
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Location

Minnesota
Bayport
Minnetonka
Rogers
Walker

Walker
Missouri

Kimberling City

Lake Ozark
Laurie
Osage Beac
Springfield
Nevada

Las Vegas
New Jersey

Brant Beact
Brick
Jersey City

Lake Hopatconi
Ship Bottom

Somers Poin
New York
Copiague

Huntington

Lindenhurst (Delivery
Center)

Lindenhurst (Highway
Store)

Lindenhurst (Marina

Manhattar
New Rochelle

Square Operated
Location Type  Footage(l Facilities at Property Since(2)
Retail only; 10 wet
Third-party leas 45C slips 199¢
Retail and service; 5
Third-party leas  3,50( wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Company owne 70,000 storage 1991
Retail, service, and
Company owne 76,400 storage 198¢
Retail and service; ¢
Company owne 6,80C wet slips 1971
Retail only; 7 wet
Third-party leas 50C slips 200(
Retail and service;
Company owne 60,30( 300 wet slips 1987
Company owne 70C Retail and servic 200¢
Company owne 2,00C Retail and servic 199¢
Company owne 12,20( Retail and servic 1997
Company owne 21,60( Retail and servic 199(
Retail and service; 3
Third-party leas:  3,80( wet slips 196¢
Retail and service;
Company owne 20,000 225 wet slips 1971
Retail only; 6 wet
Third-party leas 50C slips 200(
Retail and service; 8
Third-party leas: 4,600 wet slips 199¢
Third-party leas: 19,30( Retail and servic 1972
Retail and service; 3
Affiliate lease 31,000 wet slips 1987
Third-party leas  15,00( Retail only 199:
Third-party leas 1,20C Retail and servic 199t
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas: 54,000 dry storage 196¢
Third-party leas:  10,00( Retail and servic 200¢
Marina and service;
Third-party leas  14,60( 370 wet slips 196¢
Retail only; 75 wet
Third-party leas 1,20C slips 199¢
Third-party leass  4,65( Retail and servic 200¢
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Waterfront

St Croix River

Lake Minnetonke

Leech Lake

Table Rock Lake

Lake of the Ozark

Barnegat Ba
Manasquan Rive
Hudson Rivel

Lake Hopatcon

Little Egg Harbor Bay

Huntington Harbor ar
Long Island Soun
Neguntatogue Creek
Great South Ba

Neguntatogue Creek
Great South Ba

Hudson Rivel
Long Island Soun
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Location

North Carolina
Southpori

Wrightsville Beact
Ohio

Mentor

Oklahoma

Afton
Rhode Island

Wakefield
South Carolina
Myrtle Beach
Tennesset

Chattanoogi

Texas

League City (floating
facility)(4)

Lewisville (Dallas)

Lewisville (Dallas)
(floating facility)

Seabroo}
Utah
Salt Lake City

Square Operated
Location Type  Footage(l Facilities at Property Since(2)
Retail only; 4 wet
Third-party leas 127 slips 200¢
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas 34,500 storage 199¢
Third-party leas: 5,00 Retail and servic 2007
Retail and service; 2
Third-party leas:  3,50( wet slips 200z¢
Retail only; 3 wet
Third-party leas 1,80C slips 200¢
Third-party leas  3,50C Retail only 199¢
Retail only; 12 wet
Third-party leas 3,00 slips 200t
Retail and service; 2
Third-party leas 80C wet slips 198¢
Company owne 22,000 Retail and servic 200z
Retail only; 20 wet
Third-party leas 1,00C slips(5) 199/
Retail and service; 3
Company owne 32,000 wet slips 200z
Third-party leas:  21,20( Retail and servic 197¢

Waterfront

Intracoastal Waterwa

Intracoastal Waterwa

Grand Lake

Narragansett Ba

Coquina Harbo

Tennessee Rive

Clear Lake

Lake Lewisville

Clear Lake

(1) Square footage is approximate and does not in@utkide sales space or dock or marina facili
(2) Operated since date is the date the facility waneg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy

(3) Joint venture entered into with Brunswick to acguirarina and service facilit

(4) We own the floating facility, however, the reladack and marina space is leased by us from aniliaizff

third party.

(5) Shares service facility located at the other Leillesvetail location.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are party to various legal actions arising mmahdinary course of business. While it is not ifelaso
determine the actual outcome of these actions &gptember 30, 2008, we do not believe that thegters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidi@teticial condition, results of operations, or céskws.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a VVote of Security Hold¢

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrar's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, aisduer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock has been traded on the New YarékIExchange under the symbol HZO since our initial
public offering on June 3, 1998 at $12.50 per shHne following table sets forth high and low spit&es of the
common stock for each calendar quarter indicatae@@rted on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2006

First quartel $34.2¢  $27.7:

Second quarte $36.72  $25.3¢

Third quartel $26.65  $19.2¢

Fourth quarte $29.4¢  $24.3¢
2007

First quarte $26.1C  $20.01

Second quarte $24.08  $18.8(

Third quartel $21.9¢  $14.3(

Fourth quarte $16.6¢  $13.5(
2008

First quartel $16.1¢  $10.3¢

Second quarte $13.82 $ 6.9¢

Third quartel $ 966 $ 4.9

Fourth quarter (through November 30, 20 $ 7.4 $ 1.2t

On November 28, 2008, the closing sale price ofoamnmon stock was $2.78 per share. On November 28,
2008, there were approximately 100 record holdedsapproximately 5,000 beneficial owners of our owon stock

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently plan to retain anyngays
to finance the growth of our business rather tlgpaty cash dividends. Payments of any cash divelenthe future
will depend on our financial condition, resultsogferations, and capital requirements as well aard#tttors deeme
relevant by our board of directors. Moreover, ficiahcovenants under certain of our credit fa@$talso restrict ol
ability to pay dividends.

Repurchases of Common Stock

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company to
repurchase up to 1,000,000 shares of our commak.dttmder the plan, we may buy back common stooftime
to time in the open market or in privately negatihblocks, dependant upon various factors, inctughice and
availability of the shares, and general market @@rés. During the fiscal year ending SeptemberZim8, we
purchased an aggregate of 71,300 shares of comimcinder the plan for an aggregate purchase pfice
approximately $1.0 million, as follows:

Total Maximum
Total Number of Shares Number of Share:
Number of Average Purchased as that May Yet Be
Shares Price Paic Part of Publicly Purchased Undet
Period Purchasec per Share  Announced Programr the Program
Total 71,30 $ 14.5] 71,30( 239,10(
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Performance Graph

The following line graph compares cumulative tataickholder returns for the five years ended Sepézi®0,
2008 for (i) our common stock, (ii) the Russell QdAdex, and (iii) the Nasdaq Retail Trade Indelxe Graph
assumes an investment of $100 on September 30, 286 alculations of cumulative stockholder retomthe
Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq Retail Tradexlimi#ude reinvestment of dividends. The calculatid
cumulative stockholder return on our common stamésthot include reinvestment of dividends becatesdid not

pay any dividends during the measurement period.hi$torical performance shown is not necessardjcative of
future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among MarineMax, Inc., The Russell 2000 Index,
And The NASDAQ Retail Trade Index

—E— MarireMax, Ino. = o — Russell 2000 == F = = NASDAQ Fetail Trads

The performance graph above shall not be deemiedi™fior purposes of Section 18 of the Securitiasliange
Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, or otlsenaubject to the liability of that section. Trerformance

graph above will not be deemed incorporated byreefee into any filing of our company under the Exude Act or
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table contains certain financial amkrating data and is qualified by the more dedaile
consolidated financial statements and notes thémetaded elsewhere in this report. The balancetshed stateme
of operations data were derived from the consadéinancial statements and notes thereto that beee audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registeredifded public accounting firm. The financial datacsvn below
should be read in conjunction with the consoliddieadncial statements and the related notes tharedo
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” included elserg in
this report.

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(
2004(1) 2005(1) 2006 2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands except share, per share, anmdtail location data)

Statement of Operations Data

Revenue $ 762,00 $ 947,34 $1,21354. $ 1,255,98 $ 885,40°
Cost of sale: 573,61t 712,84, 906,78: 956,25 679,16
Gross profit 188,39: 234,50: 306,76( 299,73: 206,24
Selling, general, and administrative

expense: 139,47( 169,97! 222,80t 245,22: 217,42¢
Goodwill and intangible asset

impairment charg — — — — 122,09:
Income (loss) from operatiol 48,92 64,52¢ 83,95 54,51( (133,27
Interest expense, n 6,49¢ 9,291 18,61¢ 26,95¢ 20,16«
Income (loss) before income tax

provision (benefit 42,42 55,23¢ 65,33¢ 27,55¢ (153,439
Income tax provision (benefi 16,12¢ 21,41: 25,95¢ 7,48¢ (19,167)
Net income (loss $ 26,29¢ $§ 3382« $ 39,38 $ 20,066 $ (134,27)
Net income (loss) per shal

Diluted $ 1.5¢ $ 1.8 $ 2.0t $ 1.0¢ $ (7.30)
Weighted average number of shal

Diluted 16,666,10 18,032,53 18,928,73  19,289,23 18,391,48
Other Data: (as of yea-end)
Number of retail locations(Z 67 71 87 88 80
Sales per store(3)(! $ 12,83. $ 16,38¢ $ 17,060 $ 1524¢ $ 12,49:
Same-store sales growth(4)(! 21% 23% 7% (D)% (28)%

September 30
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 88,01: $163,43: $153,46' $170,38¢ $134,45¢
Total asset 474,35¢ 539,49( 801,56: 825,87¢ 661,32
Long-term debt (including current portion)( 26,237 30,08t 37,18t 30,83: —
Total stockholder equity 196,82: 283,59¢ 349,88 373,55¢ 248,58:

(1) Amounts exclude the effects of stock-based compimsaxpense recognized under the provisions deStent
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “ShResed Payment,” as the standard was adopted Odtpber
2005.

(2) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.
(3) Includes only those stores open for the entireqatig12-monthperiod.

(4) New and acquired stores are included in the corbpmtzmse at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of
operations

(5) A store is one or more retail locations that arj@@eht or operate as one entity. Sales per statsame-store
sales growth is intended only as supplemental im&bion and is not a substitute for revenue ormaire
presented in accordance with generally acceptenuationg principles

(6) Amount excludes our shi-term borrowings for working capital and inventonyancing.
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

The following should be read in conjunction withrAaincluding the matters set forth in the “Riskctors”
section of this report, and our Consolidated Firr&tatements and notes thereto included elsewhehés report.

Overview

We are the largest recreational boat retailerénUhited States with fiscal 2008 revenue in exoéss
$880 million. Through our current 77 retail locaiioin 22 states, we sell new and used recreatimads and relate
marine products, including engines, trailers, pantsl accessories. We also arrange related baaiciimg, insuranc
and extended warranty contracts; provide boat reggral maintenance services; and offer yacht antdlivoerage
services, and where available, offer slip and g@®@@ccommodations.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998. We cemgad operations with the acquisition of five
independent recreational boat dealers on MarcB98.1Since the initial acquisitions in March 198 have
significantly expanded our operations through tbgugsition of 20 recreational boat dealers, twottwakerage
operations, and two full-service yacht repair fitie. As a part of our acquisition strategy, weginently engage in
discussions with various recreational boat deakgarding their potential acquisition by us. Pdedretcquisition
discussions frequently take place over a long pesfdime and involve difficult business integratiand other
issues, including, in some cases, management sigoesd related matters. As a result of theseostmet factors, a
number of potential acquisitions that from timeitoe appear likely to occur do not result in birgliegal
agreements and are not consummated. No significantisitions were completed during the fiscal yesiged
September 30, 2008 and 2007.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regardingréuéconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawe serve and adversely affect our businegsdfaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipggicularly Florida in which we generated 46%% and 43%
of our revenue during fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2088pectively, can have a major impact on our ojmrait Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and mjlibase closings, also could adversely affect gerations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarydppgy levels generally decline, at times resulting
disproportionately large reductions in the saltugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéfprevailing economic conditions are favoral#lghough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatagor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afustry growth could adversely affect our businéagncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowsianer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007,@mdinued weakness in consumer spending resuting
substantial weakness in the financial markets anerabrating economic conditions had a very suliisthmegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008. These canttcaused us to defer our acquisition prograow siur new
store openings, reduce our inventory purchasesgan inventory reduction efforts, close someuwfretail
locations, and reduce our headcount. We cannotgbithe length or severity of these unfavorablenecoic or
financial conditions or the extent to which theyladversely affect our operating results nor canpsedict the
effectiveness of the measures we have taken t@esslthis environment or whether additional measwiiébe
necessary.

Although economic conditions have adversely afigaer operating results, we have capitalized oncoue
strengths to substantially outperform the induatrg deliver market share gains. Our ability towd®lian increase in
market share supports the alignment of our retpsinategies with the desires of consumers. Wewelhe steps v
have taken to preserve and grow market share gl yan increase in future revenue. As general @contrends
improve, we expect our core strengths and retastrategies will position us to capitalize on growt
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opportunities as they occur and will allow us toeege from this challenging environment with grea&amings
potential.

During March 2006, we acquired substantially altref assets and assumed certain liabilities ofs&lef3
Marina, Inc. (Surfside), a privately held boat @eghip with eight locations in New York and Conmagt, for
approximately $24.8 million in cash and 665,024reb@f common stock, plus $24.0 million in workicepital
adjustments, including acquisition costs. The sharere valued at $33.71 per share, which was teege closing
market price of our common stock for the five-dayipd beginning two days prior to and ending twgsda
subsequent to the acquisition date. The acquisitiquands our ability to serve consumers in the id@s$t boating
community and allows us to capitalize on Surfsidearket position and leverage our inventory managerand
inventory financing resources over the acquiredtions. Based on a valuation, the purchase pricijding
acquisition costs, resulted in the recognitionmgraximately $40.0 million of tax deductible goodiveind
approximately $16.4 million of tax deductible inthéte-lived intangible assets (dealer agreemesjfside has
been included in our consolidated financial statesisince the date of acquisition.

During January 2006, we acquired substantiallpitihe assets, including certain real estate, asdraed
certain liabilities of the Port Arrowhead Group (PArrowhead), a privately held boat dealershiphvsix retail
locations, including a large marina, in Missourdd@klahoma, for approximately $27.5 million in caplus
$5.0 million in working capital adjustments, incing acquisition costs. The acquisition expandsadility to serve
consumers in the Midwest boating community, inalgdneighboring boating destinations in lllinois,rsas, and
Arkansas. The acquisition also allows us to cap#abn Port Arrowhead’s market position and leveragr
inventory management and inventory financing resesiover the acquired locations. Based on a vahatie
purchase price, including acquisition costs, reslib the recognition of approximately $6.0 milliohtax
deductible goodwill and approximately $2.0 milliohtax deductible indefinite-lived intangible assédealer
agreements). Port Arrowhead has been includedricansolidated financial statements since the daéequisition

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as criti@abtir business operations and the understandingraiesults
of operations. The impact and risks related toafpesicies on our business operations is discugsedghout
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations when such pedieiffect
our reported and expected financial results.

In the ordinary course of business, we make a nuwmbestimates and assumptions relating to thertigygoof
results of operations and financial condition ia greparation of our financial statements in canityr with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates. We base our estimates on historic&riexge and on
various other assumptions that we believe are nedde under the circumstances. The results fornbaises for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrather sources.
Actual results could differ significantly from thegstimates under different assumptions and condit\WWe believe
that the following discussion addresses our mastakaccounting policies, which are those that awost important
to the portrayal of our financial condition anduks of operations and require our most difficalibjective, and
complex judgments, often as a result of the needake estimates about the effect of matters tleairndwerently
uncertain.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and tradées, and parts and service operations at thettienboat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or accepbgdhe customer or service is completed. We reizegrommissions
earned from a brokerage sale at the time the telatekerage transaction closes. We recognize reviom slip
and storage services on a straight-line basis ttreeterm of the slip or storage agreement. We ieizeg
commissions earned by us for placing notes withrfaial institutions in connection with customer tiirgancing
when we recognize the related boat sales. We atsmmnize marketing fees earned on credit life,dertdi and
disability, and hull insurance products sold bydkparty insurance companies at the later of custanceptance of
the insurance product as evidenced by contractugéixecor when the related boat sale is recognivéel also
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recognize commissions earned on extended warrantice contracts sold on behalf of third-party irsice
companies at the later of customer acceptanceefdtvice contract terms, as evidenced by congsastution or
recognition of the related boat sale.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissiodsngarketing fees on insurance products may begedar
back if a customer terminates or defaults on théedging contract within a specified period of tinBased upon o
experience of repayments and defaults, we maimataimargeback allowance that was not material tdinancial
statements taken as a whole as of September 30,2@®D08. Should results differ materially fronr distorical
experiences, we would need to modify our estiméfatare chargebacks, which could have a matedakese
effect on our operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our weadn accordance with Emerging Issues Task Faeel
No. 0z-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Resglfer Certain Consideration Received from a Vefidor
(EITF 02-16). EITF 02-16 most significantly requgres to classify interest assistance received franufacturers
as a reduction of inventory cost and related cbsales as opposed to netting the assistance againmterest
expense incurred with our lenders. Pursuant to BIZHA6, amounts received by us under our co-ostassie
programs from our manufacturers are netted agesfeted advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aeghie inventory, net of vendor consideration anctpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, recondlitipcosts, and transportation costs relating taigicgy inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimuries at the lower of cost, determined on aiipeidentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, aildrtinventories, including trade-in’s, at the kemof cost,
determined on a specific-identification basis, @rket. We state parts and accessories at the oiwaist,
determined on the first-in, firgtut basis, or market. We utilize our historical esipnce, the aging of the inventori
and our consideration of current market trendfadasis for determining lower of cost or markdtiaion
allowance. As of September 30, 2007 and 2008,awei of cost or market valuation allowance wasmaterial to
the consolidated financial statements taken as@ewlf events occur and market conditions changasing the fa
value of our inventories to fall below their cangivalue, the lower of cost or market valuatiomatnce could
increase.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilsigsets in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@ahgible Assets” (SFAS 142). Under this standaedassess
the impairment of goodwill and identifiable intabl assets at least annually and whenever evegtsanges in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value n@tybe recoverable. The first step in the assessisiéme
estimation of fair value. If step one indicates fihgpairment potentially exists, we perform thewst step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodawilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, weriexed a significant decline in stock market &titin
driven primarily by weakness in the marine retadlustry and an overall soft economy, which hindenedfinancial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step avayais (as noted above) and estimated the faireval the
reporting unit as prescribed by SFAS 142, whichdatkd potential impairment. As a result, we congalea fair
value analysis of indefinite lived intangible assatd a step two goodwill impairment analysis,eagiired by
SFAS 142. We determined that indefinite lived igile assets and goodwill were impaired and reabedeon-
cash charge of $121.1 million based on our assegsie will not be required to make any currenfutare cash
expenditures as a result of this impairment charge.
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Impairment of Lonc-Lived Assett

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 1Adcounting for Impairment or Disposal of Longveid
Assets” (SFAS 144), requires that long-lived assatsh as property and equipment and purchaseupibias
subject to amortization, be reviewed for impairmehenever events or changes in circumstances iedicat the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover&aeoverability of the asset is measured by coraparof its
carrying amount to undiscounted future net cashdlthe asset is expected to generate. If suchsamsetonsidered
to be impaired, the impairment to be recognizedéasured as the amount by which the carrying amafithe asse
exceeds its fair market value. Estimates of exgefittire cash flows represent our best estimatechas currently
available information and reasonable and suppa@tagsumptions. Any impairment recognized in acaweavith
SFAS 144 is permanent and may not be restoredf Ssmtember 30, 2008, we had not recognized anginmgnt
of long-lived assets in connection with SFAS 144dahon our reviews.

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, weriexed a significant decline in stock market &titin
driven primarily by weakness in the marine retadlustry and an overall soft economy, which hasdvied our
financial performance. As a result of this weaknessrealized a goodwill and intangible asset impant charge,
as noted above. Based on these events, we revibeemluation of our investment in Gulfport in amtance with
APB 18 and recoverability of the assets containghimvthe joint venture. APB 18 requires that aslasvalue of an
investment which is other than a temporary dedimauld be recognized. We reviewed our investmeditaasets
contained within the Gulfport joint venture, whictnsists of land, buildings, equipment, and goddw# a result,
we determined that our investment in the joint vemtvas impaired and recorded a non-cash char§gé.0fmillion
based on our assessment. We will not be requirethte any current or future cash expendituresrasut of this
impairment charge.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisiohStatement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R) for our sharedaempensation plans. We adopted SFAS 123R
using the modified prospective transition methoddér this transition method, compensation costgeized
includes (a) the compensation cost for all shasetd@awards granted prior to, but not yet vestesf &tober 1,
2005, based on the gratiéte fair value estimated in accordance with thgirtal provisions of SFAS 123 and (b)
compensation cost for all share-based awards grantesequent to September 30, 2005, based onahedate fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisidrBFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have nohbestated.
Additionally, we accounted for restricted stock agigagranted using the measurement and recognit@mngpons of
SFAS 123R. Accordingly, the fair value of the riestrd stock awards is measured on the grant dateemognized
in earnings over the requisite service period fmheseparately vesting portion of the award.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance witheBtant of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109) and Finahéccounting Standard Board Interpretation No, 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FI¥ Under SFAS 109, we recognize deferred tax ssset
liabilities for the future tax consequences attidnle to temporary differences between the findrstéiement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitied their respective tax basis. We measure deftareassets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates expected tdyatgptaxable income in the years in which we expkose
temporary differences to be recovered or settleel.r¥¢ord valuation allowances to reduce our dedetar assets to
the amount expected to be realized by considetirayailable positive and negative evidence.

Substantially all of our goodwill and intangibleg aleductible for tax purposes. Our loss for thar yanded
September 30, 2008, including the write-off of gaildand intangible assets, combined with otherirign
differences, gave rise to a net operating loss¢htagsulted in a net deferred tax asset of apprabaiy
$41.3 million. Pursuant to Statement of Financietdunting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes” (SFAS 109), we must consider all positivd aagative evidence regarding the realization éérded tax
assets, including past operating results and figoueces of taxable income. Under the provisiorSFAS 109, we
determined that our net deferred tax asset needee teserved given recent earnings and indugngs:.
Accordingly, recording of the valuation allowanesulted in a non-cash charge of approximately $88llfon.
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In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@@ssued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accongtfor
Uncertainty in Income Taxes. The Interpretationifitss the accounting for uncertainty in incomedaxecognized
in an enterprise’s financial statements and prissra recognition threshold and measurement agstnf income
tax positions taken or expected to be taken o getarn. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertaiposition
taken or expected to be taken on an income taxretust be recognized in the financial statemeintisealargest
amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustainpdn audit by the relevant taxing authority. Arcerain income
tax position will not be recognized in the finar@tatements unless it is more likely than noteihly sustained. We
adopted the provisions of FIN 48 as of OctoberQD72 and as a result, we recognized a charge obxipmately
$554,000 to the October 1, 2007 retained earniatgnbe. As of September 30, 2008, we had approglynat
$2.1 million of gross unrecognized tax benefitswbich approximately $1.4 million, if recognizedould impact
the effective tax rate.

For a more comprehensive list of our accountingcpesd, including those which involve varying degged
judgment, see Note— “Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Cawlidated Financial Statements.
Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain financiatalas a percentage of revenue for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2006 2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue $1,213,54. 100.% $1,255,98' 100.(% $ 885,400 100.(%
Cost of sale: 906,78,  74.™% 956,25 76.% 679,16 76.7%
Gross profit 306,76(  25.2% 299,73:  23.% 206,24 23.2%
Selling, general, and administrative

expense: 222,80t 18.4% 245,22: 19.6% 217,42t 24.%
Goodwill and intangible asset impairmen

charge — 0.C% — 0.C% 122,09: 13.£%
Income (loss) from operatiol 83,95 6.S% 54,51( 4.3% (133,279 (15.1)%
Interest expense, n 18,61¢ 1.5% 26,95t 2.1% 20,16¢ 2.2%
Income (loss) before income tax provision

(benefit) 65,33¢ 5.4% 27,55¢ 2.2% (153,43) (17.H%
Income tax provision (benefi 25,95¢ 2.2% 7,48¢ 0.€% (19,16) (2.29%
Net income (loss $ 39,38 3.2% $ 20,06¢ 1.6% $(134,27) (15.2%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2008 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2007

Revenue. Revenue decreased $370.6 million, or 29.5%, & $Bmillion for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $1.26 billion for the flsegar ended September 30, 2007. Of this decr&23e4 million
was attributable to stores opened, closed, or eedjtinat were not eligible for inclusion in the quemablestore bas
and $343.2 million was attributable to a 28% dexlimcomparable-store sales in fiscal 2008. Théirkemn our
same-store sales resulted primarily from softenendc conditions, because of the turmoil in thaficial markets,
which impacted our results as well as those of rotier retailers. In response to these declinesire@djusting ot
structure, including store closures, in a mannavhiich we believe will reduce operating costs battnesult in
market share losses.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased $93.5 million, or 31.284206.2 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $299.7 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2007. Gross profip@saentage
of revenue decreased to 23.3% for fiscal 2008 288% for fiscal 2007. The decrease in gross pvedi a result
of the significant reduction in revenue resultingn the soft economic environment. The decreagedss profit as
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a percentage of revenue was due to margin preassieg from the difficult retail environment angales mix shift
to larger products, which historically carry lowgoss margins.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenseelling, general, and administrative expensescdsed
$27.8 million, or 11.3%, to $217.4 million for tfiscal year ended September 30, 2008 from $245l®mfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. Selling,rgérend administrative expenses as a percentagyefiue
increased to 24.6% for the year ended Septemb&0B® from 19.6% for the year ended September @07 .2The
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 included appegely $3.0 million in charges associated witbratclosures,
partially offset by $1.0 million in gains recordad an expense offset related to proceeds from éassinterruption
insurance claims associated with ice storms daragagertain Missouri locations in 2007 and the fabde
settlement of certain interest rate swaps accoubteas cash flow hedges. Additionally, the fisgaar ended
September 30, 2007 included $3.7 million in gagmorded as an expense offset related to busingessuiption
insurance proceeds that was received for claimscaged with Hurricane Wilma in 2006, the sale of oorporate
jet, and insurance proceeds we received assoaidtiedhe ice storm damage at certain Missouri limeet
Excluding these items would result in a comparabléng, general, and administrative expense réolucif
$33.3 million, or 13.4% and selling, general, addchmistrative expenses as a percent of revenueased to 24.4%
for the year ended September 30, 2008 from 19.8%héoyear ended September 30, 2007. This inciaasaling,
general, and administrative expenses as a pereeafagvenue was primarily attributable to the régm same-store
sales decline, which resulted in a reduction inahility to leverage our expense structure.

Goodwill and Intangible Asset ImpairmenDuring the fiscal year ended September 30, 20@8yere require
to write-off our goodwill and indefinite lived imtgible assets as a result of the decline in ouketafaluation and
the continuation of the difficult retail environnteas prescribed by SFAS 142.

Interest Expense.Interest expense decreased $6.8 million, or 25t2%20.2 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $27.0 million for the flsesar ended September 30, 2007. Interest expenae a
percentage of revenue increased to 2.3% for f&@@8 from 2.1% for fiscal 2007. The decrease iargdt expense
was primarily a result of a more favorable interag¢ environment in fiscal 2008, which accountadsf decrease «
approximately $6.6 million in interest expense.

Income Tax Provision.Income taxes decreased $26.6 million to a beo&#t9.2 million for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008 from an income tax expEgse5 million for the fiscal year ended Septen®@ 2007,
primarily as a result of our pretax loss. The dffectax rate for the fiscal year ended SeptemBe2808 differed
from previous periods primarily as a result of teeording of a non-cash valuation allowance thiged$ the
majority of income tax benefit that would have anigrom the goodwill and intangible asset impairtrdrarge.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2007 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2006

Revenue. Revenue increased $42.4 million, or 3.5%, to $lllidn for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2007 from $1.21 billion for the fiscal year endezpbf&mber 30, 2006. Of this increase, $50.8 milli@s attributabl
to stores opened, closed, or acquired that wereligible for inclusion in the comparable-store dygzartially offset
by a decline of $8.4 million attributable to a I¢isan 1% decline in comparable-store sales inlfi2@@7. The 1%
decline in same-store sales was net of an incieaseenue from our parts, service, finance, asdrance products
of approximately $6.2 million. The decline in omnse-store sales resulted primarily from soft ecanamonditions
that have adversely impacted our retail sales.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased $7.1 million, or 2.3%$289.7 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007 from $306.8 million for thedispear ended September 30, 2006. Gross profijpescentage
of revenue decreased to 23.9% for fiscal 2007 26m3% for fiscal 2006. This decrease was primaxitgibutable t
a margin reduction on boat sales as we institutiea peduction initiatives in the softer marketqaan order to
achieve our sales volume.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense&elling, general, and administrative expensesased
$22.4 million, or 10.0%, to $245.2 million for tffiscal year ended September 30, 2007 from $222l&mfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2006. Selling,@érend administrative expenses as a percentagverfue
increased approximately 115 basis points to 19.@%hke year ended September 30, 2007 from 18.4%éoyear
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ended September 30, 2006. For fiscal 2007, we deco$2.1 million of business interruption insurapoeceeds th
was received for claims associated with Hurricarien&'in 2006; we recorded a $1.0 million gain frtme sale of
our jet; and we recorded a $600,000 gain relatedstarance proceeds we received associated witbrnihw and ice
storm damage at certain Missouri locations. Wendeb these items as a reduction to selling, genanal
administrative expenses. Excluding these iteméingebgeneral, and administrative expenses as@penf revenue
was 19.8% for the year ended September 30, 2003 approximate 145 basis point increase in selljegeral, and
administrative expenses as a percentage of reweasi@rimarily attributable to the reported sastare sales declit
and increased personnel and marketing related icastged to drive retail sales in a softer reggiVironment. In
response to the softer retail environment, we anking to reduce our cost structure with reductiongersonnel,
store closures, and other expenditures.

Interest Expense.Interest expense increased $8.4 million, or 44180$27.0 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007 from $18.6 million for the flsesar ended September 30, 2006. Interest expenae a
percentage of revenue increased to 2.1% for f&@@Y from 1.5% for fiscal 2006. The increase wasarily a
result of increased borrowings associated withreuolving credit facility and mortgages, which agoted for an
increase in interest expense of approximately §6l&n and a less favorable interest rate envirentnwhich
accounted for an increase of approximately $1.6ianiin interest expense.

Income Tax Provision.Income taxes decreased $18.5 million, or 71.208,/t5 million for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2007 from $26.0 million forfibeal year ended September 30, 2006, primarilg sesult of
our decreased earnings. Our effective tax rateedsed to 27.2% for the fiscal year ended SepteBhet007 from
39.7% for the fiscal year ended September 30, 200®arily as a result of the settlement of certax positions
under an initiative offered by one of the statew/frich we conduct operations. As a result of teislesment, we
reduced the reserve for contingent income taxesplpyoximately $5.2 million and reduced income tepense by
approximately $3.8 million for the fiscal year eddgeptember 30, 2007. Without this reduction, ffectve tax
rate would have been approximately 40.9% for thedfi year ended September 30, 2007.

Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioreigp industry, is highly seasonal, with seasopnafétrying in
different geographic markets. With the exceptiofrlofida, we generally realize significantly lonsales and high
levels of inventories, and related short-term bemngs, in the quarterly periods ending Decembear3d March 31.
The onset of the public boat and recreation showlshuary stimulates boat sales and allows usitecesour
inventory levels and related short-term borrowittgeughout the remainder of the fiscal year. Owitess could
become substantially more seasonal as we acquaterdeghat operate in colder regions of the UnBtates.

Our business is also subject to weather patterhighwnay adversely affect our results of operatiéius
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlifevels) or excessive rain may close area ngdtications or
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebaiting customer demand for our products. In tddij
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteritond may lead to a shorter selling season inageibcations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgtof our operations or damage to our boat irorézd and
facilities, as has been the case when Florida #me onarkets were hit by hurricanes. Although cemgraphic
diversity is likely to reduce the overall impactus of adverse weather conditions in any one maes, these
conditions will continue to represent potential tenal adverse risks to us and our future finangeaformance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working capitasapport operations, including new and used bodtrelated
parts inventories, off-season liquidity, and growtrough acquisitions and new store openings. Welagly
monitor the aging of our inventories and currentkaatrends to evaluate our current and futurernitmg needs. W
also use this evaluation in conjunction with owieg of our current and expected operating perforreaand
expected growth to determine the adequacy of oanfiing needs. These cash needs have historieaty financed
with cash generated from operations and borrowimgier our line of credit facility. Our ability tdilize our credit
facility to fund operations depends upon the cetiatlevels and compliance with the covenants efctedit facility.
Turmoil in the credit markets and weakness in #dtaik markets may interfere with
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our ability to remain in compliance with the covetsaof the credit facility and therefore utilizestbredit facility to
fund operations. At September 30, 2008, we wemdinpliance with all of the credit facility covenanSubsequent
to September 30, 2008 we amended the credit fadilfe currently depend upon dividends and othenpsays frorm
our dealerships and our line of credit facilityftmd our current operations and meet our cash né€zdsently, no
agreements exist that restrict this flow of funasf our dealerships.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006 @@d, Zash provided by operating activities apprated
$9.4 million and $20.0 million, respectively. Fbetfiscal year ended September 30, 2008, cashiusgerating
activities was approximately $8.8 million. For fieral year ended September 30, 2006, cash provigegberating
activities was due primarily to net income, adjdsfi® non-cash depreciation, amortization, andlstsed
compensation charges, and increases in accourdblpagnd accrued expenses, partially offset byiarease in
accounts receivable due to increased revenuescesase in inventories to ensure appropriate imvgiévels, and
decrease in customer deposits. For the fiscalgrded September 30, 2007, cash provided by opgrattivities
was due primarily to net income, adjusted for naskcdepreciation, amortization, and stock basegeosation
charges, and increases in customer deposits angealcexpenses, partially offset by a decreasedalats payable,
and an increase in inventories to ensure apprepnaentory levels. For the fiscal year ended Saptr 30, 2008,
cash used in operating activities was due primawilgur net loss, a decrease in accounts payab&be of
reductions in purchases from our manufacturers gathecrease in customer deposits due to a reduntjgending
sales. These amounts were primarily offset by neimcharges, including the impairment of goodwilhck-based
compensation, and depreciation and amortizatioemsg. The cash used in operating activities wakduoffset by
reductions in inventories and accounts receivabéetd the reduction in sales trends.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006,, 20072008, cash used in investing activities was
approximately $95.4 million, $9.4 million, and $#8llion, respectively. For the fiscal year endezp&mber 30,
2006, cash used in investing activities was pritparsed in business acquisitions and to purchaseepty and
equipment associated with opening new retail fieedlior improving and relocating existing retatifdgies. For the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, cash usadesting activities was primarily used to purchpseperty and
equipment associated with opening new retail fieedlior improving and relocating existing retatiféies and in th:
finalization of certain business acquisitions, adlst offset by proceeds received from the sale iandluntary
conversion of property and equipment. For the figear ended September 30, 2008, cash used intingestivitie:
was primarily used to purchase property and equipagsociated with opening new retail facilitiesroproving
and relocating existing retail facilities.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006 @@8, 2ash provided by financing activities was
approximately $83.9 million and $16.5 million, resfively. For the fiscal year ended September 8072cash ust
in financing activities was approximately $5.3 imitl. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 268 provided
by financing activities was primarily attributatite proceeds from net borrowings on short-term heimgs as a
result of increased inventory levels and borrowiogdong-term debt on equipment and real estateiged] and
proceeds from common shares issued upon the exarfcsdock options and under the employee stoc&hase plai
partially offset by purchases of treasury stock sepmhyments of long-term debt. For the fiscal yerated
September 30, 2007, cash used in financing aetd/itias primarily attributable to purchases of wieastock and
repayments of long-term debt, partially offset bgqeeds from net borrowings on short-term borrowiag a result
of increased inventory levels, and proceeds frommon shares issued upon the exercise of stocknspéiod under
the employee stock purchase plan. For the fiscal geded September 30, 2008, cash provided bydingn
activities was primarily attributable to a net iease in short-term borrowings, partially offsetrbgayments of long-
term debt.

During December 2008, we entered into an amendofemir second amended and restated credit anditgecur
agreement originally entered into in June 2006. dimendment modified the amount of borrowing avditsth
inventory advance rates, provides the ability teesxde $20 million against certain real estate i covenants,
and collateral under the credit facility. With tamendment, the credit facility provides us a liferedit with asset-
based borrowing availability of up to $425 millistepping down to $350 million by September 30,280d
$300 million by May 31, 2010. However, the amendtraso contains a provision that allows us to abtai
commitments from existing or additional lendergréby increasing the capacity of the credit fagilifp to
$500 million. Amounts under the credit facility mbg used for working capital and inventory finamgiwith the
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amount of permissible borrowings determined purst@a borrowing base formula. The credit faciifgo permits
approvedvendor floorplan borrowings of up to $20 milliorhd amendment replaces the fixed charge coverage
with an interest coverage ratio for years endingwoafter September 30, 2010; it includes a cunvdaarnings
before interest, taxes, depreciations and amoidizabr EBITDA (as defined in the agreement), cardrfor each
quarter; it modifies the current ratio requiremeittseeduces the amount of allowable capital exjtenes; it require
the approval for any stock repurchases, and itiregjapproval for acquisitions. The amended cifeditity provides
for interest at the London Interbank Offered RMBOR) plus 425 basis points through Septembe28a0 and
thereafter at LIBOR plus 150 to 400 basis pointsspant to a performance pricing grid based upennterest
coverage ratio, as defined. Borrowings under tleditfacility are secured by our inventory, acceumceivable,
equipment, furniture, fixtures, and real estatee @mended credit facility matures in May 2011, witlh one-year
renewal options, subject to lender approval.

As of September 30, 2007 and 2008, we owed an gggref $326.0 million and $372.0 million, respeely
under our revolving credit facility and were in cpliance with all of the credit facility covenantsdvances under
the facility accrued interest at a rate of 7.2% &, as of September 30, 2007 and 2008, respéctitil
indebtedness associated with our real estate lyddiuere repaid during the fiscal year ended Sepe®, 2008.
As of September 30, 2008, the facility provideduith an additional net borrowing availability of &#nillion. The
December 2008 amendment, if in place at Septenthe2@8, would have reduced the available borros/iumyder
the facility to approximately $38 million, excludjr$20 million of potential real estate advancesyfrapproximatel
$84 million and increased the interest rate by exprately 275 basis points.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006;amepleted the acquisition of two marine retail rgpiens.
We acquired the net assets, related property, aitdirigs and assumed or retired certain liabilitiesluding the
outstanding floorplan obligations related to nevatdaventories, for approximately $52.3 milliondash, plus
$29.0 million in working capital adjustments, inding acquisition costs, and 665,024 shares of comstack
valued at $33.71 per share. During the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2007 and 2008, we did not letergny
acquisitions.

Except as specified in this “Management’s Discussind Analysis of Financial Condition, and Resafts
Operations” and in our consolidated financial staats, we have no material commitments for cafitathe next
12 months. We believe that our existing capitabueses will be sufficient to finance our operatidosat least the
next 12 months, except for possible significantugsitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of our eniai contractual obligations and commercial commeitts
as of September 30, 2008:

Short-Term Other Long-Term Operating
Year Ending September 3( Borrowings(1) Liabilities(2) Leases(3 Total
(Amounts in thousands)

2009 $ 372,000 % — $10,04: $382,04:
2010 — 4,37¢ 8,95¢ 13,33:
2011 — — 8,01¢ 8,01t
2012 — — 6,38: 6,38¢
2013 — — 4,267 4,26
Thereatftel — — 10,01 10,01
Total $ 372,000 $ 4,37¢  $47,68(  $424,05-

(1) Estimates of future interest payments for ShortaT8orrowings have been excluded in the tabulargmtagion.
Amounts due are contingent upon the outstandingnicals and the variable interest rates. As of SdqeeB0,
2008, the interest rate on our SI-Term Borrowings was 4%

(2) The amounts included in other long-term liabilitpggmarily consist of our estimated liability folams on
certain worker compensation insurance policies. While we estirttegeamount to be paid in excess
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12 months, the ultimate timing of the paymentauigjact to certain variability. Accordingly, we hawkassified
all amounts as due in the following year for thepgmses of this table

(3) Amounts for operating lease commitments do nouigelcertain operating expenses such as maintenance,
insurance, and real estate taxes. These amounstaaematerial component of operating exper

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementsher celationships with unconsolidated entities tra
reasonably likely to affect our financial conditjdiquidity, or capital resources. We have no sakgurpose or
limited purpose entities that provide difdlance sheet financing, liquidity, or market agdit risk support; we do n
engage in leasing, hedging, or research and dewelopservices; and we do not have other relatipsghiat expos
us to liability that is not reflected in the finaalcstatements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2008, all of our short-term dedsebinterest at a variable rate, tied to LIBOR asfarence
rate. Changes in the underlying LIBOR interest tatthe spread charged under our performance grapiid on our
short-term debt could affect our earnings. For gdanthe 275 basis point increase in the interston our
short-term debt, as defined in our December 2008naiment, is projected to result in an increasepf@imately
$10.2 million in annual préax interest expense. This estimated increasesisdoapon the outstanding balance ol
short-term debt as of September 30, 2008 and assnonmiitigating changes by us to reduce the oudsign
balances, no additional interest assistance thdtl dxe received from vendors due to the interdstirecrease, and
no changes in the base LIBOR rate.

Products purchased from Italian-based manufactarersubject to fluctuations in the euro to U.Slado
exchange rate, which ultimately may impact theilrptéce at which we can sell such products. Acauogty,
fluctuations in the value of the euro as comparéd the U.S. dollar may impact the price pointsvaich we can
sell profitably Italian products, and such pricénp® may not be competitive with other product e the United
States. Accordingly, such fluctuations in exchargjes ultimately may impact the amount of revecost of goods
sold, cash flows, and earnings we recognize féiahltgroduct lines. We cannot predict the effedtexchange rate
fluctuations on our operating results. In certaseas, we may enter into foreign currency cash Redges to reduce
the variability of cash flows associated with fasted purchases of boats and yachts from
Italian-based manufacturers. We are not curremgjaged in foreign currency exchange hedging traiosecto
manage our foreign currency exposure. If and whemlavengage in foreign currency exchange hedging
transactions, we cannot assure that our strategliesdequately protect our operating results fribra effects of
exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary D¢

Reference is made to the financial statementsiakes thereto, and the report thereon, commencing o
of this report, which financial statement, notes] eeport are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéinting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatretesigned to ensure that material informatguired tc
be disclosed by us in Securities Exchange Act tepsrecorded, processed, summarized and repoiteith the
time periods specified in the Securities and Exgea@ommission’s rules and forms, and that suchrimftion is
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fin&ic
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisioagarding required disclosure.
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Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioffr have evaluated the effectiveness of the desigh
operation of our disclosure controls and proced(asgslefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-1&(e)er the Securiti¢
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the permeeoed by this report. Based on such evaluatioeh sificers
have concluded that, as of the end of the perieéreal by this report, our disclosure controls aratedures were
effective.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended September 30, 2008, thiere no changes in our internal controls over foman
reporting that materially affected, or were reastyéikely to materially affect, our internal controver financial
reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, doesxyméct that our disclosure controls and interpatmols
will prevent all errors and all fraud. A controlssgm, no matter how well conceived and operatedpoavide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the ivieiectf the control system are met. Further, trségieof a control
system must reflect the fact that there are regotwmastraints, and the benefits of controls mustdmsidered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitéitions in all control systems, no evaluatiortoftrols can provid
absolute assurance that all control issues andrioss of fraud, if any, within the company havenbdetected.
These inherent limitations include the realitiestludgments in decision-making can be faulty, tivad breakdowns
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Aafditly, controls can be circumvented by the indiaal acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more peopi®yamanagement override of the control. The desigmy
system of controls also is based in part upon icegissumptions about the likelihood of future eseand there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed iiewol its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions; over
time, a control may become inadequate becauseanigels in conditions, or the degree of compliandk thie
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Becausieeoihherent limitations in a cost-effective cohsgstem,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur ande detected.

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications & @EO and the CFO, respectively. The Certificatianes
required in accordance with Section 302 of the &aeb-Oxley Act of 2002 (the Section 302 Certifias). This
Item of this report, which you are currently reagia the information concerning the Evaluation nefd to in the
Section 302 Certifications and this information sladdbe read in conjunction with the Section 302tifleations for
a more complete understanding of the topics predent

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiimg adequate internal control over financigasing,
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of theuites Exchange Act of 1934. Under the supemisiod with the
participation of the Company’s management, inclgdia principal executive officer and principaldimcial officer,
the Company conducted an evaluation of the effentigs of the Company’s internal control over fir@neporting
as of September 30, 2008 as required by the SesuEkchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c). In making
assessment, the Company used the criteria setfpittiie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway
Commission (COSO) imternal Control — Integrated FrameworBased on its evaluation, management concluded
that its internal control over financial reportings effective as of September 30, 2008.

Our internal control over financial reporting asSeptember 30, 2008 has been audited by Ernst andgy
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited MarineMax, Ins.internal control over financial reporting as ep&mber 30, 2008, based
criteria established in Internal Control — Integaframework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). MarineMax, Inc.’s management is respblesfor
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeass of internal
control over financial reporting included in thecampanying managemeatteport on internal control over financ
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an @piron the companyg’internal control over financial reporting ba
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) idmveasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementadcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management amdtdis of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, MarineMax, Inc. maintained, in alhterial respects, effective internal control diueancial
reporting as of September 30, 2008, based on tHeCCEiteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance shedtaaheMax, Inc. as of September 30, 2008 and 286d,the
related statements of operations, comprehensimriacstockholders’ equity, and cash flows for eafcthe three
years in the period ended September 30, 2008 ohkldiax, Inc. and our report dated December 15, 20QBesse
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 15, 2008

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Govente

The information required by this Item relating tar @irectors is incorporated herein by referencenéo
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuanRegulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2009 AainMeeting
of Stockholders. The information required by thésm relating to our executive officers includedRBusiness —
Executive Officers.”

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stetnt to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé e our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahMbBnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange #c our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stetnt to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange #c our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent to b
filled pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangs for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(&) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Scheths

(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Inde€dosolidated Financial Statements on page F-histeport.

(2) No financial statement schedules are includsgzhbse such schedules are not applicable, areaquted, or
because required information is included in thesotidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
31 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date

3.2
33
4.1
4.2

10.1(k)

10.3(h)

10.3(i)

10.3(j)

10.4

10.5

10.12

10.18t

10.19

10.20

10.20(a]
10.21

10.21(a

10.21(b]

10.22

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Redi€l#gi

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock(:

Specimen of Common Stock Certificate

Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweerisRagt and American Stock Transfer &

Trust Company, as Rights Agent

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 30, 20@&g MarineMax of New York, Inc.; Surfsi@e-
Marina, Inc.; Matthew Barbara, Paul Barbara, Dikeeney, and Angela Chianese; and certain affiliates
of Surfside-3 Marina, Inc.(Form 1(-Q filed May 10, 2006)(3

Employment Agreement between Registrant and WilllknMcGill Jr.(4)

Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(4)

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Ed&aRlussell(4)

1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeerib, 2000(5

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 7,
2005(9)

Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, dated J@2§OB among the Registrant, MarineMax Motor
Yachts, LLC, and Hatteras Yachts Division of BrurdwCorporation(7.

Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityefggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the Regi
and its subsidiaries as Borrowers, Keybank Bank,. NBank of America, N.A., and various other
lenders, as Lenders(

Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 7,
2005(9)

Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemet

Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securitgefyggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the Regi
and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of dgaeN.A., KeyBank, N.A., General Electric
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, Wadadsank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., National
City Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., and Branch Barkiand Trust company, as Lenders

First Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedtGedl Security Agreement executed on June 5,
2007 effective as of May 31, 2007 among the Remistand its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General Electric Comrmial Distribution Finance Corporation, Branch
Banking and Trust Company, as Lendersi

Third Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedtGned Security Agreement executed on

March 7, 2008, among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsiels, as Borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A.,
Keybank, N.A., General Electric Commercial Disttibn Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank, N.A.,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., Branch Ry and Trust Company, and Bank of the West,
as Lenders(1z

MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Plah
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit

10.23 Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan(11

10.24 Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 208dentive Compensation Plan(]

10.25 Director Fee Share Purchase Program

21 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ast

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawnt Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk

32.1 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpéed pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxle
Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

T Certain information in this exhibit has been ontiténd filed separately with the Securities and Bxge
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portio

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraprform 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2891
filed on December 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form Bdport dated September 30, 1998, as filed on Oc&he
1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form 1f#Qhe quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed/iary 10,
2006.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K, as filed on June 13, 200

(5) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended December 31, 208 filed
on February 14, 200

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registration StateropriformS-1 (Registratior33:-47873).

(7) Incorporated by reference to Registrant's Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended March 31, 2007jled on
May 7, 2007

(8) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended June 30, 2006iled 6n
August 4, 2006

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K, as filed on December 9, 20(
(10) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K, as filed on June 11, 200
(11) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on March 6, 200
(12) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form $-8 (File No.333-141657)as filed March 29, 200°
(13) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on March 12, 200
(14) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on November 26, 20C

(c) Financial Statement Schedule

(1) See Item 15(a) above.

55




Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 15, 2008

MARINE M AX, INC.

/sl WiLLiam H. McGILL JRr.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Actd341 the following persons on behalf of the registrand in
the capacities and on the date indicated have @it report below.

Signature

/sl WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR.

William H. McGill Jr.

/sl MICHAEL H. MCLAMB

Michael H. McLamb

/s/ HILLIARD M. EURE Il

Hilliard M. Eure I

/s/ JOHN B. FURMAN

John B. Furmau

/sl ROBERT S. KANT

Robert S. Kan

/s/ JOSEPH A. WATTERS

Joseph A. Wattetr

/s/ DEAN S. WOODMAN

Dean S. Woodma

Capacity

Date

Chairman of the Board, President, and December 15, 20(

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Executive Vice President, Chief Finan
Officer, Secretary, and Director (Princi
Accounting and Financial Office

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the related ¢datal statements of operations, comprehensivariaco
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended September 30, J0&&e
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidsrat September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the cdassadi results
of their operations and their cash flows for eaftcthe three years in the period ended Septembe2(BIB, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountmigciples.

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statement8008 the Company changed its method for acaogifdr
income tax uncertainties.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), MarineMax, Inc.’s internal contookr financial reporting as of September 30, 2@@8ed on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrafgdmework issued by the Committee of Sponsorirgafizations
of the Treadway Commission and our report dateceBdoer 15, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinioretme

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 15, 2008
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable, n

Inventories, ne

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Deferred tax asse

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Goodwill and other intangible assets,
Other lon¢-term asset
Deferred tax asse

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 sharté®rized, none issued or

outstanding at September 30, 2007 and 2

Common stock, $.001 par value; 24,000,000 shatt®azed, 19,099,464 and
19,215,387 shares issued and 18,379,864 and 1882dghares outstanding at

September 30, 2007 and 2008, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Treasury stock, at cost, 719,600 and 790,900 siatdsat September 30, 2007 anc

2008, respectivel
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.

F-3

September 3C  September 3C
2007 2008
$ 30,37t $ 30,26¢

57,33 35,67¢
478,03¢ 468,62¢
8,991 7,94¢
6,48¢ 307
581,22¢ 542,82:
118,96( 113,86¢
121,17- —
4,51¢ 3,42¢

— 1,20¢€

$ 82587 $ 661,32

' EQUITY

$ 19,98( $ 4,481
33,42( 6,50¢
27,04+ 25,38(
326,00( 372,00(
4,39¢ —
410,84( 408,36t
11,97 —
26,43 —
3,071 4,374
452,31 412,74(
19 19
167,91: 178,83(
220,37 85,54
28 —
(14,775 (15,810)
373,55¢ 248,58:
$ 82587t $ 661,32
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig

For the Year Ended September 3C

2006 2007 2008
Revenue $ 1,213,554 $ 1,255,98 $ 885,40°
Cost of sale: 906,78: 956,25 679,16¢
Gross profit 306,76( 299,73: 206,24
Selling, general, and administrative exper 222,80¢ 245,22: 217,42¢
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment che — — 122,09:
Income (loss) from operatiol 83,954 54,51( (133,279
Interest expens 18,61¢ 26,95¢ 20,16¢
Income (loss) before income tax provision (bent 65,33¢ 27,55t (153,439
Income tax provision (benefi 25,95¢ 7,48¢ (19,167
Net income (loss $ 39,38 $ 20,06¢ $ (134,27)
Basic net income (loss) per common st $ 218 $ 1.0 % (7.30)
Diluted net income (loss) per common sh $ 20t % 1.04 % (7.30)
Weighted average number of common shares usednputing net
income (loss) per common sha
Basic 18,028,56 18,618,61 18,391,48
Diluted 18,928,73 19,289,23 18,391,48

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended September 3C

2006 2007 2008

Net income (loss $39,38. $20,06¢ $(134,27)
Other comprehensive income (los
Change in fair market value of derivative instrutsenet of tax expense of $3

for the year ended September 30, 2006 and nek dfeiaefit of $300 and $2:

for the years ended September 30, 2007 and 20§)8 ctively 507 (379 (365)
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedeéhincome, net of tax of $62

and $211 for the years ended September 30, 2002G08] respectivel — (100 337
Comprehensive income (los $39,88¢ $19,59( $(134,30))

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands except share data)

Accumulated

Additional Deferred Total
Common Stock Paid-in Retained Stock Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders
Shares  Amount Capital Earnings Compensatior Income Stock Equity

BALANCE, September 30, 20( 17,678,08 $ 18 $125,67: $ 160,92« $ (2,397 $ — $ (61§)$ 283,59¢
Net income — — — 39,38: — — — 39,38:
Purchase of treasury sto (306,30() — — — — — (6,94 (6,94%)
Reclassification resulting from adoption of

SFAS 123F — — (2,399 — 2,397 — — —
Shares issued under employee stock purc

plan 59,191 — 1,28: — — — — 1,28
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 253,35¢ — 2,581 — — — — 2,581
Stoclk-based compensatic 180,16: — 5,567 — — — — 5,561
Shares issued upon business acquis 665,02¢ 1 22,417 — — — — 22,41¢
Tax benefits of options exercis — — 1,49t — — — — 1,49¢
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of tg — — — — — 507 — 507
BALANCE, September 30, 20( 18,529,52. 19 156,61¢ 200,30t — 507  (7,56%) 349,88
Net income — — — 20,06¢ — — — 20,06¢
Purchase of treasury sto (383,30() — — — — — (7,21 (7,217)
Shares issued under employee stock purc

plan 78,66¢ — 1,631 — — — — 1,631
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opi 149,78( — 1,587 — — — — 1,581
Stocl-based compensatic 5,19t — 7,307 — — — — 7,307
Tax benefits of options exercis — — 76¢ — — — — 76¢
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of tg — — — — — (479) — (479)
BALANCE, September 30, 20( 18,379,86. 19 167,91: 220,37! — 28 (14,77 373,55!¢
Net loss — — — (134,27) — — — (134,27
Purchase of treasury sto (71,300 — — — — —  (1,03y (2,035
Shares issued under employee stock purc

plan 105,39( — 1,207 — — — — 1,207
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 102,35: — 1,02¢ — — — — 1,02¢
Stocl-based compensatic 8,181 — 8,464 — — — — 8,46¢
Tax benefits of options exercis 223 — — — — 228
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN ¢ — — — (554) — — — (554)
Conversion of restricted stock awards to

restricted stock unit (100,000 — — — — — — —
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of ta — — — — — (28) — (28)
BALANCE, September 30, 20( 18,424,48 $ 19 $178,83( $ 85,54« $ = — $(15,810$  248,58!

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended September 3C

2006 2007 2008
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss $39,38: $20,06¢ $(134,27)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by (used in) operating
activities:
Goodwill and intangible asset impairme — — 122,09:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,607 9,35( 11,09(
Deferred income tax provision (bene 1,02( (1,367) (6,309
Gain on sale of property and equipm 42 (2,030 25¢
Gain on involuntary conversion of property and equént — (613) —
Loss on extinguishment of lo-term deb — — 16C
Stocl-based compensation expel 5,567 7,307 8,46¢
Tax benefits of options exercis 1,49¢ 76¢ 22¢
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic (1,127 (54€) (169
(Increase) decrease—
Accounts receivable, n (21,38 25€ 21,65¢
Inventories, ne (25,339 (15,19 9,41(
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,099 (1,172 2,63
Increase (decrease)—
Accounts payabl 20,19¢ (17,419 (16,749
Customer deposi (21,98¢) 16,25( (26,919
Accrued expense 4,104 3,33 (361)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 9,402 19,99¢ (8,786)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm (10,169 (9,507 (7,969
Cash used in business investn (4,007 — —
Net cash used in acquisitions of businesses, setssand intangible ass: (81,369 (4,847 —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 10¢ 2,91¢ 11z
Proceeds from involuntary conversion of propertst aquipmen — 2,007 —
Net cash used in investing activiti (95,43%) (9,432 (7,857
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings of lon-term debt 12,24( —
Repayments of lor-term debt (5,140 (6,359 (30,839
Net (repayments) borrowings on st-term borrowings 78,72¢ 4,50( 46,00(
Purchases of treasury stc (6,945 (7,212 (1,035
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic 1,127 54¢€ 16¢
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock und&ropnd employee purchase
plans 3,86¢ 3,21¢ 2,231
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 83,87¢ (5,307) 16,53
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENS: (2,15%) 5,26: (111
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 27,27 25,11: 30,37t
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $2511¢ $30,37t $ 30,26¢
Supplemental Disclosure of N-Cash Investing Activities
Common stock issued in connection with businessiaitipn $2241¢ $ — % —

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énUhited States. We engage primarily in the retli,
brokerage, and service of new and used boats, mdtailers, marine parts, and accessories and slffeand
storage accommodations in certain locations. Intiadd we arrange related boat financing, insuraacel extended
service contracts. As of September 30, 2008, weabtge through 80 retail locations in 22 statessisiimg of
Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connectjdlaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesdéssouri,
Nevada, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ofliklahoma, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennedseas,
and Utah.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation (Brunswick). Sales of new Brunswimats
accounted for approximately 49% of our revenuadod 2008. Brunswick is the world’s largest martdiger of
marine products and marine engines. We believeeeesented approximately 10% of all Brunswick masales,
including approximately 40% of its Sea Ray boa¢satluring our 2008 fiscal year.

We have dealership agreements with Sea Ray, B¥gtaier, Cabo, Hatteras, Meridian, and Mercury Marin
all subsidiaries or divisions of Brunswick. We alsve dealer agreements with Azimut. These agresnadow us
to purchase, stock, sell, and service these matwéas’ boats and products. These agreements lkdsous to use
these manufacturers’ names, trade symbols, anltertteal properties in our operations.

We are parties to a multi-year dealer agreemertts Brunswick covering Sea Ray products that appgaistas
the exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats in our ggbiganarkets. We are party to a multi-year deagge@ament with
Hatteras Yachts that gives us the exclusive rigisell Hatteras Yachts throughout the states aiddqexcluding
the Florida panhandle), New Jersey, New York, aexds§. We are also the exclusive dealer for Cabdtgac
throughout the states of Florida, New Jersey, ag Mork through a multi-year dealer agreement. Wéeadso the
exclusive dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Gots product line Azimut Yachts for the Northeastitdd States
from Maryland to Maine and for the state of Flortleough a multi-year dealer agreement. We belibgenon-
Brunswick brands offer a migration for our existicigstomer base or fill a void in our product offigg$, and
accordingly, do not compete with the business gaadrfrom our other prominent brands.

As is typical in the industry, we deal with manutaers, other than Sea Ray, Hatteras, Cabo andu&zim
Yachts, under renewable annual dealer agreemextis,of which gives us the right to sell various emknd mode
of boats within a given geographic region. Any dmor termination of these agreements, or the aggnts
discussed above, for any reason, or changes inetitimg, regulatory, or marketing practices, inchglrebate or
incentive programs, could adversely affect our lissaf operations. Although there are a limited te@mof
manufacturers of the type of boats and productswieasell, we believe that adequate alternativecesuwould be
available to replace any manufacturer other tham8wick as a product source. These alternativecesumay not
be available at the time of any interruption, altdraative products may not be available at comparterms, whicl
could affect operating results adversely.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regarding-éuiconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawe serve and adversely affect our businegsdtaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipggicularly Florida in which we generated 46%% and 43%
of our revenue during fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2088pectively, can have a major impact on our ojmrat Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and myjlitase closings, also could adversely affect parations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionaryndijmg levels generally decline, at times resulimg
disproportionately large reductions in the saltugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéfprevailing economic conditions are favoral#lghough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatatgor modestly declining industry trends, the
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

cyclical nature of the recreational boating indystr the lack of industry growth could adverselfeaf our busines:
financial condition, or results of operations ie flature. Any period of adverse economic condition®w
consumer confidence has a negative effect on ainbss.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007,@mdinued weakness in consumer spending resutomg
substantial weakness in the financial markets amerabrating economic conditions had a very suliisthmegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008. These canttcaused us to defer our acquisition prograow siur new
store openings, reduce our inventory purchasesgan inventory reduction efforts, close somewfretail
locations, and reduce our headcount. We cannotgbithe length or severity of these unfavorablenecoic or
financial conditions or the extent to which theyladversely affect our operating results nor canpsedict the
effectiveness of the measures we have taken t@sslthiis environment or whether additional measwiiébe
necessary.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all refezsrio “MarineMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its
acquisition of five previously independent recreasl boat dealers in March 1998 (including thelates real estate
companies) and all references to the “Company,t tmmpany,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean, as a coméih
company; MarineMax, Inc. and the 20 recreationaitloiealers, two boat brokerage operations, andullvservice
yacht repair operations acquired to date “acquired dealers,” and together with the brokerage repair
operations, “operating subsidiaries” or the “acgdicompanies”).

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassifiedthe
previously reported consolidated financial statei:iém conform to the consolidated financial statethpeesentation
of the current period. The consolidated finandatesments include our accounts and the accourasrafubsidiarie
all of which are wholly owned. All significant intsompany transactions and accounts have been ali@tin

2. ACQUISITIONS:

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 199Bcammenced operations with the acquisition of five
independent recreational boat dealers on MarcB98.1Since the initial acquisitions, we have aceii?0
recreational boat dealers, two boat brokerage tipas and two full-service yacht repair facilitiss a part of our
acquisition strategy, we frequently engage in dismns with various recreational boat dealers déggrtheir
potential acquisition by us. Potential acquisitiiscussions frequently take place over a long pesfdime and
involve difficult business integration and othesuss, including, in some cases, management sugoessi related
matters. As a result of these and other factonsinaber of potential acquisitions that from timeitoe appear likely
to occur do not result in binding legal agreemeamis are not consummated. No significant acquistivare
completed during the fiscal years ended Septenthe2@7 and 2008.

During January 2006, we acquired substantiallpitihe assets, including certain real estate, asdraed
certain liabilities of the Port Arrowhead Group (PArrowhead), a privately held boat dealershipwsix locations,
including a large marina, in Missouri and Oklahofio®,approximately $27.5 million in cash, plus $&@lion in
working capital adjustments, including acquisitmosts. The acquisition expands our ability to semgsumers in
the Midwest boating community, including neighbgrimoating destinations in Illinois, Kansas, and &kas. The
acquisition also allows us to capitalize on Pomofvhead’s market position and leverage our invgnteanagement
and inventory financing resources over the acquoedtions. Based on a valuation, the purchase pincluding
acquisition costs, resulted in the recognitionmgraximately $6.0 million of tax deductible goodwahd
approximately $2.0 million of tax deductible indefe-lived intangible assets (dealer agreements}. Arowhead
has been included in our consolidated financidgkstants since the date of acquisition. Pro forrsalte of
operations have not been presented with respélcetBort Arrowhead acquisition, as the pre-acdaisieffects of
the acquisition was not significant in fiscal 2006.
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During March 2006, we acquired substantially altref assets and assumed certain liabilities ofsilaf3
Marina, Inc. (Surfside), a privately held boat @eghip with eight locations in New York and Conmagt, for
approximately $24.8 million in cash and 665,024reh@f common stock, plus $24.0 million in workicepital
adjustments, including acquisition costs. The sharere valued at $33.71 per share, which was temge closing
market price of our common stock for the five dayipd beginning two days prior to and ending twgsda
subsequent to the acquisition date. The acquisitiquands our ability to serve consumers in the id@s$t boating
community and allows us to capitalize on Surfsida&ket position and leverage our inventory managerand
inventory financing resources over the acquireations. Based on a valuation, the purchase prickjding
acquisition costs, resulted in the recognitionmgraximately $40.0 million of tax deductible goodivaind
approximately $16.4 million of tax deductible inbhte-lived intangible assets (dealer agreemefgjfside has
been included in our consolidated financial stateismsince the date of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asdumthe
acquisitions of Port Arrowhead and Surfside du@6§6 (amounts in thousands):

Receivable! $ 5,501
Inventories 119,80¢
Other current asse 39z
Property and equipme 20,38:
Goodwill 45,99:
Other identifiable intangible asse 18,37t

Total assets acquire $ 210,45(
Short term borrowing $ (92,770
Other current liabilitie: (14,009

Total current liabilities assume (106,779

Net assets acquire $ 103,67t

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortizan presents the combined results of operatiormiof
company with the operations of Surfside as if tbgussition had occurred as of the beginning ofdist006
(amounts in thousands, except per share data):

For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 200!

(Unaudited)
Revenue $ 1,264,85.
Net income $ 37,67¢
Net income per common she
Basic $ 2.0t
Dilutive $ 1.9¢

This unaudited pro forma financial information iegented for informational purposes only. The uitadgro
forma financial information includes an adjustmentecord income taxes as if Surfside were taxeal @s
corporation from the beginning of the periods pnéseé until its acquisition date. The unaudited farmna financial
information does not include adjustments to remzesgain private company expenses, which may natdered in
future periods. Similarly, the unaudited pro forfimancial information does not include adjustmeotsadditional
expenses, such as rent, insurance, interest imcanréorrowings for cash paid at acquisition, atigtoexpenses
that would have been incurred subsequent to theisitign date. The unaudited pro forma financidrmation ma
not necessarily reflect our future results of opiers or what the results of operations would hHasen had we
owned and operated Surfside as of the beginnirniyeoperiods presented.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated balance sheetstateinents of cash flows, we consider all higigjyit
investments with an original maturity of three nfonor less to be cash equivalents.

We made interest payments of approximately $171omj $26.6 million, and $20.6 million for the fial years
ended September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008, resplciincluding interest on debt to finance our resthte
holdings and inventory. We made income tax paymehépproximately $8.9 million, $26.0 million, and
$2.6 million for the fiscal years ended Septemifer2B06, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wadn accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Inahgda Reseller) for Certain Consideration Receiverhfa
Vendor” (EITF 02-16). EITF 02-16 most significantiyquires us to classify interest assistance reddnom
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against
our interest expense incurred with our lenderss®amt to EITF 02-16, amounts received by us undeca-op
assistance programs from our manufacturers arechatfainst related advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aeghie inventory, net of vendor consideration anctpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, recondlitipoosts, and transportation costs relating taigicgy inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimories at the lower of cost, determined on aifipedentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, aildrtinventories, including trade-in’s, at the lemof cost,
determined on a specific-identification basis, @rket. We state parts and accessories at the oiweist,
determined on the first-in, firgtut basis, or market. We utilize our historical esipnce, the aging of the inventori
and our consideration of current market trend$iasasis for determining lower of cost or markduaton
allowance. As of September 30, 2007 and 2008,awel of cost or market valuation allowance wasmaterial to
the consolidated financial statements taken as@ewlf events occur and market conditions changasing the fa
value of our inventories to fall below their cangivalue, the lower of cost or market valuatiomatnce could
increase.

Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost, net cfimclated depreciation, and depreciate property and
equipment over their estimated useful lives ushgdtraight-line method. We capitalize and amotéasehold
improvements over the lesser of the life of thesdear the estimated useful life of the asset. Usieks for purpose
of computing depreciation are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme 3-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 35

We remove the cost of property and equipment solétired and the related accumulated deprecidtam the
accounts at the time of disposition and include r@sylting gain or loss in the consolidated statgsief operations
We charge maintenance, repairs, and minor replatsni@ operations as incurred; we capitalize andrire major
replacements and improvements over their usefasliv
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Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilalesets in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@ahgible Assets” (SFAS 142). Under this standaedassess
the impairment of goodwill and identifiable intabl assets at least annually and whenever evegtsanges in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value nybe recoverable. The first step in the assessinémne
estimation of fair value. If step one indicates fih@airment potentially exists, we perform the@®t step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodawilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werxzed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which hindered auaufcial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step orayais (as noted above) and estimated the fairevad the
reporting unit as prescribed by SFAS 142, whichdatkd potential impairment. As a result, we corntgalea fair
value analysis of indefinite lived intangible assatd a step two goodwill impairment analysis,eagiired by
SFAS 142. We determined that indefinite lived igile assets and goodwill were impaired and reabedeon-
cash charge of $121.1 million based on our assegsive will not be required to make any currenfuture cash
expenditures as a result of this impairment charge.

There was no goodwill amortization expense forftbeal years ended September 30, 2006, 2007, ab8l 20
Accumulated amortization of goodwill was approxieiat$2.6 million at September 30, 2007.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 1Adcounting for Impairment or Disposal of Longwed
Assets” (SFAS 144), requires that long-lived assatsh as property and equipment and purchasetpibias
subject to amortization, be reviewed for impairmwhenever events or changes in circumstances iedicat the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover&geoverability of the asset is measured by coreparof its
carrying amount to undiscounted future net cashdlthe asset is expected to generate. If suchsamsetonsidered
to be impaired, the impairment to be recognizedéasured as the amount by which the carrying amafithe ass¢
exceeds its fair market value. Estimates of expkfitteire cash flows represent our best estimatecbas currently
available information and reasonable and suppatafdumptions. Any impairment recognized in aceurdavith
SFAS 144 is permanent and may not be restoredf Ssmtember 30, 2008, we had not recognized anginmgnt
of long-lived assets in connection with SFAS 144ddghon our reviews.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounts reakivem customers toward the purchase of boats. We
recognize these deposits as revenue upon delivegoeptance of the related boats to customers.

Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating to theumance policies we maintain, most significantlyrkeos’
compensation insurance and employee medical bendfit are responsible for the claims and lossesriad under
these programs, limited by per occurrence dedwsibhd paid claims or losses up to pre-determireedmum
exposure limits. Any losses above the pre-deterth@xg@osure limits are paid by our third-party imswe carriers.
We estimate our liability for incurred but not refeal losses using our historical loss experienaejumgment, and
industry information.

Derivative Instruments

We account for derivative instruments in accordamite Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrents and Certain Hedging Activities” (SFAS 138),
amended by Statement of

F-12




Table of Contents

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, “AccountiogCertain Derivative Instruments and Certain giad
Activity, an Amendment of SFAS 133" (SFAS 138) éBtdtement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 149
“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruteemd Hedging Activities” (SFAS 149), (collectiyel
SFAS 133). Under these standards, all derivatisgruments are recorded on the balance sheet atéispective fa
values.

We utilize certain derivative instruments, from ¢iio time, including interest rate swaps and foda@ntracts,
to manage variability in cash flows associated \witerest rates and forecasted purchases of bodtgahts from
certain of our foreign suppliers in euros. At Seqber 30, 2008, no such instruments were outstanding

The accounting for changes in the fair value (gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depamdwhether
it has been designated and qualifies as part eflgihg relationship based on its effectivenessitging against the
exposure and on the type of hedging relationshiptttose derivative instruments that are designatedqualify as
hedging instruments, we designate the hedginguimgint, based upon the exposure being hedged airsvaliie
hedge or a cash flow hedge.

Our forward contracts and interest rate swap asggdated and accounted for as cash flow hedgeshédging
the exposure to variability in expected future clgls that is attributable to a particular risEFAS 133 provides
that the effective portion of the gain or loss aifegivative instrument designated and qualifying&sash flow
hedging instrument be reported as a componenthef @omprehensive income and be reclassified imtoirgs in
the same line item in the income statement as¢kgdd item in the same period or periods duringkvtie
transaction affects earnings. The ineffective partif the gain or loss on these derivative instntsaf any, is
recognized in other income/expense in current agenduring the period of change.

For derivative instruments not designated as hegigistruments, we recognize the gain or loss iemth
income/expense in current earnings during the desfahange. When a cash flow hedge is termindttéuk
forecasted hedged transaction is still probablecetirrence, amounts previously recorded in othemprehensive
income remain in other comprehensive income andem@gnized in earnings in the period in whichhiedged
transaction affects earnings.

Additional information with regard to accountingliptes associated with derivative instruments istamed in
Note 9, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activ

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and tradéées and parts and service operations at thethienleoat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or acceptgdhe customer or service is completed. We reizegrommissions
earned from a brokerage sale at the time the telatekerage transaction closes. We recognize reviom slip
and storage services on a straight-line basistheeterm of the slip or storage agreement. We neizceg
commissions earned by us for placing notes withrfaial institutions in connection with customer tifidancing
when we recognize the related boat sales. We remmgmarketing fees earned on credit life, accidemnt disability,
and hull insurance products sold by third-partymasice companies at the later of customer acceptaitbe
insurance product as evidenced by contract exectotiovhen we recognize the related boat sale. Botda
negotiated agreements with financial and insuramst#utions, we are charged back for a portiotheke fees
should the customer terminate or default on thegedl finance or insurance contract before it istantding for a
stipulated minimal period of time. The chargebatdvweance, which was not material to the consoliddteancial
statements taken as a whole as of September 30,2@®D08, is based on our experience with repaysman
defaults on the related finance or insurance cotdra

We also recognize commissions earned on extendadmta service contracts sold on behalf of thirdipa
insurance companies at the later of customer aageptof the service contract terms as evidencexbiyact
execution or recognition of the related boat séle.are charged back for a portion of these comuonissshould the
customer terminate or default on the service cohfygor to its scheduled maturity. The chargebaltdwance,
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which was not material to the consolidated finalnstiatements taken as a whole as of Septembel08F, @& 2008,
is based upon our experience with repayments @udisfon the service contracts.

The following table sets forth percentages of @venue generated by certain products and ser¥aresach of
last three years.

2006 2007 2008

New boat sale 70.% 68.2% 63.5%
Used boat sale 17.(% 18.€% 20.52%
Maintenance and repair servic 49% 5.C% 6.6%
Finance and insurance produ 32% 3% 3.%
Parts and accessori 2% 3.2% 4.4%
Brokerage service 11% 1.2% 1.4%
Total revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisiohStatement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R) for our sharedaempensation plans. We adopted SFAS 123R
using the modified prospective transition methoddér this transition method, compensation costgeized
includes (a) the compensation cost for all shasethawards granted prior to, but not yet vestedf &ctober 1,
2005, based on the gratiéte fair value estimated in accordance with thgirtal provisions of SFAS 123 and (b)
compensation cost for all share-based awards giantesequent to September 30, 2005, based onahedate fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisidrBFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have nohbestated.
Additionally, we accounted for restricted stock aigagranted using the measurement and recognit@mnspons of
SFAS 123R. The fair value of the restricted stoskrls is measured on the grant date and recogmzainings
over the requisite service period for each seplgragsting portion of the award.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs asned and include them in selling, general, and
administrative expenses in the accompanying catesteddl statements of operations. Pursuant to EITES)2ve net
amounts received by us under our co-op assistagegms from our manufacturers against the relatke@rtising
expenses. Total advertising and promotional exmeapproximated $16.5 million, $19.6 million, and®& million,
net of related co-op assistance of approximatel$ $iillion, $1.2 million, and $700,000, for theda years ended
September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance witheBtant of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109) and Finahéccounting Standard Board Interpretation No, 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FI¥ Under SFAS 109, we recognize deferred tax ssset
liabilities for the future tax consequences attidtme to temporary differences between the findrst@ement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliied their respective tax basis. We measure deftasreassets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates expected tdyafgptaxable income in the years in which we exjpkase
temporary differences to be recovered or settleel.r¥¢ord valuation allowances to reduce our dedetar assets to
the amount expected to be realized by considetirayailable positive and negative evidence.

Substantially all of our goodwill and intangiblegrg deductible for tax purposes. Our loss for #arended
September 30, 2008, including the write-off of gadldand intangible assets, combined with otheritign
differences, gave rise to a net operating losschvtesulted in a net deferred tax asset of apprabeiy
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$41.3 million. Pursuant to SFAS 109, we must caersal positive and negative evidence regarding¢adization
of deferred tax assets, including past operatisglte and future sources of taxable income. Urfaeptovisions of
SFAS 109, we determined that our net deferred sagtaneeded to be reserved given recent earnidgsdumstry
trends. Accordingly, recording of the valuatioroalnce resulted in a non-cash charge of approxiynate

$39.2 million.

FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxekrifies the accounting for uncertainty in incotages
recognized in an enterprise’s financial statemantsprescribes a recognition threshold and measuneattributes
of income tax positions taken or expected to beriakn a tax return. Under FIN 48, the impact ofiacertain tax
position taken or expected to be taken on an indaxeeturn must be recognized in the financiakestents at the
largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to bstained upon audit by the relevant taxing authoAn uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized in thahcial statements unless it is more likely thahaf being
sustained. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48f&ctober 1, 2007, and as a result, we recognizgthege of
approximately $554,000 to the October 1, 2007 methiearnings balance. As of September 30, 2008ade
approximately $2.1 million of gross unrecognizexitbanefits, of which approximately $1.4 million récognized,
would impact the effective tax rate.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting StashslBoard issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SEBB). SFAS 157 defines fair value, applies to other
accounting pronouncements that require or pernnitvédue measurements and expands disclosures &oualue
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal ybaginning after November 15, 2007 and interinioglsrwithin
those fiscal years. We are currently assessingrtpkcations of this standard and evaluating thpaet of adopting
SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standd&dard issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, “Fair Value Option for Finanéiasets and Financial Liabilities” (SFAS 159), whijgermits an
entity to measure certain financial assets andfiiz liabilities at fair value. SFAS 159 is effeet for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. We are curresdbessing the implications of this standard aatuating the
impact of adopting SFAS 159 on our consolidatedrfmal statements.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&ulard issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141R “Business Combinations” (SFABR)4SFAS 141R will require among other things, the
expensing of direct transaction costs, in procesearch and development to be capitalized, cestaitingent assets
and liabilities to be recognized at fair value &agn-out arrangements may be required to be mehatfeir value
recognized each period in earnings. In additiortag®e material adjustments will be required to bedeato purchase
accounting entries at the initial acquisition dabe will cause revisions to previously issued fiiahinformation in
subsequent filings. SFAS is effective for transatdioccurring after the beginning of the first asmmeporting
period beginning on or after December 15, 2008raay have a material impact on our consolidatechfire
position, results from operations and cash flowsutthwe enter into a material business combinaditer the
standards’ effective date.

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8 issued Statement of Financial Accounting Stedsl
No. 161“Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddhctivities — An Amendment to
SFAS 133" (SFAS 161). SFAS 161 applies to all deiire instruments accounted for under SFAS 133raqdires
entities to provide greater transparency on howvalmygl entities use derivative instruments, how daetiixe
instruments are accounted for under SFAS 133 amdffiact the derivative instruments may have orréselts of
operations and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effectivdiscal years and interim periods beginning aNlewember 15,
2008. Since SFAS 161 only applies to disclosuresliinot have a material impact on our consolidigfi@eancial
position, results from operations and cash flows.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjectaigoncentrations of credit risk, consist prindipaf cash
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. @atiens of credit risk with respect to our casld aash
equivalents are limited primarily to amounts helthviinancial institutions. Concentrations of credsk arising
from our receivables are limited primarily to amtaudue from manufacturers and financial institusion

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrumentpragimates fair value due either to length to mitwor
existence of interest rates that approximate pliegamnarket rates unless otherwise disclosed irdlmnsolidated
financial statements.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyall
accepted in the United States requires us to mstk@aes and assumptions that affect the reportexiiats of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the conatdid financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuexgahses during the reporting periods. Signifiestimates
made by us in the accompanying consolidated fimdustatements relate to valuation allowances, tianaf long-
lived assets, and valuation of accruals. Actuallte<ould differ materially from those estimates.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of receivalitem financial institutions, which provide fundirfigr
customer boat financing and amounts due from fiigumtstitutions earned from arranging financingtwour
customers. We normally collect these receivablésimBO0 days of the sale. Trade receivables alsode amounts
due from customers on the sale of boats, partgiceeiand storage. Amounts due from manufactuegeesent
receivables for various manufacturer programs amts@nd service work performed pursuant to theufeaturers’
warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivables, whigds not material to the consolidated financialesteints as
of September 30, 2007 or 2008, was based on owsid=Eration of customer payment practices, passéeion
history with customers, and economic conditionseWhn account becomes uncollectable, it is expessacad
debt and payments subsequently received are alddithe bad debt expense account. We review theathce for
uncollectible receivables when an event or othangke in circumstances results in a change in tiraae of the
ultimate collectability of a specific account.

The accounts receivable balances consisted obtlusving at September 30,

2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands)
Trade receivable $28,25: $10,40¢
Amounts due from manufacture 27,81 18,34:
Income tax receivabl — 6,74
Other receivable 1,26¢ 18C

$57,33¢ $35,67¢
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5. INVENTORIES:

Inventories, net consisted of the following at epver 30,

2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors, and traile $382,12: $386,99:
Used boats, motors, and trails 83,29: 72,627
Parts, accessories, and ot 12,627 9,00¢

$478,03¢  $468,62¢

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Property and equipment consisted of the followin§eptember 30,

2007 2008

(Amounts in thousands)

Land $ 43,14. $ 42,16(
Buildings and improvemen 78,61¢ 79,641
Machinery and equipme 31,50¢ 29,54(
Furniture and fixture 5,41¢ 5,80¢
Vehicles 5,62¢ 6,86
164,31! 164,01:
Less— Accumulated depreciatic (45,35%) (50,149

$118,96( $113,86!

Depreciation expense totaled approximately $8.8anil$9.5 million, and $10.9 million for the fisicgears

ended September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008, resplgctiv

7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

The changes in the carrying amounts of net goodwill identifiable intangible assets for the fisgzdrs ended
September 30, were as follows:
Identifiable
Intangible
Goodwill Assets Total
(Amounts in thousands)
Balance, September 30, 20 $94,06¢ $ 22,127 $116,19
Changes during the perit 3,37¢ 1,601 4,97¢
Balance, September 30, 2C 97,44¢ 23,72¢ 121,17-
Changes during the perit (97,446 (23,72%) (121,179
Balance, September 30, 20 $ — 3 —  $ —

The changes in the carrying amounts of net goodwill identifiable intangible assets for the fisezdr ended
September 30, 2007 relate to the finalization efgibirchase price of acquisitions we consummat@demious
periods. During the fiscal year ended SeptembeRB08, we experienced a significant decline in raavialuation

driven primarily by weakness in the marine retadlustry and an overall soft economy, which hinderedfin

ancial

performance. As a result, we completed a fair valeysis of indefinite lived intangible assets argtep two

goodwill impairment analysis, as required by SFAR.1We determined that indefinite lived intangibksets
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and goodwill were impaired and recorded a non-casinge of $121.1 million based on our assessmeatwilV not
be required to make any current or future cashrdipgres as a result of this impairment charge.

8. OTHER LONG -TERM ASSETS:

During February 2006, we became party to a joimtwes with Brunswick that acquired certain reahesand
assets of Great American Marina for an aggregatehpise price of approximately $11.0 million, of wliniwe
contributed approximately $4.0 million and Brunskveontributed approximately $7.0 million. The terofshe
agreement specify that we operate and maintaisghgce business, and Brunswick operate and maittiaimarini
business. Simultaneously with the closing, the &edlentity became Gulfport Marina, LLC (Gulfporéye account
for our investment in Gulfport in accordance witbcdunting Principles Board Opinion No. 18He Equity Metho
of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock”. Aotingly, we adjust the carrying amount of our istveent in
Gulfport to recognize our share of earnings ordess

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werexed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail indugtnd an overall soft economy, which hindered auaricial
performance. As a result of this weakness, wezedla goodwill and intangible asset impairment gbaas noted
above. Based on these events, we reviewed thetioadud our investment in Gulfport in accordancehwAPB 18
and recoverability of the assets contained with@jbint venture. APB 18 requires that a loss ilneaf an
investment, which is other than a temporary deckheuld be recognized. We reviewed our investraadtassets
contained within the Gulfport joint venture, whicbnsists of land, buildings, equipment, and goddw# a result,
we determined that our investment in the joint vemtvas impaired and recorded a non-cash char§g.@fmillion
based on our assessment. We will not be requirethtee any current or future cash expendituresrasudt of this
impairment charge.

9. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITY:

During fiscal 2006, we entered into an interest Rvap agreement with a notional amount of $4.0anjl
which matures in June 2015, is designated as aflcagthedge, and effectively converts a portionthe floating rat
debt to a fixed rate of 5.67%. Since all of theéicai terms of the swap exactly match those ofrbdged debt, no
ineffectiveness has been identified in the hedgétationship. Consequently, all changes in faiueadre recorded
a component of other comprehensive income. We gheally determine the effectiveness of the swap by
determining that the critical terms still matchtetenining that the future interest payments atemtbable of
occurrence, and evaluating the likelihood of thenterparty’s compliance with the terms of the swatp.
September 30, 2007, the swap agreement had afai of approximately $45,000, which was recordedther
long-term assets on the consolidated balance sheets

During fiscal 2008, we entered into six interesé rewap agreements with a total notional amount of
approximately $23.2 million, that were maturingveeén September 2012 and June 2016, which wererdgstyas
cash flow hedges that effectively convert a portibthe floating rate debt to fixed rates rangirani 4.36% to
4.87%. Since all of the critical terms of the swapactly matched those of the hedged debt, nodoefeness was
identified in the hedging relationships. Conseqlyemte recorded all changes in fair value as a comept of other
comprehensive income. During fiscal 2008, we préfiae outstanding balances of our long-term delith ¥kis
prepayment, the swaps were terminated and thexfia@tanarket value of the swaps of approximateédp® 000 wa
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensigerne and recognized as income in the statements of
operations.

10. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

We entered into a second amended and restated anedsecurity agreement with eight financial tusitbns
during June 2006. The credit facility provided u@ma of credit with asset-based borrowing avallgbof up to
$500 million for working capital and inventory fineing, with the amount of permissible borrowingsedined
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pursuant to a borrowing base formula. The creditifg also permitted approved-vendor floorplan tmavings of up
to $20 million. The credit facility accrued inteted the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) pli&® to

260 basis points, with the interest rate based dp@matio of our net outstanding borrowings to taungible net
worth. The credit facility was secured by our intag, accounts receivable, equipment, furniture fxtures. The
credit facility required us to satisfy certain camets, including maintaining a leverage ratio tiedur tangible net
worth.

During June 2007, we entered into an amendmefieoéitedit facility, which modified the definitiorf t-ixed
Charges Coverage Ratio” and extended the termrodexond amended and restated credit and secgrigment
entered into in June 2006 with the same lenders.

During March 2008, we entered into an amendmentddify the threshold of the “Fixed Charge Coverage
Ratio” and the “Current Ratio” and terms of our@at amended and restated credit and security agreeamtered
into in June 2006.

During December 2008, we entered into an amendofemir second amended and restated credit anditsecur
agreement originally entered into in June 2006. &mendment modified the amount of borrowing avditsth
inventory advance rates, provides the ability teesxde $20 million against certain real estate rfioia covenants,
and collateral under the credit facility. With tamendment, the credit facility provides us a liferedit with asset-
based borrowing availability of up to $425 millistepping down to $350 million by September 30,280d
$300 million by May 31, 2010. However, the amendtradso contains a provision that allows us to abtai
commitments from existing or additional lendergréby increasing the capacity of the credit fagilifp to
$500 million. Amounts under the credit facility mbg used for working capital and inventory finamggiwith the
amount of permissible borrowings determined purst@a borrowing base formula. The credit facilifgo permits
approvedvendor floorplan borrowings of up to $20 milliorhd amendment replaces the fixed charge coverage
with an interest coverage ratio for years endingwoafter September 30, 2010; it includes a cunvdaarnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amomizabr EBITDA (as defined in the agreement), camrfor each
quarter; it modifies the current ratio requiremeitteeduces the amount of allowable capital exjitenes; it require
approval for any stock repurchases; and it reqaipgsoval for acquisitions. The amended creditifggirovides fol
interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LlB®Ilus 425 basis points through September 30, 2080
thereafter at LIBOR plus 150 to 400 basis pointsspant to a performance pricing grid based upornrmerest
coverage ratio, as defined. Borrowings under tleditfacility are secured by our inventory, acceumceivable,
equipment, furniture, fixtures, and real estatee @mended credit facility matures in May 2011, witlh one-year
renewal options, subject to lender approval.

As of September 30, 2007 and 2008, we owed an gggref $326.0 million and $372.0 million, respeely
under our revolving credit facility and were in gollance with all of the credit facility covenantsdvances under
the facility accrued interest at a rate of 7.2% &}, as of September 30, 2007 and 2008, respéctitl
indebtedness associated with our real estate lyddiere repaid during the fiscal year ended Sepel®, 2008.
As of September 30, 2008, the facility provideduith an additional net borrowing availability of $#nillion. The
December 2008 amendment, if in place at Septenthe2®8, would have reduced the available borros/imder
the facility to approximately $38 million, excludjr$20 million of potential real estate advancesyfrapproximatel
$84 million and increased the interest rate by exiprately 275 basis points.

As is common in our industry, we receive interestistance directly from boat manufacturers, incigdi
Brunswick. The interest assistance programs vampagufacturer and generally include periods of fiegncing or
reduced interest rate programs. The interest assistmay be paid directly to us or our lender déjpgnon the
arrangements the manufacturer has establishedlas&fy interest assistance received from manufactias a
reduction of inventory cost and related cost oésas opposed to netting the assistance againsttergst expense
incurred with our lenders.
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The availability and costs of borrowed funds cavesskely affect our ability to obtain adequate doaéentory
and the holding costs of that inventory as welhesability and willingness of our customers taafice boat
purchases. As of September 30, 2008, we had netongdebt. However, we rely on our credit facililypurchase
our inventory of boats. Our ability to borrow undaen credit facility depends on our ability, inclnd further action
which may be necessary, to continue to satisfycomenants and other obligations under our crediliip The
aging of our inventory limits our borrowing capgcits defined curtailments reduce the allowable acwaate as o
inventory ages. Our access to funds under ourtdiediity also depends upon the ability of the kathat are
parties to that facility to meet their funding coitmrents, particularly if they experience shortagésapital or
experience excessive volumes of borrowing requests others during a short period of time. A conttion of
depressed economic conditions, weak consumer gpgrtdimoil in the credit markets, and lender diifties could
interfere with our ability to utilize the credit mgement to fund our operations. Any inability tdizé our credit
facility or the acceleration of amounts owed, résglfrom a covenant violation, insufficient coltaal, or lender
difficulties, could require us to seek other sosroéfunding to repay amounts outstanding undecthdit
agreement or replace or supplement our credit aggae which may not be possible at all or under mancially
reasonable terms.

Similarly, the decreases in the availability ofditeand increases in the cost of credit adverstgcathe ability
of our customers to purchase boats from us anehlyeadversely affect our ability to sell our protduand impact
the profitability of our finance and insurance witigés. Tight credit conditions during fiscal 2088versely affected
the ability of customers to finance boat purchasésch had a negative affect on our operating tesul

11. LONG-TERM DEBT:

During fiscal 2008, we prepaid all outstanding rgages and accelerated the amortization of the iassddoar
costs of approximately $160,000. For the fiscakyaled September 30, 2007, long-term debt codsigtearious
mortgage notes payable to financial institutions gtumonthly installments ranging from $22,605 1®%,000,
bearing variable interest at rates ranging fron8%%o 7.75%, maturing September 2010 through J04é,2and
collateralized by machinery and equipment. At Seyeer 30, 2007, we owed an aggregate amount of augpetg
notes payable of $30.8 million, of which $4.4 noifliwas classified as current and $26.4 million elassified as
long-term in the accompanying financial statements.

12. INCOME TAXES:

The components of our provision (benefit) for in@taxes consisted of the following for the fiscehys ended
September 30,

2006 2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands)

Current provision (benefit

Federa $22,09: $10,377  $(12,77¢)

State 2,84¢ (1,529 (82
Total current provision (benefi 24,93¢ 8,85: (12,85%)
Deferred provision (benefit

Federa 927 (1,249 (5,726

State 93 (129 (577)
Total deferred provision (benef 1,02( (1,367 (6,309
Total income tax provision (benef $25,95¢ $ 7,48¢ $(19,16))
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Below is a reconciliation of the statutory fedéralome tax rate to our effective tax rate for tisedl years
ended September 30,

2006 2007 2008

Federal tax provisio 35.(% 35.(% (35.0%
State taxes, net of federal effi 3.6€% 2.3% (4.9%
State income tax settleme — (1839)% —
Stock based compensati 1.0% 2.1% 0.2%
Valuation allowanct — 1.9% 25.5%
Other 0.1% (0.49% 1.1%
Effective tax rate 39.1% 27.2% (12.5%

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 200&etted certain tax positions under an initiatiered by
one of the states in which we conduct operatiorssa Aesult of this settlement, we reduced our veskar continger
income tax liabilities by approximately $5.2 milioDue to the amount paid under the settlement;gtiection in
income tax expense was approximately $3.8 millartlie fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. Whttiisi
reduction, the effective tax rate would have begrreximately 40.9% for the year ended Septembe2G07.

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of tempoditferences between the amount of assets ahiiities
recognized for financial reporting purposes anchsamounts recognized for income tax purposes. keffects of
these temporary differences representing the coamgsrof deferred tax assets (liabilities) at Sepem30 were as
follows:

2007 2008
(Amounts in thousands)

Current deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Inventories $ 2,62( $ 3,22¢
Accrued expense 3,86¢ 2,91¢
Current deferred tax asse 6,48~ 6,14(
Valuation Allowance — (5,839
Net current deferred tax ass $ 6,48¢ $ 307

Long-term deferred tax (liabilities) asse
Depreciation and amortizatic $(15,82¢)  $ 24,48:
Stock based compensati 3,781 6,582
FIN 48 DTA — 634
State tax loss carryforwar: 50& 3,33(
Other 76 88
Long-term deferred tax (liabilities) asse (11,46€) 35,117
Valuation allowanct (505) (33,91)
Net lon¢-term deferred tax (liabilities) asst $(11,97) $ 1,20¢

Substantially all of our goodwill and intangibleeme deductible for tax purposes. In fiscal 2008, vihite-off of
goodwill and intangible assets, combined with otiraing differences, gave rise to a net operatogs that resulted
in a net deferred tax asset of approximately $#illlon. Pursuant to SFAS 109, we consider all pesiand
negative evidence regarding the realization of mlefktax assets, including past operating resuldsfature sources
of taxable income. Under the provisions of SFAS, 108 determined that the majority of our net deférrax asset
needed to be reserved given recent earnings andtiydrends. Accordingly, recording of the valoati
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allowance resulted in a non-cash charge of apprabeiy $39.2 million for the fiscal year ended Septer 30,
2008. At September 30, 2007, we maintained a vialuailowance for our separate jurisdiction statelbss
carryforwards of $505,000. As a result, the totdbsation allowance at September 30, 2008 was $88lion. The
valuation allowance represents our net deferrecisart less the amounts expected to be realizedlgthithe
carryback of federal net operating losses.

Effective February 4, 2007, the we adopted the ipions of Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertairityincome Taxes” (FIN 48). Under FIN 48, the impatan
uncertain tax position taken or expected to bertatean income tax return must be recognized iditla@cial
statements at the largest amount that is moreylittein-not to be sustained upon audit by the reletaxing
authority. An uncertain income tax position willtrime recognized in the financial statements uritdsanore likely
than not of being sustained. As of September 308 2@e had approximately $2.1 million of gross wognized tax
benefits, of which approximately $1.4 million, éaognized, would impact the effective tax rate.

The reconciliation of the total amount recordeduorecognized tax benefits at the beginning andoéide
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 is as follawthousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits at October 1, 2 $2,24:
Increases in tax positions for prior ye 81
Decreases in tax positions for prior ye (200)
Lapse of statute of limitatior (159
Unrecognized tax benefits at September 30, : $2,06¢

Consistent with our prior practices, interest aadaties related to uncertain tax positions wilkbeognized as
a component of income tax expense. As of SepteBhe2008, interest and penalties represented ajppatedy
$650,000 of the gross unrecognized tax benefitsr@have been no significant changes to the balafnogerest
and penalties subsequent to adoption.

Since inception, we have been subject to tax bly femteral and state taxing authorities. Until thgpective
statutes of limitations expire, we are subjecnimime tax audits in the jurisdictions in which weemte. We are no
longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinationdiwal years prior to 2005, and we are not sulieetudits prior to
the 2004 fiscal year for the majority of the sfatésdictions.

It is reasonably possible that a change to the aot@unt of unrecognized tax benefits could ocouhe next
12 months based on examinations by tax authorttiesexpiration of statutes of limitations, or pdtal settlements
of outstanding positions. It is not possible tareate a range of the possible changes at this titoeiever, we do
not expect the change to be significant to theal/balance of unrecognized tax benefits.

13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company to
repurchase up to 1,000,000 shares of our commak.dttmder the plan, we may buy back common stookftime
to time in the open market or in privately negatihblocks, dependant upon various factors, inctughice and
availability of the shares, and general market @@rss. Through September 30, 2008, we had purchase
aggregate of 790,900 shares of common stock uhdgslan for an aggregate purchase price of appteim
$15.8 million.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

Upon adoption of SFAS 123R, we used the Black-Sxhehluation model for valuing all stock-based
compensation and shares granted under the ESPRmea&Ire compensation for restricted stock awards an
restricted stock units at fair value on the graatedased on the number of shares expected tanveshe quoted
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market price of our common stock. We recognize aamsption cost for all awards in earnings, net tfreged
forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the isitgi service period for each separately vestimgiqguo of the award.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased payment arrangements for the fiscal yeaksden
September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008 was approxiyrbded million, $3.2 million, and $2.2 million, nesctively.
Tax benefits realized for tax deductions from optixercises for the fiscal years ended Septemhe0fiB, 2007,
and 2008 was approximately $1.5 million, $800,G0%] $223,000, respectively. We currently expesitisfy
share-based awards with registered shares avaitabkeissued.

15. THE INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS:

During February 2007, our stockholders approved@@7 Incentive Compensation Plan (2007 Plan), whic
replaced our 1998 Incentive Stock Plan (1998 Plan).2007 Plan provides for the grant of stockapsj stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, stock uritsjus stock, dividend equivalents, other stockteel awards, and
performance awards (collectively awards), that fpettled in cash, stock, or other property. @@72Plan is
designed to attract, motivate, retain, and rewardeaecutives, employees, officers, directors, iadépendent
contractors by providing such persons with annadllang-term performance incentives to expend tmaiximum
efforts in the creation of stockholder value. Th&aknumber of shares of our common stock that beagubject to
awards under the 2007 Plan is equal to 1,000,08shplus (i) any shares available for issuandenah subject to
an award under the 1998 Plan, (ii) the number afeshwith respect to which awards granted unde2®& Plan
and the 1998 Plan terminate without the issuant¢bBeo$hares or where the shares are forfeitedporebased;

(iii) with respect to awards granted under the 2BGh and the 1998 Plan, the number of sharesthatot issued
as a result of the award being settled for casittarwise not issued in connection with the exerocispayment of
the award; and (iv) the number of shares that@amersdered or withheld in payment of the exerciseepof any
award or any tax withholding requirements in conioecwith any award granted under the 2007 Plantaad 998
Plan. The 2007 Plan terminates in February 201d aarards may be granted at any time during theofithe 2007
Plan. The date on which awards vest are deterntipéke Board of Directors or the Plan Administraftine
exercise prices of options are determined by ther@of Directors or the Plan Administrator and atréeast equal 1
the fair market value of shares of common stockhendate of grant. The term of options under th@&/Z@lan may
not exceed ten years. The options granted havéngavesting periods. To date, we have not setttdaeen under
any obligation to settle any awards in cash.

The following table summarizes option activity fr@eptember 30, 2007 through September 30, 2008:

Weighted
Average
Shares Aggregate Remaining
Available Options Intrinsic Weighted Average Contractual
for Grant  Outstanding Value Exercise Price Life
(In thousands'
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,230,84 2,156,54' $ 4,99: $ 17.3¢€ 5.2
Options authorize
Options grante: (37,500 37,50( — $ 11.71
Options cancelled/forfeited/expir 351,56! (351,569 — % 13.9%
Restricted stock units issu (335,400) — —
Restricted stock units cancell 5,50( — —
Options exercise — (102,357) — $ 10.0C
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,215,000 1,740,121 $ — % 18.41 5.1
Exercisable at September 30, 2( — 908,12¢ $ — $ 14.5¢ 4.C

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of options grantedhduhe fiscal years ended September 30, 2
2007, and 2008 was $12.53, $12.13, and $6.12,cteply. The total intrinsic value of options exised
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during the fiscal years ended September 30, 200%7,2and 2008 was approximately $5.2 million, $ilion, and
$541,000, respectively.

As of September 30, 2007 and 2008, there was appataly $4.8 million and $2.1 million, respectivebf
unrecognized compensation costs related to noredegitions that is expected to be recognized ovezighted
average period of 3.3 years and 2.5 years, respéctiThe total fair value of options vested durthg fiscal years
ended September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008 was aptieky $1.4 million, $1.9 million, and $2.1 miltio
respectively.

We continued using the Black-Scholes model to egtrthe fair value of options granted during fis2@08.
The expected term of options granted is derivethftioe output of the option pricing model and reprs the peric
of time that options granted are expected to bstantling. Volatility is based on the historicalatdlty of our
common stock. The risk-free rate for periods witlie contractual term of the options is based enuifs. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of grant. As auk, we recorded compensation expense for stot&rapof
approximately $3.5 million, $3.7 million and $2.7llion before tax, for the fiscal years ended Sepier 30, 2006,
2007 and 2008, respectively or $0.15, $0.15 antil$fer diluted share after-tax for the fiscal yearded
September 30, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2006 2007 2008
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.6% 4.6% 3.4%
Volatility 44.5% 42.7% 44.2%
Expected life 4.6year 6.5year 7.5year

16. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN (THE STOCK PURCHASE PL AN):

Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan provides for ufs@000 shares of common stock to be available for
purchase by our regular employees who have contpégtieast one year of continuous service. Thek3toarchase
Plan provides for implementation of up to 10 anraftdrings beginning on the first day of Octobearthg in 1998,
with each offering terminating on September 3theffollowing year. Each annual offering may be déd into two
six-month offerings. For each offering, the pur@psce per share will be the lower of (i) 85% fué closing price
of the common stock on the first day of the offgror (ii) 85% of the closing price of the commoac#t on the last
day of the offering. The purchase price is paidtigh periodic payroll deductions not to exceed %he
participant’s earnings during each offering periddwever, no participant may purchase more than0g@bworth
of common stock annually.

During 2008, we continued using the Black-Scholeslehto estimate the fair value of options grarited
purchase shares issued pursuant to the Stock RerEttan. The expected term of options grantedrigsetkfrom the
output of the option pricing model and represeimsgeriod of time that options granted are expeitidz
outstanding. Volatility is based on the historiealatility of our common stock. The risk-free rdte periods within
the contractual term of the options is based ortl® Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2006 2007 2008
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.8% 4.9% 2.3%
Volatility 37.1% 43.4% 75.6%
Expected life six-months  six-months  six-months

As of September 30, 2008, we had issued 629,981e0f50,000 shares of common stock reserved foamnsse
under our 1998 employee stock purchase plan.
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During February 2008, our stockholders approved®®8 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (2008 Plan). The
2008 Plan provides for up to 500,000 shares of comstock to be available for purchase by our regeraployees
who have completed at least one year of contingengce. The Stock Purchase Plan provides for impfgation o
up to 10 annual offerings beginning on the first daOctober starting in 2008, with each offeriegniinating on
September 30 of the following year. Each annuaroffy may be divided into two six-month offering®r each
offering, the purchase price per share will beldiweer of (i) 85% of the closing price of the comm&tnck on the
first day of the offering or (ii) 85% of the clogjmprice of the common stock on the last day ofaffiering. The
purchase price is paid through periodic payrollwgins not to exceed 10% of the participant’s @ during
each offering period. However, no participant maycpase more than $25,000 worth of common stockalhn

17. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS:

During fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2008, we granted wested (restricted) stock awards or restrictedkstmits
(collectively restricted stock awards) to certa@y kemployees pursuant to the 1998 Plan or the POY. The
restricted stock awards have varying vesting pesribdt generally become fully vested at eitherethe of year four
or the end of year five, depending on the speaifiard. The awards granted in fiscal 2008 requirtatelevels of
performance by us before they are earned. Sucbrpaahce metrics must be achieved by September @0thke
awards will be forfeited. The stock underlying thessted restricted stock units will be deliveredupesting.

We accounted for the restricted stock awards gdathtieing fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2008 using the nnessent
and recognition provisions of SFAS 123R. Accordingie fair value of the restricted stock awardsi&asured on
the grant date and recognized in earnings overetipgisite service period for each separately vggiortion of the
award.

The following table summarizes restricted stochvitgtfrom September 30, 2007 through Septembei2808:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 500,10 $ 28.3(
Changes during the peri

Shares grante 335,40 $ 15.67

Shares veste — 3 —

Shares forfeite: (5,500 $ 20.2¢

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 830,00 $ 23.2¢

As of September 30, 2008, we had approximately &i#llion of total unrecognized compensation cosdtesl
to restricted stock awards granted under the Rlanexpect to recognize that cost over a weiglateztage period
3.2 years.
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18. NET INCOME PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdigethe denominator for calculating basic andtdiliearnings
per share for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2006 2007 2008
Weighted average common shares outstanding usedadualating basir

net income per sha 18,028,56  18,618,61 18,391,48
Effect of dilutive option: 900,17: 670,62( —
Weighted average common and common equivalent shige in

calculating diluted net income per sh 18,928,73  19,289,23  18,391,48

Options to purchase approximately 699,500, 742:0QD1.7 million shares of common stock were outhtan
at September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectivetywere not included in the computation of ditliearnings
per share because the options’ exercise pricesgveeger than the average market price of our camstack, and
therefore, their effect would be anti-dilutive.

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machinery, eqeiptmand vehicles related to our dealerships unde+
cancelable third-party operating leases. Certaimuofleases include options for renewal periodsmogisions for
escalation. Rental expense, including month-to-imoentals, were approximately $10.9 million, $1&flion, and
$13.9 million for the fiscal years ended Septen@fkr2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively. Rental esg@éo related
parties under both cancelable and wancelable operating leases approximated $385@08ath of the fiscal yes
ended September 30, 2006, 2007, and 2008.

The rental payments to related parties, under taricelable and non-cancelable operating leasesgdiiscal
2006, 2007, and 2008, represent rental paymentsuftitings to an entity partially owned by a fornodficer of our
company. We believe the terms of the transactiercansistent with those that we would obtain fromdt parties.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgdgeating leases at September 30, 2008, werelaw/fol

(Amounts in thousands)

2009 $ 10,04:
2010 8,95¢
2011 8,01
2012 6,38°
2013 4,267
Thereaftel 10,01«

Total $ 47,68(

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arising mahdinary course of business. The ultimate lighilf any,
associated with theses matters was not believbd toaterial at September 30, 2008. While it isfeasible to
determine the actual outcome of these actions &gptfember 30, 2008, we do not believe that thegters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolid@@dcial condition, results of operations, or céisiwvs.
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Associated with the December 2006 snow and icenstam Missouri, we have received approximately
$2.0 million of insurance proceeds to date, of Wrapproximately $1.4 million offset the relateddes associated
with the destruction of marina docks and signifioexpenses we incurred regarding damage and redbad up
after the storm. The additional insurance proceedsived of approximately $600,000 were recordea gain
during fiscal 2007. The insurance proceeds recdivethte were recorded as a reduction to selliageral, and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statsnoé operations during fiscal 2007.

During fiscal 2007, we received $2.1 million of mess interruption insurance proceeds for clairseaated
with Hurricane Wilma, which occurred in October 80The business interruption insurance proceeds toer
reimburse us for the interruption in our operatithre resulted in lost revenue and related prafitsddition to the
significant expenses incurred to move and repagnitory and to reimburse us for uninsured lossesgrized by
certain locations. These proceeds were recordad@duction to selling, general, and administragixpenses on tt
consolidated statements of operations during fig0alr.

We are subject to federal and state environmeatgllations, including rules relating to air and evgiollution
and the storage and disposal of gasoline, oil,rathemicals and waste. We believe that we arenmptiance with
such regulations.

20. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Employees are eligible to participate in our 40 Rkdfit Sharing Plan (the Plan) following their
90-day introductory period starting either Apribd October 1, provided that they are 21 years ef &gpder the
Plan, we match 50% of participants’ contributiomg,to a maximum of 5% of each participant’'s compéns. We
contributed, under the Plan, or pursuant to pregmilar plans, approximately $1.7 million, $1.8lion, and
$1.5 million for the fiscal years ended Septemlger2B06, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

21. PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS:

During September 2001, we adopted a StockholdegitRPlan (the Rights Plan) that may have thecefié
deterring, delaying, or preventing a change in@niat might otherwise be in the best intere$tsup
stockholders. Under the Rights Plan, a dividendre Preferred Share Purchase Right was issueddbrshare of
common stock held by the stockholders of recordfdlse close of business on September 7, 2001. &gich
entitles stockholders to purchase, at an exercise pf $50 per share, one-thousandth of a shaaenefvly created
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.

In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktender offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf
common stock is announced or commenced. After aaly event, other stockholders may purchase additgrare
of our common stock at 50% of the theumrrent market price. The rights will cause subshdilution to a person «
group that attempts to acquire us on terms notamer by our Board of Directors. The rights shouddl interfere
with any merger or other business combination apgidy the Board of Directors. The rights may liesmed by
us at $0.01 per stock purchase right at any tinfiere@ny person or group acquires 15% or more@btltstanding
common stock. The rights expire on August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distribution ison-taxable event with no impact on our finanaaults.
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22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following table sets forth certain unaudite@erly financial data for each of our last eighaigers. The
information has been derived from unaudited finahsiatements that we believe reflect all adjusts)eonsisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessarytferfair presentation of such quarterly finanaifbrmation.

December 31 March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30, September 3C

2006 2007 2007 2007 2007 2008 2008 2008
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share &g

Revenue $ 234,03: $ 32508.$ 378,68 % 318,18 $ 21526¢ $ 233,26 $ 271,27 $ 165,60!
Cost of sale: 177,67 252,55¢ 291,24¢ 234,77 167,14: 178,78: 209,43: 123,80t
Gross profi 56,35¢ 72,52¢ 87,43t 83,417 48,12¢ 54,47¢ 61,84¢ 41,79«
Selling, general, and

administrative expenst 56,16¢ 59,53t 62,444 67,082 53,191 56,19¢ 51,62% 56,41«
Goodwill and intangible asset

impairment — — — — — — 122,09: —
Income (loss) from operatiol 18¢ 12,99t 24,99 16,33t (5,06€) (1,719 (111,869 (14,62()
Interest expens 6,54( 7,541 7,45¢ 5,41( 5,881 5,952 4,76¢ 3,56¢€
Income (loss) before income tax

provision (benefit (6,357) 5,44¢ 17,53 10,92 (10,947 (7,67)) (116,639 (18,18¢)
Income tax provision (benefi (2,56¢) 2,11¢€ 3,63¢ 4,29¢ (4,52¢) (4,167) (3,377%) (7,0979)
Net income (loss $ (3,780 $ 333:2% 1389' % 6,62¢ $ (6,418 $ (3,509 $ (113,25)% (11,099
Net income (loss) per shai

Diluted $ (0.20) $ 017 $ 0.7: $ 03t $ (0.35) $ (0.19 $ (6.15) $ (0.60)
Weighted average number of

shares

Diluted 18,287,78 19,042,01 19,034,14. 19,064,06 18,364,67 18,363,69 18,415,79 18,421,62

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassified thie
previously reported interim financial statementsaaform to the consolidated financial statemesspntation of
the current period.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Ragist, including all amendments to date
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Redi€#i
Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock(:
Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweerisRagt and American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as Rights Agent
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 30, 20@6g MarineMax of New York, Inc.; Surfsi@e-
Marina, Inc.; Matthew Barbara, Paul Barbara, Dikeeney, and Angela Chianese; and certain affiliates
of Surfside-3 Marina, Inc.(Form 1(-Q filed May 10, 2006)(3
Employment Agreement between Registrant and WilllkniMicGill Jr.(4)
Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadclLamb(4)
Employment Agreement between Registrant and Ed&aRlussell(4)
1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeerib, 2000(5
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 7,
2005(9)
Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, dated J2YOB among the Registrant, MarineMax Motor
Yachts, LLC, and Hatteras Yachts Division of BruitknCorporation(7'
Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityefggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the Regi
and its subsidiaries as Borrowers, Keybank Bank,. NBank of America, N.A., and various other
lenders, as Lenders(
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 7,
2005(9)
Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemet
Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityefggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the Regi
and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of dgaeN.A., KeyBank, N.A., General Electric
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, Wadadsank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., National
City Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., and Branch Barkiand Trust company, as Lenders
First Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedtGedl Security Agreement executed on June 5,
2007 effective as of May 31, 2007 among the Remistand its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General Electric Comrmial Distribution Finance Corporation, Branch
Banking and Trust Company, as Lendersi
Third Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedtGned Security Agreement executed on
March 7, 2008, among MarineMax, Inc. and its sulbsiels, as Borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A.,
Keybank, N.A., General Electric Commercial Disttibn Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank, N.A.,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., Branch Ry and Trust Company, and Bank of the West,
as Lenders(1:
MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Plah
Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan(11
Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 2003entive Compensation Plan(]
Director Fee Share Purchase Program
List of Subsidiarie:
Consent of Ernst & Young LL
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuait Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aste
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Number Exhibit
32.1 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxle
Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

T Certain information in this exhibit has been ontitend filed separately with the Securities and Bxge
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portio

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterapriform 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2891
filed on December 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form BRdport dated September 30, 1998, as filed on Oc&he
1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed/iay 10,
2006.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K, as filed on June 13, 200

(5) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@1Qhe quarterly period ended December 31, 208 filed
on February 14, 200

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registration StateropriformS-1 (Registratior33:-47873).

(7) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended March 31, 2007jled on
May 7, 2007

(8) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended June 30, 2006iled 6n
August 4, 2006

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on December 9, 20(
(10) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K, as filed on June 11, 200
(11) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on March 6, 200
(12) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form £-8 (File No.333-141657)as filed March 29, 200°
(13) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on March 12, 200
(14) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on November 26, 20C



Exhibit 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
MARINEMAX, INC.
(as of December 15, 2008)

State of Incorporation

Name of Subsidiary or Organization
Boating Gear Center, LLC(: Delaware
MarineMax East, Inc. Delaware
MarineMax Northeast, LLC(1 Delaware
MarineMax Realty, LLC Delaware
MarineMax Services, Inc.(: Delaware
Newcoast Financial Services, LL Delaware

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax East, i



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference infelewing Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-141@&rjaining to the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan
of MarineMax, Inc.,

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1403@8baining to the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase #fla
MarineMax, Inc.,

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-833@2)aining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan of Mahlax, Inc.,

4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-633@Trjaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan andl®e@8
Employee Stock Purchase Plan of MarineMax, Inc.,

5) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-122@9 MarineMax, Inc.;

of our reports dated December 15, 2008, with radpeihie consolidated financial statements of MeMiax, Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of MarineMax;, Inc. included in this Annugéport (Form 10-K) for
the year ended September 30, 2008.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Tampa, Florida
December 15, 20C



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaiVax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statenweeits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered liy itbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations, and cash flows of the remyistas of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1%q¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinédion relating to the registrant, including ithesolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entiti@sticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over foahreporting to b
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures as of the end of thiegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed on the annual report any change imegfistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred
during the registrarg’ most recent fiscal quarter that has materiafiycééd, or is reasonably likely to materially affabe
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’sthad directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize, and report
financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

/s/ WiLLIAM H. McGILL, [R.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 15, 20(



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaiVax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statenweeits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered liy itbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations, and cash flows of the remyistas of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrh responsible for establishing and maintainingldsire controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1%¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinédion relating to the registrant, including ithesolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entiti@sticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over foahreporting to b
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures as of the end of thiegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed on the annual report any change imegfistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred
during the registrarg’ most recent fiscal quarter that has materiafiycééd, or is reasonably likely to materially affabe
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’sthad directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize, and report
financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

/s/ MICHAEL H. McLAmMB

Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officer

Date: December 15, 20(



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year exde
September 30, 2008, as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R§pbh William H.
McGill Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Compargertify, to my best knowledge and belief, pursuarit8 U.S.C. § 1350,
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-@xiegf 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatssection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934
(15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s/ WiLLIAM H. McGILL JR.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

December 15, 200



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year exde
September 30, 2008, as filed with the SecuritiesEExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R§ph Michael H.
McLamb, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,tdgr to my best knowledge and belief, pursuant®U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep®2002, that:

(3) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatssection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934
(15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(4) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s/ MICHAEL H. McLAmMB

Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officer

December 15, 200



